

University of Pennsylvania ScholarlyCommons

Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations

2015

Insights into the Role of Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors During HIV-1 Pathogenesis

Zahra Folasade Parker University of Pennsylvania, parkerz@upenn.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations

Part of the Virology Commons

Recommended Citation

Parker, Zahra Folasade, "Insights into the Role of Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors During HIV-1 Pathogenesis" (2015). *Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations*. 1931. https://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1931

This paper is posted at ScholarlyCommons. https://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1931 For more information, please contact_repository@pobox.upenn.edu.



Insights into the Role of Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors During HIV-1 Pathogenesis

Abstract

Sexual transmission of HIV-1 is often established by one genetic variant, the transmitted/founder (T/F) virus. T/F HIV-1 may have specific phenotypic properties that are selected for during transmission. To date, the most consistent phenotypic property associated with T/F viruses is use of the chemokine receptor CCR5 as a coreceptor for entry. Small molecule CCR5 antagonists, such as Maraviroc (MVC), inhibit HIV-1 entry by functioning as allosteric inhibitors. These molecules bind within the transmembrane helices of CCR5, inducing a conformational change that prevents the HIV-CCR5 interaction. As with most drugs, HIV-1 has developed strategies to overcome this inhibition. Some viruses develop mutations in the envelope (Env) glycoprotein that enable the use of antagonist-bound CCR5. In Chapter Two, we evaluate 87 CCR5-using viruses to address differences between T/F viruses and viruses isolated from chronically infected individuals (chronic controls-CC) in their ability to mediate entry via varying amounts of CCR5 in the presence of MVC. We demonstrate that CC viruses exhibit partial resistance (PR) to MVC more frequently than T/F viruses, suggesting that T/F and CC HIV-1 differentially utilize CCR5 in a manner that may be biologically important in the context of transmission. Following the discovery of the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR5 as cofactors for HIV-1 entry, it was revealed that their cognate chemokine ligands could inhibit HIV-1 infection in vitro. Multiple cell types have been implicated in secreting chemokines that function to modulate HIV-1 infection. Recently the platelet-derived chemokine PF4 was shown to inhibit HIV-1. However, despite plasma and local concentrations of PF4 being within the range used in these studies, HIV-1 is still able to propagate in vivo. In Chapter Four, we sought to understand the mechanism of action of PF4 and determine it's in vivo relevance. I confirmed and extended previous studies showing that PF4 inhibits infection by HIV-1 and other viruses. However, the inhibitory capacity of PF4 is limited to a defined concentration range, after which inhibition wanes and viral infection is ultimately enhanced at higher chemokine concentrations that are commonly found in vivo. Thus, rather than being a potential anti-viral agent as previously suggested, PF4 may contribute to the hematologic abnormalities commonly seen in HIV-infected individuals by enhancing virus infection in the bone marrow.

Degree Type

Dissertation

Degree Name Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Graduate Group Cell & Molecular Biology

First Advisor Robert W. Doms

Keywords CCR5, Chemokine receptors, Chemokines, HIV-1, PF4

Subject Categories Microbiology | Virology

This dissertation is available at ScholarlyCommons: https://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1931



INSIGHTS INTO THE ROLE OF CHEMOKINES AND CHEMOKINE

RECEPTORS DURING HIV-1 PATHOGENESIS

Zahra Folaśade Lompeti Parker

A DISSERTATION

In Cell and Molecular Biology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2015

Supervisor of Dissertation

Robert W. Doms, Professor of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Graduate Group Chairperson

Dan Kessler, Associate Professor of Cell and Developmental Biology

Dissertation Committee

Matthew Weitzman (Chair), Associate Professor of Pathology and Laboratory

Medicine

Beatrice H. Hahn, Professor of Medicine and Microbiology

Ronald G. Collman, Professor of Medicine

James A. Hoxie, Professor of Medicine



INSIGHTS INTO THE ROLE OF CHEMOKINES AND CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS DURING HIV-1 PATHOGENESIS

COPYRIGHT

2015

Zahra Folaśade Lompeti Parker

This work is licensed under the

Creative Commons Attribution-

NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0

License

To view a copy of this license, visit

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ny-sa/2.0/



DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my second nuclear family back home in Cameroon—Aunty Anjie, Uncle Paddy, Nyenty, Ayuk, Kimberly, and Anita (Mama). My interest in studying the biology of infectious diseases, particularly HIV-1, was driven by experiencing the impact of such diseases within my family, both during my childhood in Africa and as an adult in The United States.



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my PI Dr. Robert W. Doms. He wore multiple hats during my career as a graduate student—mentor, parent, teacher, friend, and advocate. As a mentor, his ability to logically approach any scientific question was something I admired and aspired to emulate. At times, he exercised the tough love of a parent, challenging me to be better. His tutelage was unceasing and will be sorely missed. His warmth and friendliness attracted me to his lab and fostered open communication between us, leading to an honest relationship I will forever cherish. In addition to my parents, he served as my personal cheerleader and advocate, encouraging me when I needed a boost. He has profoundly changed my life and I am honored to be part of his legacy.

Dr. Beatrice Hahn and Dr. George Shaw served as my self-appointed adopted Pls; each providing guidance and challenging me to improve, all the while encouraging me through. I thank Dr. Hahn for her candid approach and keen intellect because she inspired me to become more confident in myself as a woman in science. I thank Dr. Shaw for his wit and incomparable knowledge of the HIV field; he challenged me to approach science from a bird's eye view in an effort to get a better and broader understanding of the purpose of my research.

My lab mates—Dr. Chuka Didigu, Amber Riblett, Dr. Craig Wilen, Dr. Josiah Petersen, Dr. Jason Wojcechowskyj, Dr. Fang-Hua Lee, and Val Hardy—to whom I am truly thankful for their helpful discussions, humor, advice, and critical insight. I also thank my colleagues in other labs for their immense support—Ciara Gimblet, Shilpa Iyer, Alexandra Bryson, Luis Cocka, Mary Jane Drake, Hannah Barbian, Dr. Andrew Stern, Dr. Nicholas Parrish, Rachel Leibman, Michael Hogan, and Ted Kreider.



iv

Thank you to the countless members of the labs we collaborated with. Specifically, Dr. Paul Bates, Dr. Mortimer Poncz, Dr. Bruce Sachais, Dr. Lubica Rauova, and Dr. Ann Rux.

My committee members Dr. Ronald Collman, Dr. Beatrice Hahn, Dr. James Hoxie, and Dr. Matthew Weitzman challenged me to think critically about my projects and provided immeasurable direction to my work.

I particularly thank my family. My parents have always been pillars of strength and unyielding support. They provided unwavering conviction in my abilities as a graduate student, and I am eternally grateful for their belief in me. My siblings and cousins provided a constant place of refuge; they always reminded me of what was truly important—family! My nieces and nephews motivate me to be a beacon for them. My hope is that through this dissertation, they will see that they too can pursue and work hard for their passions and achieve the goals they've set for themselves. I thank my aunts and uncles in the States and around the world for their encouragement.

A special and warm thank you to my best friend, Emalohi Iruobe, for her steadfast belief in me, her wit (when I needed to laugh), her shoulders (when I needed to cry), her ears (when I needed her to listen), and her words (when I needed the advice).

Lastly, I thank the building staff in Johnson Pavilion—Ghirmai Manna, Paul Lopez, and Sandra Wiggins—who performed all the support functions in the lab (cleaning the lab, repairing equipment, autoclaving glassware, and much more), which made our lives immeasurably easier as graduate students.

Thank you!



V

ABSTRACT

INSIGHTS INTO THE ROLE OF CHEMOKINES AND CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS DURING HIV-1 PATHOGENESIS

Zahra F. Parker

Robert W. Doms

Sexual transmission of HIV-1 is often established by one genetic variant, the transmitted/founder (T/F) virus. T/F HIV-1 may have specific phenotypic properties that are selected for during transmission. To date, the most consistent phenotypic property associated with T/F viruses is use of the chemokine receptor CCR5 as a coreceptor for entry. Small molecule CCR5 antagonists, such as Maraviroc (MVC), inhibit HIV-1 entry by functioning as allosteric inhibitors. These molecules bind within the transmembrane helices of CCR5, inducing a conformational change that prevents the HIV-CCR5 interaction. As with most drugs, HIV-1 has developed strategies to overcome this inhibition. Some viruses develop mutations in the envelope (Env) glycoprotein that enable the use of antagonist-bound CCR5. In **Chapter Two**, we evaluate 87 CCR5-using viruses to address differences between T/F viruses and viruses isolated from chronically infected individuals (chronic controls-CC) in their ability to mediate entry via varying amounts of CCR5 in the presence of MVC. We demonstrate that CC viruses exhibit partial resistance (PR) to MVC more frequently than T/F viruses, suggesting that T/F and CC HIV-1 differentially utilize CCR5 in a manner that may be biologically important in the context of transmission. Following the



vi

discovery of the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR5 as cofactors for HIV-1 entry, it was revealed that their cognate chemokine ligands could inhibit HIV-1 infection in vitro. Multiple cell types have been implicated in secreting chemokines that function to modulate HIV-1 infection. Recently the plateletderived chemokine PF4 was shown to inhibit HIV-1. However, despite plasma and local concentrations of PF4 being within the range used in these studies, HIV-1 is still able to propagate in vivo. In Chapter Four, we sought to understand the mechanism of action of PF4 and determine it's in vivo relevance. I confirmed and extended previous studies showing that PF4 inhibits infection by HIV-1 and other viruses. However, the inhibitory capacity of PF4 is limited to a defined concentration range, after which inhibition wanes and viral infection is ultimately enhanced at higher chemokine concentrations that are commonly found in vivo. Thus, rather than being a potential anti-viral agent as previously suggested, PF4 may contribute to the hematologic abnormalities commonly seen in HIV-infected individuals enhancing infection the by virus in bone marrow.



vii

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction to HIV-1 entry and transmission HIV-1 ENTRY INHIBITING HIV-1 ENTRY Targeting CD4 Small molecules targeting CCR5 Targeting CXCR4 Targeting fusion	1 6 6 7 12 13
THE VIRAL BOTTLENECK DURING HIV-1 SEXUAL TRANSMISSION	13
PROJECT GOAL I: IDENTIFYING TARGETABLE PROPERTIES OF TRANSMITTED VIRUSES	18
CHAPTER 2	23
Transmitted/Founder and Chronic HIV-1 Envelope Proteins are Distinguish by Differential Utilization of CCR5 ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS FIGURES TABLE 1 Genotypic and phenotypic correlates of partial resistance.	1ed 23 24 25 28 33 41 47 48 56
CHAPTER 3	59
Chemokines and HIV-1: Viral inhibition and enhancement CHEMOKINES: THE BASICS CHEMOKINES AND HIV-1 PATHOGENESIS PLATELET FACTOR 4 (PF4) AND HIV-1 INFECTION PROJECT GOAL II: ELUCIDATING THE MECHANISM AND PHYSIOLOGICAL RELEVANCE OF PF4 ACTIVITY DURING HIV-1 INFECTION	59 59 61 64
CHAPTER 4	



Platelet-Factor 4 (PF4) inhibits and enhances HIV-1 infection in a	
concentration-dependent manner by modulating viral attachment	68
ABSTRACT	69
INTRODUCTION	70
METHODS	72
RESULTS	78
DISCUSSION	88
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	92
FIGURES	93
TABLE I Summary of T/F and chronic HIV-1 env clones	104
CHAPTER 5	105
Summary, discussion, and future directions	105
PROJECT I: T/F AND CC DIFFERENTIALLY UTILIZE CCR5	105
PROJECT II: PF4 INHIBITS AND ENHANCES HIV-1 INFECTION	111
BIBLIOGRAPHY	119



LIST OF TABLES

PROJECT I: T/F and CC DIFFERENTIALY UTILIZE CCR5

TABLE 1S: Genotypic and phenotypic correlates of partial resistance.

PROJECT II: PF4 INHIBITS AND ENHANCES HIV-1 INFECTION

TABLE 1: Summary of T/F and chronic HIV-1 env clones



LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION TO HIV-1 ENTRY AND TRANSMISSION

Figure 1: HIV-1 entry process **Figure 2:** Schematic of CCR5 coreceptor **Figure 3:** HIV-1 genetic bottleneck

CHAPTER 2 (PROJECT I): T/F and CC DIFFERENTIALY UTILIZE CCR5

Figure 1: Partial resistance to saturating amounts of maraviroc on Affinofile cells expressing high CCR5.

Figure 2: Partial resistance is enriched in chronic HIV-1 Envs compared to T/F Envs, irrespective of clade and CCR5 antagonist.

Figure 3: Residual infection on cells expressing different levels of CCR5. **Figure 4:** Residual infection on cells expressing low levels of CCR5 is predictive of MVC resistance on cells expressing high CCR5.

Figure 5: CC Envs exhibit greater residual infection compared to T/F Envs on primary human CD4 + T cells.

Figure 6: Infectivity is not associated with partial resistance phenotype.

CHAPTER 3: CHEMOKINES AND HIV-1: A NEW PARADIGM FOR VIRAL INHIBITION

Figure 1: Known human chemokines and chemokine receptors

CHAPTER 4 (PROJECT II): PF4 INHIBITS AND ENHANCES HIV-1 INFECTION

Figure 1: PF4 exhibits biphasic activity on viral entry.

Figure 2: PF4 modulates viral attachment to cells.

Figure 3: PF4 interacts with cell surface glycosaminoglycans.

Figure 4: HIV-1 gp120 binds specifically to immobilized PF4.

Figure 5: PF4 oligomeric state correlates with its biphasic activity on viral infection.

Figure 6: Antibodies recognizing distinct oligomeric forms of PF4 impact chemokine activity during infection.



CHAPTER 1

Introduction to HIV-1 entry and transmission

HIV-1 ENTRY

Human immunodeficiency virus type I (HIV-1) infection poses a significant global disease burden, with approximately 34 million people currently infected, and roughly 2.5 million new cases annually (292). HIV-1 infection leads to Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS), which has caused mortality of an estimated 36 million people since the start of the global pandemic in the mid 1980s, with approximately 1.6 million AIDS-related deaths annually (292). AIDS is a disease characterized by the gradual decline of circulating CD4⁺ T cells over time. Once a threshold of approximately 200 x 10⁹ CD4⁺ T cells/liter is passed, the individual is said to be immune compromised and highly susceptible to opportunistic infections by otherwise non-life-threatening pathogens. Generally, HIV-1 transmission rates are low, ranging from 0.1% to 10% per coital act (33, 101, 196, 212). However, once an individual becomes infected with HIV-1, a primary or acute viral infection results within a few weeks, and is characterized by high viral replication and massive loss of gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) CD4⁺ T cells. Understanding the early events of HIV-1 infection is important as they provide insight into the later course of disease. Thus, it is most appropriate to study the very earliest interactions between the virus and the host as the starting point of studying HIV-1 pathogenesis. HIV-1 entry into target



cells—primarily CD4⁺ T cells—is mediated by the type I integral membrane viral glycoprotein Env. The Env precursor (gp160) is proteolytically processed within the cell, generating the surface unit (gp120) and the transmembrane component (gp41), which remain associated via non-covalent interactions. Env comprises gp120 and gp41, and exists as a trimer of heterodimers incorporated into the viral membrane (296).

HIV-1 entry into cells involves four distinct stages: attachment to the host cell, binding of gp120 to the primary receptor (CD4), binding of gp120 to the coreceptor (CCR5 or CXCR4), and gp41-mediated fusion of the viral and host membranes (Fig 1). The initial, and rate-limiting, step of infection *in vitro* involves relatively nonspecific interactions between Env, or other host-derived proteins within the viral membrane, and cellular attachment factors such as the negatively-charged glycosaminoglycan (GAG) heparan sulfate proteoglycan (245). More targeted interactions have also been described between Env and the C-type lectin dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecular 3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) (95). DC-SIGN, and other C-type lectins (148, 278, 279), expressed on dendritic cells can boost HIV-1 infection by binding to highmannose sugars on Env (114) and enhancing infection efficiency in vitro by transferring bound virions to surrounding CD4⁺ T cells (a process known as *trans*-infection). Additionally, monomeric HIV-1 Env has been shown to specifically interact with the gut homing integrin $\alpha 4\beta 7$ (14, 57), which is approximately three times larger than CD4, making it a prominent attachment factor for efficient viral capture to increase viral attachment and cell-cell spread.



Notably, the discovery of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ as an attachment factor is interesting because the integrin is upregulated on activated CCR5-expressing CD4⁺ T cells within the GALT, a site highly relevant to HIV-1 pathogenesis. Whether $\alpha 4\beta 7$ binds trimeric Env remains to be investigated. Viral attachment to the cell brings the virus and cell in close proximity to each other, enhancing the efficiency of infection (194). While significant, these early, low-affinity interactions are not essential for virus entry—as is the case for the viral receptor CD4.

The primary receptor for HIV-1 is CD4 (168, 173), a glycoprotein and member of the immunoglobulin superfamily found on the surface of T helper cells, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. HIV-1 Env interacts with CD4 (145) to initiate a cascade of conformational changes within gp120 required for successful entry, and with very few exceptions CD4 binding is a prerequisite for HIV-1 entry. HIV-1 gp120 contains five conserved domains (C1–C5) and five genetically variable loops (V1–V5). The variable loops are situated at the surface of gp120 and are involved in immune evasion. V3 is particularly important for coreceptor binding (109, 266). CD4 binding to gp120 induces major structural rearrangements in gp120 by inducing the formation of the bridging sheet (formed by the rearrangement of two pairs of β -sheets from the inner and outer domains of gp120 into a four-stranded β -sheet structure), rotating each gp120 monomer, and the extending of the variable loops (V1/V2 and V3). These conformational changes draw the viral and cell membranes into closer proximity, as well as create and expose the coreceptor-binding site.



Coreceptor engagement follows CD4 binding. In humans, the most important coreceptors are the seven-transmembrane G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) CCR5 and CXCR4. GPCRs are integral membrane proteins with an extracellular N-terminal segment, three extracellular loops (ECL) formed between transmembrane regions, and an intracellular DRY motif that is critical for G-protein signaling components (Fig 2). CCR5 and CXCR4 are chemokine receptors, where binding of the cognate chemokine ligands to the chemokines receptors results in a G-protein-mediated cascade of intracellular signaling events, which regulate trafficking and the effector response of leukocytes. Surface expression of various chemokine receptors is specific for certain types of leukocytes. This expression pattern of chemokine receptors on target cells is the basis for coreceptor tropism of HIV-1, with some viruses exclusively using CCR5 (R5-tropic), some engaging only CXCR4 (X4-tropic), and others taking advantage of both (R5X4/dual-tropic) for entry. CCR5 expression is mainly restricted to memory CD4⁺ T cells, while CXCR4 expression is more widespread and predominates on naïve CD4⁺ T cells (30). Despite this expression pattern, most infections are initiated by R5-tropic viruses, while disease progression to AIDS is often associated with the emergence of X4-tropic or dual-tropic variants (64, 247, 267). Several lines of evidence (3, 23, 76, 84, 266) suggest that both the tyrosine-sulfated N-terminal segment and the second extracellular loop (ECL2) are involved in gp120 binding, specifically through interactions with the bridging sheet and the crown of the V3 loop (which shares striking homology with the beta2-beta3 loop in chemokines—the natural ligand of chemokine receptors



(46)). As such, the amino acids in the gp120 coreceptor-binding site are highly conserved between HIV-1, HIV-2, and SIV (223, 224), and could serve as potential targets for the development of broadly-active therapeutic agents.

Binding of gp120 to the coreceptor triggers further conformational changes in Env that enable gp41-mediated fusion of the viral and cellular membranes. The current model of gp41-mediated fusion is based on studies of HIV-1 crystal structures/imaging (52, 290), fusion inhibitors (138, 161, 293), entry kinetic studies (94, 134, 219), and similarities between gp41 and other wellcharacterized type I membrane fusion proteins including the influenza virus glycoprotein, hemagglutinin (HA) (52, 290). In this model, following the formation of Env-receptor-coreceptor complex, the transmembrane gp41 fusion peptide inserts into the host membrane. The fusion peptide is an N-terminal hydrophobic portion of gp41 primarily involved in anchoring the viral and cell membranes. The fusion peptide of each gp41 in the trimer refolds into a thermodynamically stable structure termed the 6-helix bundle (6HB). The 6HB is formed when an Nterminal helical region (HR1) and a C-terminal helical region (HR2) from each gp41 subunit come together (52, 290). The energy used to form the 6HB juxtaposes the viral and host membranes, driving the formation of a fusion pore (77, 174). Although the mechanisms of fusion for retroviruses have been extensively studied, the location-plasma membrane or endosome-of the fusion pore formation remains controversial (280). Reports showing that the majority of retroviruses do not require low pH to activate the fusion process (62) suggest that HIV-1 likely fuses with the target cell at the plasma membrane, though it is



important to note that pH-independence does not in an of itself imply spatial information. However, multiple lines of evidence suggest that endocytic entry of HIV-1 can lead to infection (177), and may be a preferred route of entry into certain cell types (175). Further studies are needed to elucidate the relevance of endocytic uptake of HIV-1 *in vivo*.

INHIBITING HIV-1 ENTRY

Targeting CD4

Each interaction in the multistep HIV-1 entry pathway can be targeted for drug development. Efforts to block HIV-1 at this stage of infection have led to a class of interventions termed HIV-1 entry inhibitors. Initial attempts to develop specific inhibitors of HIV-1 entry focused on blocking viral binding to the cell. These attempts led to the generation of recombinant soluble CD4 (sCD4) molecules, which lack the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains of CD4, but retain the two outer-most domains (D1 and D2). These constructs maintain the ability to bind gp120, and thus can act as molecular decoys during infection. Although sCD4 showed promising in vitro activity against laboratory-adapted strains of HIV-1 (90, 119, 258, 273), activity in clinical trials did not follow suit (69, 246). Additionally, producing large enough quantities of the protein for clinical use may be challenging. Furthermore, studies demonstrated that HIV-1 primary isolates are less sensitive to neutralization by sCD4 than lab-adapted strains (69, 246, 277). Subsequent studies with PRO 542, a tetravalent CD4-Ig fusion protein comprising D1 and D2 of human CD4 fused to the heavy and light chain constant regions of human $IgG2,\kappa$, yielded more encouraging results (7, 120). Moderate



reductions in plasma HIV-1 RNA levels were observed in a phase I trial of PRO 542 in patients with advanced HIV-1 disease. However, disadvantages of this therapeutic platform are that the drug would have to be delivered intravenously, would require a cold chain (which is not practical for treating individuals in resource-limiting settings), and would be expensive to develop.

Conserved structures/domains in gp120, such as the CD4-binding site and coreceptor-binding domain, serve as attractive targets for antibodies or small-molecule inhibitors. Unsurprisingly, small molecule inhibitors that block the gp120-CD4 interaction show greater promise. One such inhibitor (BMS-378806) (159, 285) exhibits potent antiviral activity *in vitro* against HIV-1 subtype B (independent of coreceptor tropism), but is inactive against HIV-2 and SIV (159). BMS-378806 binds within the CD4 binding pocket of gp120, preventing engagement with cellular CD4 receptors. The antiviral activity *in vivo* is demonstrated by a phase I study with the related compound, BMS-488043, which resulted in 1-log₁₀-reduction in plasma HIV-1 RNA in study subjects (107). However, relatively high doses were required (1,800 mg), driving the virus in 17% of subjects to easily acquire resistance. Moreover, baseline resistance to BMS-488043 was detected in another 17% of subjects (306). The compound is no longer in clinical development.

Small molecules targeting CCR5

Multiple methods have been employed to generate inhibitors targeting the gp120-CCR5 interaction. Targeting CCR5 has been an attractive therapeutic angle since the discovery of a naturally occurring mutation in *ccr5* (*ccr5* Δ 32) that



www.manaraa.com

truncates CCR5, preventing cell surface expression of the chemokine receptor. Individuals homozygous for this mutation are less susceptible to infection by R5tropic HIV-1, although they remain sensitive to infection by X4-tropic viruses (117, 160, 244), but still these individuals are rarely infected (27, 189, 268). Drug development efforts to block CCR5 have led to the generation of small molecule antagonists, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), and analogues of natural CCR5 ligands. The small molecule CCR5 antagonists have been named with the suffix "-viroc", denoting "viral receptor occupancy". These molecules possess no agonist properties and do not impact surface expression of CCR5, yet exhibit potent inhibition of HIV-1 replication *in vitro* against lab-adapted and primary isolates across all subtypes of HIV-1. Three of these inhibitors—aplaviroc (APL), maraviroc (MVC), and vicriviroc (VVC)—have advanced to at least phase II clinical trials and will be discussed here.

Aplaviroc (formerly, compound 873140) is an allosteric noncompetitive inhibitor of CCR5, exhibiting potent antiviral activity during short-term monotherapy studies. Administering 600 mg APL twice daily produced up to a 1.6-log₁₀-reduction in plasma HIV-1 RNA levels during 10 days of treatment (147). Mechanistic studies showed that nanomolar concentrations of APL block the activity of the CCR5 ligand, MIP-1 α , but not signaling by another CCR5 ligand—RANTES (288). Although initially promising as an antiviral agent, followup studies reported APL-associated hepatotoxicity (drug-induced hepatitis) in 5 subjects during phase IIb and III clinical trials (188). While no fatalities resulted



from the hepatotoxicity, and pathology resolved with drug discontinuance, APL development is not being pursued further due to this side effect.

Maraviroc (formerly, UK-427,857) is also a noncompetitive allosteric inhibitor of CCR5, with potent antiviral activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Like APL, MVC does not induce signaling and calcium mobilization upon binding to CCR5, nor does it impact CCR5 surface expression. However, unlike APL, MVC is a functional CCR5 antagonist that blocks binding of, and signaling by, CCR5 ligands including MIP-1 α and RANTES at nanomolar concentrations (80). In a 10-day monotherapy phase IIa clinical trial conducted in 63 subjects infected with R5-tropic HIV-1, 600 mg of MVC daily resulted in ≥1.6 log₁₀-reduction of plasma HIV-1 (86).

The *in vivo* efficacy of MVC was confirmed in two double-blind randomized, placebo-controlled phase III clinical trials—MVC versus Optimized Therapy in Viremic Antiretroviral Treatment-Experienced Patients (MOTIVATE 1 and 2) (85, 103). MOTIVATE 1 was conducted in the United States and Canada, and MOTIVATE 2 was conducted in Australia, Europe, and the United States. All 1049 study participants had been taking one or more drugs from at least three antiretroviral classes and showed evidence of resistance to drugs from these antiretroviral classes, had plasma HIV-1 RNA levels >5,000 copies/mL, median CD4 cells count of 169cells/mm³, and were infected exclusively with R5-tropic virus as assessed by the Trofile assay (164). Participants were randomized to receive one of two dosing regimens of MVC (300 mg given once or twice daily) or placebo. At 48 weeks, in both studies, the change in HIV-1 RNA from baseline



was greater with MVC than with placebo; -1.66 and -1.82 log₁₀ copies/mL with the once-daily and twice-daily regimens, respectively, versus -0.80 with placebo in MOTIVATE 1, and -1.72 and -1.87 log₁₀ copies/mL, respectively, versus -0.76 with placebo in MOTIVATE 2. Additionally, in both studies more than twice as many MVC recipients had plasma HIV-1 RNA levels below 50 copies/mL compared to placebo recipients (42-47% in both MVC groups versus 16% in the placebo group in MOTIVATE 1; 45% versus 18% in MOTIVATE 2). Furthermore, increases in CD4 cell counts ranged from 110-130 cells/mm³ in the MVC arms as compared to 50-70 cells/mm³ in the placebo arms.

Repeated Trofile testing showed that when virologic failure occurred, it was associated with emergence of X4-tropic virus in 57% of subjects (85). Although all subjects had R5-tropic virus at the failure screening time point, 8% were found to have dual (X4/R5)-tropic or mixed (X4-tropic and R5-tropic) (D/M) virus at baseline (day 0). These variants were undetected before MVC treatment because they were present at levels below the limit of detection of the assay. Subjects infected with D/M-tropic virus at baseline had a lower rate of virologic response, shorter time to virologic failure, and smaller CD4 increases as compared to those exclusively infected with R5-tropic virus. Owing to the results of the MOTIVATE trials, the makers of MVC received approval by the FDA for treatment-experienced patients with poor control of multidrug resistant, R5-tropic HIV-1.

While the approval of MVC targets the treatment of patients with R5-tropic virus, its potential in patients with D/M-tropic virus has also been evaluated (230).



A total of 186 study participants infected with D/M-tropic virus, with median CD4 cell counts of 42 cells/mm³ and HIV-1 viral load of >5000 copies/mL within each cohort (300 mg MVC once-daily, twice-daily, or placebo), were enrolled in a randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled phase IIb clinical trial A4001029. This study found no significant virologic benefit of MVC as compared to placebo over 24 weeks. These results and those of the MOTIVATE trials suggest that although the presence or outgrowth of X4-tropic virus dampened the response to MVC, it was not associated with rapid CD4 decline or disease progression.

Vicriviroc, (formerly, SCH417690 or SCH-D) is a third class of allosteric noncompetitive CCR5 inhibitor. VVC is an orally bioavailable small molecule CCR5 antagonist that, like MVC, blocks signaling by the C-C chemokines at nanomolar concentrations (265). Early in vivo studies demonstrated that VVC produced seizures in animals at high doses, but no VVC-associated adverse effects in the CNS have been reported in human clinical trials. A 14-day monotherapy trial demonstrated a reduction of plasma HIV-1 RNA by approximately 1.0-1.5 log₁₀ copies/mL (248). However, a phase IIb study of VVC (plus dual nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors—NRTIs) in treatment-naïve HIV-1-infected subjects was halted due to increased rates of virologic failure in the VVC arms compared to the control dual NRTI arm (149). Despite these setbacks, a placebo-controlled phase IIb study conducted in antiretroviralexperienced participants demonstrated potent suppression of HIV-1 by VVC (administered at 5, 10 or 15 mg daily) in combination with a protease inhibitor (297). Mean changes in plasma HIV-1 RNA levels at 24 weeks ranged from 1.5-



1.9 log₁₀ copies/mL in the VVC-treated participants as compared to 0.29 log₁₀ copies/mL in the placebo group. The same trend was observed 48 weeks post treatment. However, development of VVC was not further pursued due to lack of convincing efficacy gains when it was added to background therapy comprising two antiretroviral drugs in two randomized phase III clinical trials (48).

Targeting CXCR4

As with CCR5, the development of small molecule inhibitors of CXCR4 has been an attractive therapeutic option (262). Initial animal toxicity studies with two small molecule inhibitors (AMD3100 and AMD11070) (78) provided enough evidence of safety to proceed with human studies (110). Preliminary human studies with AMD3100 showed selective blockade of CXCR4 and inhibition of X4-tropic HIV-1 and HIV-2, but development of this compound as an anti-HIV-1 drug was discontinued because it lacked bioavailability and caused substantial peripheral leukocytosis—mobilization/release of progenitor hematopoietic stem cells from the bone marrow into the blood (91, 110). This side effect turned out to be a benefit, though not for HIV-1, as AMD3100 (now known as plerixafor) has since been approved for use during autologous transplantation in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and multiple myeloma (43, 75). Phase I and II studies with another CXCR4 inhibitor AMD11070 showed a reduction in the X4-tropic HIV-1 population in participants infected with D/M virus (180). However, further development of this drug has been halted due to abnormal liver histology in longterm animal studies. The long-term safety of targeting CXCR4 remains in question.



Targeting fusion

Membrane fusion mediated by HIV-1 gp41 is yet another viable drug target in the HIV-1 entry pathway. Because the 6HB structure is critical for membrane fusion, peptide inhibitors mimicking the HR1 or HR2 region of the gp41 subunit have been designed to prevent membrane fusion (122). One such peptide, enfuvirtide (T20), is the only FDA-approved HIV-1 fusion inhibitor (147, 151). T20 is a 36-mer synthetic peptide whose sequence matches that of the HR2 region of gp41. Interaction of T20 with HR1 prevents the association of HR1 with HR2, thus inhibiting fusion and blocking virus entry (294). The drug has minimal toxicity, however because it is a peptide, it must be administered by subcutaneous injection. T20 co-administered with other drugs (darunavir, tirapanavir, and maraviroc) in clinical trials lead to significant improvements in response rates to those compounds (58, 112). Unfortunately, as with most entry inhibitors, viral resistance to T20 emerges rapidly; predominantly in regimens where viral inhibition is incomplete or due to naturally occurring polymorphisms in the gp41 region of genetically diverse forms of HIV-1 (47, 208). This underscores the need for combination therapy in the management of HIV-1 infection (124, 282).

THE VIRAL BOTTLENECK DURING HIV-1 SEXUAL TRANSMISSION

The majority of new HIV-1 infections occur in the developing world, with women being disproportionally affected compared to men. Of these new infections, approximately 80% result from heterosexual intercourse (65, 228,



298). Sexual transmission of HIV-1 is an inefficient process, with the incidence of transmission between discordant couples being estimated to be between 0.1%-10% transmission rate per coital act (33, 101, 196, 212). Sexual transmission of HIV-1 is characterized by a genetic bottleneck in which one or few viral variants from the diverse viral swarm in the donor cross the mucosal epithelium in the recipient and encounter susceptible target cells to seed the infection. This theory of the genetic bottleneck was initially described over 20 years ago, when researchers studying donor-recipient pairs discovered that viral sequences isolated from recipients were usually homogenous and macrophage-tropic, while viral populations of the donors showed heterogeneity both in sequence and cell tropism (299, 300, 304, 307). Other studies suggested that multiple viral variants may initially cross the physical mucosal barrier, however most are extinguished due to intrinsic differences in reproductive rates (131, 152, 154). As a result, successful transmission generally results from the expansion and propagation of a single genetic variant, termed the transmitted/founder (T/F) virus (Fig 3) (131). T/F viruses may have specific properties that are selected for during transmission, and identifying such traits may inform and facilitate the development of pre- and post-exposure therapies targeting these early viruses.

KNOWN PROPERTIES OF TRANSMITTED HIV-1

The first report of genotypic differences between viruses isolated from donor-recipient pairs came from studies of vertical transmission of three motherinfant pairs (300). Infant viral sequences of the V3-V5 region of Env were less diverse than those from their respective mother. Additionally, a potential N-linked



glycosylation site (PNLG) within V3 was conserved in each mother's sequences, but lost in her corresponding infant's viral sequences. Furthermore, fewer PNLGs have been reported in vertically transmitted subtype A and C Envs isolated from mother-infant pairs (229, 301, 303). These data suggest that viruses with fully glycosylated Envs are perhaps selected against as they traverse the placenta into the infant host, or may acquire a fitness cost that hampers their replication in the new host (303).

While these early studies in mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) pairs were invaluable as MTCT accounted for approximately 25% of global transmission during that time (1991) (35), by 1994 MTCT rates had began to dramatically drop (to as low as 4%) owing to the development of highly active therapy preventing vertical transmission (63, 207). This highlighted the importance of studying transmission in pairs that characterized the majority of the pandemic—sexually transmitted pairs. As observed in MTCT pairs, analysis of Envs from acutely infected individuals with subtype C infection also revealed shorter variable loops with fewer PNLGs compared to those from their transmitting partners (73). Other studies reported shorter V1 and V2 regions and fewer PNLGs in acutely infected individuals with subtype A and B virus (56, 235). Moreover, an assessment of thousands of Env sequences to discern patterns in amino acid signatures that are significantly associated either with transmission or with the chronic phase of the infection revealed two statistically associated signatures of acute viruses; the first was located at position 12 in the signal peptide, and the second was a loss of a PNLG in the cytoplasmic tail of gp41



(96). These genotypic signatures are likely not randomly transmitted as work by multiple groups has shown that T/F viruses arise from a minor population of the donor's plasma virus (32, 93, 300). Furthermore, studies have shown that these transmitted minor variants are genetically similar to sequences isolated from earlier time points in the donor, not those circulating at the time of transmission (218), suggesting that the donor's plasma quasispecies at the time of transmission may not accurately predict the T/F virus. These data also support the theory that certain genotypic (or phenotypic) properties are particularly favored during transmission, and are selected even when they account for the minority of sequences present in the donor.

Given the genotypic evidence of the transmission bottleneck, many groups have sought to identify the viral traits/phenotypes that account for transmission fitness by comparing HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein (*env*) sequences from chronically infected individuals with those isolated from their newly-infected partners. Multiples studies reported that viruses that are transmitted between individuals preferentially use CCR5 to mediate entry into target cells (51, 121, 131, 199, 200, 239, 295). This provides some insight into why, as mentioned above, individuals who are homozygous null for *ccr5* rarely become infected, even though they remain susceptible to infection by X4-tropic viruses (27, 189, 268). Additional studies showed that one or few viruses with compact, glycan-restricted Envs that were sensitive to donor neutralizing antibodies, typically established new infections (56, 68, 73, 96, 157, 162). While other groups have not been able to confirm the neutralization sensitivity of T/F Envs (31, 92, 229),



these initial studies served to stimulate research interest in this area. Recent work from Beatrice Hahn and George Shaw has attempted to more precisely identify targetable traits of transmitted viruses using single-genome amplification with replication competent subtype B and C viruses (199). They found that T/F viruses were marginally more infectious and contained approximately twice more Env per virion compared to chronic viruses. T/F viruses were more readily transferred to CD4⁺T cells by dendritic cells, but replicated with similar kinetics in primary cells as chronic viruses. Lastly, T/F were more resistant to IFN- α treatment compared to chronic viruses.

While the field has made great progress in elucidating properties that are associated with transmitted HIV-1, so far the only consistent phenotype associated with transmitted viruses is the use of CCR5. Approximately one-half of transmissions are thought to occur when the donor is still in the acute stage of infection (209, 289), therefore this property may have easily been missed had the studies discussed above not assessed differences between T/F viruses and viruses isolated from chronically-infected individuals, where X4-tropism is more prevalent (28, 202, 222, 247, 261). This underscores the importance of comparing T/F viruses to chronic viruses to increase the likelihood of detecting subtle differences that significantly impact transmission that may otherwise be overlooked. The genotypic and phenotypic properties outlined here likely act in concert to evade host immune pressure and foster viral diversification, and may serve as attractive therapeutic targets for the development of AIDS interventions.



PROJECT GOAL I: IDENTIFYING TARGETABLE PROPERTIES OF TRANSMITTED VIRUSES

T/F viruses may have specific properties that are selected for during transmission, and identifying such traits may inform and facilitate the development of pre- and post-exposure therapies targeting these early viruses. To date, the most consistent property associated with transmitted viruses is the use of the CCR5 coreceptor. CCR5 is a GPCR that functions as a chemokine receptor to regulate trafficking and the effector response of leukocytes. Ligand (MIP1- α , MIP1- β , and RANTES)-binding induces a conformational change of the protein and activates trimeric G-proteins, which leads to subsequent signaling events that mediate CCR5 effector function. Thus, like other GPCRs, CCR5 is conformationally plastic. We, and others, have used conformation-dependent monoclonal antibodies to confirm antigenically distinct forms of CCR5 on primary cells and cell lines (25, 153). The impact of this conformational heterogeneity on infection varies by virus strain. We know that viruses differ in their ability to interact with CCR5, with some viruses being heavily reliant on the amino terminus (NT) and others on the second extracellular loop (ECL2) for entry (3, 272). Additionally, some viruses are naturally capable of utilizing structurally altered antagonist-bound CCR5 for entry (108, 271).

Although we know that a spectrum of CCR5 engagement by various HIV-1 exists, the implications of these interactions are unknown. We were interested in understanding how various viruses interact with CCR5—particularly, different conformations of CCR5. To this end, I evaluated a panel of 87 R5-tropic viruses



(from MVC treatment-naïve patients) to address differences between T/F and chronic control (CC) HIV-1 in their ability to mediate entry via varying amounts of CCR5 in the presence of MVC. Our lab had previously reported no statistical difference in MVC sensitivity between subtypes B and C T/F and CC viruses on a microglial cell line—NP2/CD4/CCR5 (200, 295).





Figure 1: HIV-1 entry process. HIV-1 entry can be divided into three key steps, all mediated by the viral envelop glycoprotein (Env) gp120. First, nonspecific, low-affinity interactions bring the virion into close proximity to the cell surface, allowing gp120 to bind to the receptor CD4. Second, CD4 binding induces a conformational change in Env exposing the coreceptor binding site and facilitating coreceptor (typically, CCR5 or CXCR4) engagement. Coreceptor binding induces another structural change in Env, triggering the formation of the fusion pore and membrane fusion of the viral and host membranes. (Image from Wilen et al. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2012; 726: 223-42)





Figure 2: Schematic of CCR5 coreceptor. CCR5 is a seven-transmembrane G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) that functions as a

chemokine receptor, and serves as a coreceptor for HIV-1 infection. HIV-1 Env binds the 352 amino acid protein at the amino terminus (N-terminus) and/or the second extracellular loop (ECL2) at the pink and purple colored residues, respectively. Sites of posttranslational modifications are also shown and contribute to changes in CCR5 3D structure. Conformational plasticity is a key feature of GPCRs such as CCR5. (Image adapted from Lopalco et al. *J Transl Med* 2010 **9** (Suppl 1):S4)





Figure 3: HIV-1 genetic bottleneck. Sexual transmission of HIV-1 is characterized by a genetic bottleneck in which a diverse viral swarm in the donor, represented by the differentially-colored virions on the left, must initially cross the mucosal epithelium in a new host and encounter target cells to infect. Multiple variants may cross this physical barrier, however the majority will die out or be outcompeted. As a result, approximately 80% of the time, successful transmission is carried out by a single genetic variant, termed the transmitted/founder (T/F) virus. (Image adapted from Brandon Keele)



CHAPTER 2

Transmitted/Founder and Chronic HIV-1 Envelope Proteins are Distinguished by Differential Utilization of CCR5

Zahra F. Parker^{1*}, Shilpa S. Iyer^{1,2*}, Craig B. Wilen¹, Nicholas F. Parrish^{1,2},

Kelechi C. Chikere⁴, Fang-Hua Lee¹, Chukwuka A. Didigu¹, Reem Berro³, Per

Johan Klasse³, Benhur Lee⁴, John P. Moore³, George M. Shaw^{1,2},

Beatrice H. Hahn^{1,2}#, Robert W. Doms^{1,5}#

¹ Department of Microbiology and ²Department of Medicine, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA 19104 ³ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Weill Medical College of Cornell University, New York, NY 10065 ⁴ Department of Microbiology, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, California 90095 ⁵ Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA 19104

*These authors contributed equally.

#To whom correspondence should be addressed: <u>bhahn@mail.med.upenn.edu;</u> <u>domsr@email.chop.edu</u>

Originally published in *Journal of Virology* 87(5): 2401-2411. Dec 26, 2012


ABSTRACT

Infection by HIV-1 most often results from the successful transmission and propagation of a single virus variant, termed the transmitted/founder (T/F) virus. Here, we compared the attachment and entry properties of envelope (Env) glycoproteins from T/F and Chronic Control (CC) viruses. Using a panel of 40 T/F and 47 CC Envs, all derived by single genome amplification, we found that 52% of clade B and C CC Envs exhibited partial resistance to the CCR5 antagonist maraviroc (MVC) on cells expressing high levels of CCR5, while only 15% of T/F Envs exhibited this same property. Moreover, subtle differences in the magnitude with which MVC inhibited infection on cells expressing low levels of CCR5, including primary CD4+ T cells, was highly predictive of MVC-resistance when CCR5 expression levels were high. These results are consistent with previous observations showing a greater sensitivity of T/F Envs to MVC inhibition on cells expressing very high levels of CCR5 and indicate that CC Envs are often capable of recognizing MVC-bound CCR5, albeit inefficiently on cells expressing physiologic levels of CCR5. When CCR5 expression levels are high, this phenotype becomes readily detectable. The utilization of drug-bound CCR5 conformations by many CC Envs was seen with other CCR5 antagonists, with replication competent viruses, and did not obviously correlate with other phenotypic traits. The striking ability of clade B and C CC Envs to use MVCbound CCR5 relative to T/F Envs argues that the more promiscuous use of CCR5 by these Env proteins is selected against at the level of virus transmission and is selected for during chronic infection.



INTRODUCTION

Physical and innate immune barriers serve to make mucosal transmission of HIV-1 a relatively inefficient process. As a result, establishment of virus infection in a naïve host most often results from the transmission and subsequent propagation of a single virus strain, termed a transmitted/founder (T/F) virus (19, 73, 131, 158, 198, 210, 299, 300, 304, 307). Virologic traits that might enable a virus to overcome one or more of these barriers could be selected for during transmission, and identification of such traits should lead to a greater understanding of the earliest events in HIV-1 infection and could suggest new prevention strategies.

Single genome amplification has enabled the inference of a large number of T/F *envs* from multiple virus clades (1, 105, 131, 190, 238, 239). This has made it possible to seek genotypic and phenotypic differences between T/F Env proteins and those derived from chronically infected individuals (CC Envs). Several phenotypic characteristics are clearly associated with transmission: T/F Envs virtually always use CCR5 rather than CXCR4 or other non-canonical coreceptors (24, 51, 121, 131) and generally infect T cells but not macrophages (131, 190, 239, 295) as a result of requiring relatively high levels of CD4 to mediate virus entry (98, 171, 182, 203, 204, 242). Other phenotypic and genotypic traits that have been linked to transmission are less well defined: Envs isolated from acute infection have sometimes been reported to be more neutralization sensitive (295) have on average fewer putative N-linked glycosylation sites (73, 96), and have shorter variable loops (56, 73, 234, 235)



compared to Envs isolated from chronically infected individuals.

Recently, Swanstrom and colleagues reported an additional phenotypic difference between clade C T/F and chronic Env proteins (127). They found that CC Envs were more likely than T/F Envs to exhibit partial resistance to the CCR5 antagonist maraviroc (MVC) on 293T cells expressing high levels of CCR5, but not on 293T cells expressing lower levels of CCR5. This finding suggests that CC Envs are often capable of infecting cells by using the MVC-bound conformation of CCR5 or that they are able to utilize a form of CCR5 that is unable to bind MVC. However, work by us and others has not revealed differences in MVC sensitivity between T/F and CC Envs on an NP2 cell line (200, 219, 272, 295).

To reconcile these findings, we examined a previously described panel of clade B and clade C Env proteins from T/F and chronic viruses (200, 295) for their ability to infect cell lines and primary human CD4 + T cells in the presence of saturating concentrations of MVC. On 293T cells expressing high levels of CCR5, we confirmed that clade C CC Envs were much more likely than T/F Envs to mediate infection in the presence of MVC as shown by Swanstrom and colleagues with a different panel of clade C Env proteins (127). We found this property to be shared by clade B Envs and extended these observations further to include cell lines expressing 5- to 10-fold lower levels of CCR5 and on primary human CD4 + T cells. Subtle differences in the efficiency with which MVC inhibited infection of 87 different T/F and chronic viruses on cells expressing low levels of CCR5 was highly predictive of more overt MVC-resistance when CCR5 expression levels were high. This property was also seen with other CCR5



antagonists, with replication competent infectious molecular clones (IMCs), and did not correlate with other phenotypic properties. Since the efficiency of virus entry in the presence of MVC increased with CCR5 expression levels, we conclude that many CC Envs can utilize at least some of the drug-bound conformations of CCR5, albeit inefficiently. Nonetheless, the differential ability of clade B and C chronic and T/F Envs to use MVC-bound CCR5 argues that the more promiscuous use of CCR5 conformations by many chronic viral Env proteins is selected against at the level of virus transmission by a mechanism(s) that has not yet been elucidated by *in vitro* assays, but is selected for during chronic infection. Differences in the populations of CD4+CCR5+ cells that are targeted by HIV in acute versus chronic infection may reveal differences in how T/F and CC Envs mediate virus infection and could suggest new prevention strategies.



MATERIALS AND METHODS

Description of Envs and infectious molecular clones (IMCs). The derivations of all the Env clones and IMCs used in this study have been described previously (131, 200, 239, 295). Briefly, the sequences of all Envs and IMCs were inferred from single genome sequencing of acute or chronically infected donors. The Envs or IMCs were then amplified from the first-round PCR product or gene synthesized and then sub-cloned into pCDNA3.1+ directional TOPO or pCRXL TOPO vector (Invitrogen). Clade B CC Envs were randomly selected amongst sequences from the chronic swarm that were predicted to be functional, while clade C CC Envs were generated by determining the most-recent common ancestor of discrete clonally-expanded populations, evident as minor populations in phylogenetic trees of chronic sequences (200). A summary of the geographic origin and infection status for Envs and IMCs is shown in Table S1.

Cell culture. 293T17, 293T-derived Affinofile, NP2/CD4/CCR5, NP2/CD4/CXCR4, and U87/CD4 cell lines were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) with 10% (vol/vol) fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma-Aldrich) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Affinofile cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin per ml, 50 µg/ml blasticidin per ml, and 200 µg/ml G418 per ml.

Pseudovirus production and normalization. HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses were produced by calcium phosphate co-transfection of 6 μ g of pcDNA3.1⁺ containing the desired *env* clone with 10 μ g of HIV-1 core (pNL43- Δ Env-vpr⁺-luc⁺ 28



www.manaraa.com

or pNL43-ΔEnv-vpr⁺-eGFP) into 293T17 cells. At 72 h post transfection, the pseudovirus-containing supernatant was harvested and filtered through a 0.45µm filter, aliquoted, and stored at -80°C. For primary CD4⁺ T cell infections, pseudovirus was concentrated approximately 100-fold by ultracentrifugation at 113,000 x g for 2 h at 4°C through a 20% sucrose cushion. Pelleted pseudovirus was then resuspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). All luciferaseencoding pseudoviral stocks were serially diluted on NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells to define the linear range of the assay. Relative light units (RLUs) of all viruses used were well within the 5-log linear range of the assay.

Virus inhibition assays. The HEK293T-based CD4/CCR5 dual-inducible cell line (Affinofile) was employed to assess sensitivity of pseudovirions and replication competent viruses to CCR5 antagonists at different levels of CCR5 surface expressions. CD4 expression was induced with minocycline and CCR5 expression was induced with ponasterone A (pon A) as described previously(126). Briefly, 650 cells were plated in each well of a 96-well plate and then 48 h later they were induced with a final concentration of 10 ng/ml minocycline to maximally express CD4 and either 2 μM or 0.031 μM pon A to express high and low CCR5, respectively. 18 h post-induction, CD4 and CCR5 expression levels were determined by quantitative flow cytometry (BD QuantiBrite) as described below. Induced Affinofile cells, NP2/CD4/CCR5 or U87/CD4 cells transiently transfected with pcDNA3.1⁺ encoding CCR5 using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) were used for CCR5 antagonist inhibition studies. Cells were preincubated for 30min at 37°C with either 2μM of drug,



previously shown to be saturating (57), or three-fold serial dilutions from 6µM to 0.1µM of the CCR5 antagonists maraviroc (MVC), aplaviroc (APL), CMPD-167, TAK-779, vicriviroc (VVC), or media alone prior to infection with the indicated luciferase reporter pseudovirus. After addition of pseudovirus, plates were spinoculated at 450 x g for 2 h at 4°C and then incubated at 37°C. We also performed experiments without spinoculation and obtained similar results: spinoculation increased infection by approximately 2-fold, but did not impact the sensitivity of viruses to maraviroc. Cells were lysed with Brite-Glo (Promega) at 72 h post-infection and relative light units (RLUs) assessed on a Luminoskan Ascent luminometer. All inhibition assays were done in triplicate in each of at least two independent experiments using a MVC-sensitive and MVC-partially resistant R5-tropic Env as controls.

Primary human CD4⁺ T cell infections. Primary human CD4⁺ T cells, purified by negative selection, were obtained from the Human Immunology Core of the University of Pennsylvania's Center for AIDS Research (CFAR). Cells were infected as described previously (295). Briefly, 1.5 x 10⁶ cells per condition were stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 (clone OKT3; eBiosciences) and anti-CD28 (clone 28.2; BD Biosciences) and 20 U/ml recombinant interleukin-2 (IL-2; Aldesleukin) in Rosewell Park Memorial Institude (RPMI) medium containing 10% FBS. Three days post-stimulation cells were transferred to 96-well V-bottom plates and incubated for 30 min with 6μM MVC or a no drug control. Approximately 5μg p24 of concentrated HIV-green fluorescent protein (GFP) pseudovirus was used to infect cells in triplicate in a total volume of 50μl at a cell



concentration of 1 x 10^7 cells/ml. Plates were then spinoculated at 1,200 x g for 2 h at 4°C. Cells were resuspended at 1 x 10^6 cells/ml. Three days post-infection, cells were stained with live/dead aqua (1µl) (Invitrogen), anti-CD4 Alexa Fluor 700 (2µl) (Invitrogen), and anti-CD3 Qdot 655 (0.5µl) (Invitrogen) and examined by flow cytometry and the fraction of cells that were GFP-positive determined. HIV-infected cells were defined as live/dead CD3+CD4-GFP+ as cell surface CD4 is down-regulated upon infection.

Flow cytometry. Cell staining was perferomed at room temperature in 50µl FACS wash buffer (PBS, 2.5% FBS, 2 mM EDTA). For CD4 ⁺ T cells, cells were first washed in PBS, then live/ dead aqua (Invitrogen) was added and incubated for 10 min. Next, anti-CCR7 IgM (1µl) in FACS buffer was added and incubated for 30 min. Cells were then washed in FACS buffer before staining with anti-CD4–Qdot 655 (0.5µl) (Invitrogen), anti-CD45RO–phycoerythrin (PE)-Texas Red (3µl) (Beckman Coulter), and anti-CCR5 (2D7)–PE (5µl) (BD Biosciences) for 30 min. Cells were then washed in FACS buffer and resuspended in 1% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Samples were run on an LSRII (BD) instrument and analyzed with FlowJo 10.0 (Treestar). Cells were gated as follows: singlets (FSC-A by FSC-H), then live cells (SSC-A by live/dead), then lymphocytes (SSC-A by FSC-A), then CCR5+ cells (SSC-A by 2D7-PE).

Quantitative FACS. Quantitative FACS was performed to convert mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) into antibody-binding sites (ABS) by using a standardized microbeads kit (BD Biosciences) according to the manufacturer's



ABS and subtracted from the ABS value obtained with the experimental sample.

Statistical and correlation analyses. Infection values obtained with T/F and chronic Env pseudovirions were compared using Mann-Whitney tests, Fisher's exact, or t-tests, and correlations were assessed using Spearman tests. P-values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. Data were analyzed with Prism 5.0 software.

Ethics statement. All human cells used in this study were from normal healthy donors who provided written informed consent after approval by the University of Pennsylvania's Institutional Review Board.



RESULTS

Partial resistance to MVC on Affinofile cells with high CCR5 surface expression. Swanstrom and colleagues observed that chronic clade C Envs mediate low levels of infection on Affinofile cells expressing high levels of CCR5 in the presence of MVC more frequently than T/F Envs. To assess if an independent panel of 87 clade B and C Envs (200, 295) would recapitulate this finding, we also utilized the 293T-derived Affinofile cell system. Among these pseudoviruses were 24 clade B and 16 clade C T/F Envs, as well as 28 clade B and 19 clade C CC Envs, all derived by single-genome amplification and described in earlier reports (131, 200, 295). The Affinofile cell line makes it possible to independently modulate surface expression of CD4 and CCR5 by applying different concentrations of the transcriptional activators minocycline and pon A, respectively (126). We examined the sensitivity of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses to MVC on Affinofile cells expressing relatively low (low CCR5 Affinofile cells) or high levels of CCR5 (high CCR5 Affinofile cells), while maximally inducing CD4 levels. PonA treatment increased the overall expression of CCR5 on Affinofile cells from 2,723 (uninduced) to 23,470 (high induction) antibody binding sites (ABS) per cell (Fig. 1A). To confirm that 6µM MVC was saturating at the highest level of CCR5 expression, we assessed the difference in residual infection between the two highest concentrations of MVC employed and found that there was no increase in inhibition of infection from 2μ M to 6μ M MVC,



indicating that 2μ M was saturating and that further increases in drug did not have any additional inhibitory effect (*P* = 0.70 by paired t-test) (Fig. 1B).

Affinofile cells expressing low or high levels of CCR5 were infected by each of the 87 pseudoviruses in the presence or absence of increasing concentrations (to a maximum of 6µM) of MVC, after which we calculated the maximal percent inhibition (MPI). We imposed an arbitrary MPI cutoff of 95%, where MPI values >95% were considered MVC sensitive, while samples with MPIs less than or equal to 95% were assumed to be partially resistant to MVC. We found that infection by all 87 pseudoviruses was inhibited by >95% at saturating concentrations of MVC on low CCR5 Affinofile and NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells, consistent with our previous results (200, 295). On high CCR5 Affinofile cells, 57 of 87 (66%) of the pseudoviruses were inhibited by MVC by >95% (representative pseudovirus is shown in Fig. 1C, top panel), while 30 of 87 (34%) of the pseudoviruses exhibited partial resistance defined by a MPI \leq 95% in the presence of 6µM MVC, with some pseudoviruses exhibiting considerable MVC resistance (MPI values as low as 60%) (Fig. 1C, middle panel). JRFL, which is MVC sensitive, was included as a control in all experiments (Fig. 1C, bottom panel). When CCR5 levels were high, the amount of MVC needed to achieve maximal inhibition increased for all viruses as expected. These results confirmed a central finding of Swanstrom and colleagues (127), in that a considerable number of viruses do indeed exhibit a reduced MPI when MVC is used to inhibit infection on high CCR5 Affinofile cells.



Partial MVC resistance is enriched in chronic HIV-1, but is not clade or antagonist specific. There was a striking difference in the frequency with which T/F and CC Envs exhibited partial MVC resistance (15% [6 of 40] versus 52% [24 of 47]; P < 0.0001 by Fisher's exact test) (Fig. 2A). This partial resistance was not clade-specific as 50% (14 of 28) of clade B and 53% (10 of 19) of clade C CC Envs exhibited partial resistance to MVC, whereas only 17% (4 of 24) of clade B and 13% (2 of 16) of clade C T/F Envs exhibited this property under conditions of high CCR5 expression (clade B P = 0.02, clade C P = 0.02by Fisher's exact test) (Fig. 2B). Not only was the distribution of MVC-sensitive and resistant Envs similar for clade B and C pseudoviruses, but these distributions were similar to those reported by Swanstrom and colleagues with their panel of clade C Envs (127). Thus, partial resistance to MVC on cells expressing high levels of CCR5 is reproducible, and is not clade specific.

To assess if MVC-resistance predicted resistance to other CCR5 antagonists, we evaluated the sensitivity of four partially MVC-resistant pseudoviruses to four additional small molecule CCR5 inhibitors: aplaviroc, CMPD-167, TAK-779, and VVC. Similar to the results with MVC, all four pseudoviruses tested were inhibited by >95% by all CCR5 antagonists on Affinofile cells expressing low levels of the coreceptor. However, at high CCR5 surface expression, all four pseudoviruses were partially resistant to the other CCR5 antagonists, similar to the results obtained with MVC (representative results shown in Figure 2C). Furthermore, the residual infection seen at high levels of CCR5 on Affinofile cells in the presence of CCR5 antagonists was not



due to the use of low endogenous levels of CXCR4 present on 293T cells, as the addition of the CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100 did not affect the MPI of partially resistant pseudoviruses (data not shown). Finally, we tested four IMCs whose Env proteins had been tested as part of the pseudovirus panel, including two T/F IMCs that were sensitive to MVC on high CCR5 Affinofile cells and two chronic IMCs that exhibited partial MVC resistance. The results with the replication competent viruses mirrored the results obtained with the respective pseudoviruses (data not shown), indicating that the partial resistance phenotype observed under conditions of high CCR5 is not an artifact of the pseudotyping system. Taken together, these results suggest that clade B and C CC Envs exhibit partial resistance to CCR5 antagonists at high levels of CCR5 much more frequently than T/F Envs.

MVC sensitivity on cells expressing low CCR5 levels predicts MVC resistance on cells expressing high levels of CCR5. We previously reported that T/F and chronic Env pseudovirus infection of NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells expressing CD4 and CCR5 were equally sensitive to MVC, exhibiting similar IC₅₀ values. In addition, all T/F and CC Envs were inhibited by saturating concentrations of MVC by >95% (200, 295). However, dose-response curves with different slopes can appear similar on traditional semi-log plots, masking differences in maximal inhibition (243, 252). Therefore, we performed new infection assays using the entire panel of viruses on NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells, which stably express intermediate levels of CCR5 (Fig. 1A), and compared the results to those obtained on low CCR5 and high CCR5 Affinofile cells by plotting the



residual infection for each virus on a log-scale (Fig. 3). While MVC inhibited all pseudoviruses by >95% on both low CCR5 Affinofile and NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells, there was considerable variability in residual infection values for different T/F and chronic Env pseudotypes. On NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells there was a significant difference in median residual infection between T/F and CC Envs (T/F median=0.06%, chronic median=0.15%; P = 0.01 by Mann-Whitney test). The magnitude of this difference was more pronounced on high CCR5 Affinofile cells (T/F median=0.54%, chronic median=4.8%; P = 0.0003 by Mann-Whitney test) but was not apparent on low CCR5 Affinofile cells (T/F median=0.14%; P = 0.94 by Mann-Whitney test). When we re-examined the NP2/CD4/CCR5 infection data from our previous studies (200, 295), the same correlations were observed.

Are the low and variable levels of infection on low CCR5 Affinofile and NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells in the presence of MVC predictive of more efficient infection in the presence of MVC when CCR5 levels are high? To determine this, we plotted residual infection on low CCR5 Affinofile (Fig. 4A) or NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells (Fig. 4B) in the presence of saturating MVC against that of each virus on high CCR5 Affinofile cells in the presence of saturating MVC. We found a moderate correlation between these values when comparing low CCR5 Affinofile and high CCR5 Affinofile cells (Spearman correlation coefficient= 0.22; P = 0.04) (Fig. 4A) and a more significant correlation when comparing NP2/CD4/CCR5 to high CCR5 Affinofile cells (Spearman correlation coefficient= 0.65; P < 0.0001) (Fig. 4B). These results argue that an appreciable number of CC Envs can



utilize MVC-bound CCR5 but that this ability is less obvious on cells expressing low to moderate levels of CCR5, unless results are plotted on a log scale. When this is done, small differences in residual virus infection are not only evident, but highly predictive of substantive infection when CCR5 expression levels are high. To further confirm this finding, we examined a subset (4 T/F and 8 CC Envs) of our pseudoviruses on U87/CD4 cells in which CCR5 was transiently expressed, resulting in high levels of CCR5 (Fig. 1A). These experiments recapitulated our findings on high CCR5 Affinofile cells: viruses that exhibited MPIs of <95% on high CCR5 Affinofile cells likewise exhibited reduced MPIs on transiently transfected U87/CD4 cells, while viruses that remained highly sensitive to MVC under these conditions were likewise efficiently inhibited on CCR5-expressing U87/CD4 cells (data not shown).

Utilization of CCR5 in the presence of MVC is evident on primary human CD4+ T cells. To assess whether this phenotype is recapitulated under more physiologically relevant conditions, we infected primary human CD4+ T cells with GFP-expressing Env pseudoviruses in the presence or absence of saturating concentrations of MVC. To maximize the sensitivity of this primary cell assay, we selected three T/F pseudoviruses that were efficiently inhibited by MVC on high CCR5 Affinofile cells and three chronic pseudoviruses that exhibited significant resistance to MVC under these conditions. Peripheral blood CD4+ T cells from two uninfected donors, in each of two independent experiments, were purified by negative selection and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3/anti-CD28 and IL-2 for three days. Cells were incubated in the



presence or absence of saturating levels of MVC (6µM) 30 min prior to infection. Three days post-infection, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry and infected cells were determined by gating on live CD3+CD4-GFP+ events. We found that the three chronic pseudoviruses exhibited significant residual infection compared to T/Fs on CD4+ lymphocytes in the presence of saturating MVC (P = 0.04 by t-test) (Fig. 5). Further, these differences reflected those previously observed for these viruses on high CCR5 Affinofile cells and on NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells (Fig. 5). The differences were most pronounced on high CCR5 Affinofile cells (which express the highest levels of CCR5), less pronounced on NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells (intermediate CCR5 levels), and the least pronounced (but still observable) on primary CD4+ T cells (low CCR5 levels). Thus, these results are again consistent with the hypothesis that many CC Envs can utilize MVC-bound CCR5, and that high levels of CCR5 magnify this property, revealing differences in how T/F and CC Envs engage this coreceptor.

Ability to use MVC-bound CCR5 is not related to overall level of infectivity or other viral phenotypes. The ability of some HIV-1 strains to recognize MVC-bound CCR5 has been linked to differences in how the Env protein engages its chemokine coreceptor (214, 215, 291). As a result, it is possible that the striking difference in the frequencies with which T/F and chronic viruses mediate infection in the presence of MVC, albeit inefficiently at physiologic levels of CCR5 expression, is a surrogate measure for some other phenotypic property. In two previous studies, we tested these clade B and C pseudoviruses in a variety of phenotypic assays, comparing T/F to CC Envs



(200, 295). With the exception of some clade-specific neutralization sensitivity, no significant genotypic or phenotypic differences were identified. In light of our current findings, we re-analyzed these data, comparing Envs that were partially resistant to MVC on high CCR5 Affinofile cells to 18 previously determined Env properties (Table 1). None of the phenotypic characteristics previously measured for these panels correlated strongly with incomplete inhibition by MVC, including CD4 use efficiency, neutralization by monoclonal antibodies (b12, VRC01, PG9, PG16) or by pooled sera from patients infected with either clade B or C HIV-1 strains (clade B/C HIV Ig), or primary CD4+ T cell subset tropism. Except for V5 length, we found no strong genetic correlates of incomplete MVC inhibition, including V1-V4 individual and total variable loop lengths and potential N-linked glycosylation sites. We also asked whether the ability to utilize CCR5 in the presence of MVC was simply a property of highly functional Env proteins or highly infectious Env pseudoviruses. To address this, we plotted pseudoviral infectivity (RLU) in the absence of MVC against residual infection at saturating concentrations of MVC. There was no correlation between overall infectivity and the partial resistance phenotype (Spearman correlation coefficient = 0.02 P = 0.84) (Fig. 6). Therefore, residual infection was not a surrogate measure for increased infectivity.



DISCUSSION

In addition to using CCR5 and being T-cell tropic, several other phenotypic and genotypic traits have been associated with T/F Env proteins relative to those from chronic viruses (56, 73, 131, 200, 234, 235, 238, 239, 295). Among these, the differential utilization of CCR5 first observed by Swanstrom and colleagues, confirmed and extended here, is arguably the most robust. Both clade B and C T/F Envs are far more likely to be inhibited in entry by MVC on cells expressing high levels of CCR5 than are CC Envs. The ability of many CC Envs to mediate infection in the presence of MVC under conditions where CCR5 expression levels are high indicates that these Envs can utilize one or more conformations of CCR5 better than most T/F Envs. This suggests that there is selective pressure against the more promiscuous CCR5 utilization phenotype exhibited by many CC Envs at the level of HIV transmission and selection for this trait during chronic infection. Questions that remain to be addressed are the mechanism that underlie this phenotype, whether genetic signatures associated with differential use of CCR5 can be identified, and whether this phenotype observed on a cell line expressing levels of CCR5 that greatly exceed those seen on primary cells is a correlate for another property that would be more meaningful at the level of mucosal transmission of HIV-1.

MVC is a CCR5 antagonist that potently inhibits infection by virtually all R5 strains of HIV-1 *in vitro* (80), blocks vaginal transmission of SHIV-162P3 in a rhesus macaque model (281), and significantly diminishes virus loads in HIV-1 infected individuals (86). Clearly, MVC is an effective inhibitor of HIV infection



under most experimental and clinical conditions. Thus, the finding by Swanstrom and colleagues that approximately one-half of CC Envs are inhibited less than 95% by MVC on 293T cells expressing high levels of CD4 and CCR5 was surprising. Here, we confirmed this finding using a large panel of Clade C Envs, and found that Clade B Envs also exhibited this property to a similar magnitude.

What is the mechanism that underlies the differential effects of MVC on T/F versus chronic HIV-1 Envs? CCR5 antagonists are allosteric inhibitors upon binding to CCR5, they induce a conformation that is not recognized by most HIV-1 strains (26, 82, 130, 133, 250, 276, 288). Thus, the ability of many chronic HIV-1 Envs to mediate some degree of infection in the presence of saturating concentrations of MVC could mean that under these conditions a fraction of CCR5 molecules assume a conformation that is unable to bind MVC but that can be utilized by many chronic Env proteins. If so, then CCR5 may exhibit enhanced conformational heterogeneity when expression levels are high relative to when expression levels are lower, with one or more of these conformations not binding MVC or doing so only poorly. CCR5 and seven-transmembrane domain receptors in general can assume different conformations as a result of binding ligands or G proteins (18, 50, 84, 186, 187), and CCR5 has been shown to exhibit antigenic heterogeneity (11, 21, 22, 153). It is also possible that at high levels of CCR5 expression posttranslational modifications such as sulfation of the N-terminal domain or coupling to G proteins could become saturated, resulting in conformational heterogeneity. Thus, our results could be explained by a model in which one such conformation fails to bind MVC or does so only poorly, with this



conformation being recognized by a large subset of CC Envs but by only a small fraction of T/F Env proteins. When coupled with the fact that HIV-1 Env interactions with CCR5 are variable as judged by the differential effects that some mutations in CCR5 have on infection by diverse HIV-1 strains (146, 272), it is certainly plausible that CCR5 conformation could be influenced by expression levels in a manner that preferentially allows infection by chronic but not T/F viruses in the presence of MVC.

A second possible mechanism to account for the ability of some Envs to mediate infection in the presence of MVC when CCR5 levels are high is that these Envs can utilize the drug-bound conformation of CCR5 very inefficiently, such that under physiological levels of CCR5 expression infection appears fully suppressed by MVC and by other CCR5 antagonists. Our data as well as work by Gorry and colleagues (225) clearly favors this interpretation. Typically, virus inhibition curves are plotted on a linear scale. However, if inhibition is plotted on a log-scale and a highly reproducible and quantitative assay is used, different antiretroviral agents can be revealed to exhibit considerable variability in their abilities to maximally inhibit HIV-1 (243, 252). When we examined the ability of MVC to inhibit HIV-1 infection on NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells in this way, it became apparent that while some viruses were inhibited by 99.9%, others were inhibited by 99.0% or somewhat less. We found that these small, residual levels of infection were highly predictive of the ability of a virus to mediate appreciable levels of infection when both CCR5 and MVC levels are high. When a subset of viruses were tested on primary human CD4+ T cells in this way, the same results



were obtained: viruses that mediated obvious levels of infection on CCR5-high cells in the presence of MVC were inhibited less efficiently than viruses that remained highly sensitive to MVC regardless of CCR5 expression levels. Roche et al. have also found that some Envs that appear fully sensitive to MVC on cells expressing low to moderate levels of CCR5 exhibit some degree of resistance when CCR5 levels are high (225). Thus, we conclude that using a cell line that expresses high levels of CCR5 simply amplifies a phenotype that is already present on cells expressing lower levels of CCR5 that can be easily over-looked (200, 295).

Given that some R5 HIV-1 strains can mediate readily detectable levels of infection in the presence of high levels of both CCR5 and MVC, can this information be used to predict clinical outcomes when MVC is used as part of an antiviral regimen? The most common mechanism that underlies clinical failure associated with MVC treatment is expansion of pre-existing viral variants that utilize CXCR4 to mediate infection (102, 104, 147, 149, 178, 276). Less commonly, mutations in the Env protein enable it to use MVC-bound CCR5, sometimes with impressive efficiency (272, 291). The question is whether these clinical failures are associated with preexisting viruses that are not completely inhibited by MVC, with this property being clearly evident only when using cells that express high CCR5 levels. In fact, Roche et al. found that a viral Env predisposed to acquire high-level resistance to CCR5 antagonists exhibited a low level ability to use MVC-bound CCR5 on cell lines expressing high levels of this correceptor (225). Whether this will be a general property of viral Envs from



patients who fail MVC via this pathway is not known, but could be examined by testing the ability of Envs from such individuals to infect Affinofile CCR5-high cells in the presence of MVC.

The most important question resulting from this work is why the ability to use MVC-bound CCR5 is associated so clearly with chronic but not T/F Envs. What results in the selection of this phenotype during the course of natural HIV-1 infection in the absence of MVC therapy, and what selects against this phenotype at the level of mucosal transmission? Clearly, the reason cannot have anything to do with MVC per se as none of the patients from whom we derived Envs had been treated with MVC. Thus, the striking difference between chronic and T/F Envs seen by Swanstrom and colleagues and in our study is likely a surrogate for some other viral property. In our previous studies, we compared the phenotypic properties of panels of T/F and geographically-matched CC Envs (200, 295). We reanalyzed these data, comparing Envs that were almost totally inhibited by MVC on CCR5-high cells to those that were not regardless of whether they were chronic or T/F Envs (Table 1). These analyses failed to identify any cross-clade phenotypic differences between these two groups, including the ability to infect different CD4+ T cell subsets, use alternative coreceptors, neutralization sensitivity, dependence upon CD4 levels, and the ability to be captured by DCs and transmitted to T cells. In addition, there were no obvious genetic signatures between the two groups save for a correlation with V5 loop length, with longer V5 loops being correlated with reduced MPI on high CCR5 Affinofile cells. While Swanstrom and colleagues found that slightly higher



glycosylation was associated with the MVC-resistant phenotype (127), this correlation was not evident in our panel of combined clade B and C Envs. Given the plasticity with which Envs can interact with their coreceptors and the multiple Env determinants that can influence CCR5 interactions (137, 142, 143, 146, 170, 260, 263, 265, 272), this is perhaps not surprising: much larger numbers of Env clones and sequences may be needed to identify genetic characteristics that are consistently linked with the ability to utilize MVC-bound CCR5. The more promiscuous utilization of CCR5 conformations by CC Envs may reflect selection pressures in chronic infection where neutralizing antibodies are abundant and certain populations of CD4+CCR5+ cells have been diminished or otherwise altered by viral cytopathicity. Earlier studies have shown that R5 viruses can become increasingly resistant to entry inhibitors over time, consistent with alterations in CCR5 use (100, 129, 221). More promiscuous utilization of CCR5 could expand viral tropism under these conditions, in contrast to de novo infection of naïve hosts where virus infection of a more homogeneous population of CD4+CCR5+ cells could be favored. Further characterization of the CD4+CCR5+ cells that are targeted during acute infection may reveal differences in the abilities of T/F and chronic Env proteins to mediate virus entry as well as identify new approaches to prevention.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Ron Swanstrom for sharing unpublished work and Patricia Crystal for artwork. Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health (R01 Al45378 and R01 Al04088), the Center for HIV/AIDS Vaccine Immunology (U19 Al067854), the Center for HIV/AIDS Vaccine Immunology and Immunogen Discovery (UM1-Al100645-01), and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (37874). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Z.F.P. is the recipient of a National Science Foundation Predoctoral Fellowship (fellow ID: 2012140562) and S.S.I. was supported by NIH T32 Al 07632.



FIGURES



Figure 1. Partial resistance to saturating amounts of maraviroc on Affinofile cells expressing high CCR5. (A) Quantitative assessment of cell surface expression of CCR5 was determined by staining cells with PE-labeled CCR5



mAb 2D7 followed by quantitative flow cytometry, making it possible to calculate the number of 2D7 binding sites per cell. (B) MVC saturation was confirmed by measuring residual infection between the two highest concentrations used. No differences in virus inhibition were observed between 2µM and 6µM MVC (P =0.70). (C) MVC sensitive pseudoviruses dispayed a MPI >95% on both low (grey) and high (black) CCR5 293-Affinofile cells. Two phenotypes were observed. 57 pseudoviruses and the JRFL control virus displayed a MPI >95% regardless of CCR5 expression levels (1st and 3rd panels). However, 30 pseudoviruses were efficiently inhibited by MVC on cells expressing low CCR5, but exhibited MPI values of ≤95% on high CCR5 Affinofile (middle panel). All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations.





Figure 2. Partial resistance is enriched in chronic HIV-1 Envs compared to T/F Envs, irrespective of clade and CCR5 antagonist. (A) 87 pseudoviruses were tested on high CCR5 Affinofile cells. There was a higher frequency of partial reisistance to MVC in CC Envs compared to T/F Envs (P < 0.0001). (B)



Data was segregated by clade (52 clade B and 35 clade C) and independently confirmed an enrichment of the partially resistant phenotype in CC Envs (Clade B P = 0.02; clade C P = 0.02). (C) Representative resistant (704010330.G5h) and sensitive (700010040.C9.4520) pseudoviruses were tested for sensitivity to other CCR5 antagonists on high CCR5 Affinofile cells. Cells were pretreated with varying concentrations of MVC, aplaviroc, CMPD-167, TAK779, and VVC prior to infection. MPI values of MVC-resistant (grey) and sensitive (black) pseudovirus are shown. Data were analyzed by Fisher's exact test. All infections were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations.





Figure 3. Residual infection on cells expressing different levels of CCR5. All pseudoviruses were tested on low CCR5 Affinofile cells, NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells, and high CCR5 Affinofile cells and the residual infection in the presence of saturating MVC was plotted for all cell types evaluated. There was a significant difference between T/F (black) and chronic (grey) residual infection in both NP2/CD4/CCR5 and high CCR5 Affinofile cells (NP2/CD4/CCR5 P = 0.01, high CCR5 Affinofiles P = 0.0003), but not on low CCR5 Affinofile cells (P = 0.94). Data were analyzed by Mann-Whitney test. All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least two independent experiments.





Figure 4. Residual infection on cells expressing low levels of CCR5 is predictive of MVC resistance on cells expressing high CCR5. (A) The residual infection on low CCR5 Affinofile cells was plotted against that on high CCR5 Affinofiles in the presence of saturating MVC. Residual infection on low CCR5 Affinofiles was predictive of partial MVC resistance on high CCR5 Affinofile cells (Spearman correlation coefficient = 0.22; P = 0.04). (B) The residual infection on high CCR5 Affinofile cells was also plotted against that on NP2/CD4/CCR5 in the presence of saturating MVC. Similarly, residual infection on NP2/CD4/CCR5 was predictive of residual infection on high CCR5 Affinofile cells (Spearman correlation coefficient = 0.65; P < 0.0001).





Figure 5. CC Envs exhibit greater residual infection compared to T/F Envs on primary human CD4 + T cells. Levels of residual infection for three T/F (black) and three chronic (grey) Envs on CD4 + T cells were assessed in the presence of saturating MVC. Higher levels of residual infection were mediated by CC Envs in the presence of MVC compared to T/F Envs (chronic median = 1.1% versus T/F median = 0.51%; P = 0.10). Residual infection for the three T/F and CC Envs were compared between CD4 + T cells, High CCR5 Affinofile cells, and NP2/CD4/CCR5 cells. In all three cell types, CC Envs displayed higher residual infection compared to T/F Envs. All primary cell infections were done with at least two donors in triplicate in at least two independent experiments.





Figure 6. Infectivity is not associated with partial resistance phenotype. Pseudoviral infectivity in the absence of MVC was plotted against residual infection in the presence of saturating MVC to determine whether partial reistance correlated with infectivity. There was no correlation (Spearman correlation coefficient = 0.02; *P* = 0.84).



!										
Env Type	Clade	Env clone designation	Coreceptor tropism	Geographic location	Risk factor ^a	Gender	Viral load (copies/ml)	Fiebig stage/ min time since infection	Reference	Accession number
T/F	В	REJO.D12.1972	R5	Alabama	HSX	М	722,349	V	2	EU576707
	в	THRO.F4.2026	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	5,413,140	V	2	EU577077
	В	1018-10.A5.1732	R5	South Carolina	SPD	М	270,000	III	2	EU575091
	В	WITO.B10.2062	R5	Alabama	HSX	М	325,064	II	2	EU577388
	В	RHPA.A19.2000	R5	Alabama	HSX	F	1,458,354	V	2	EU576734
	В	SUMAd5.82.1713	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	939,260	II	2	EU577061
	В	700010040.C9.4520	R5	North Carolina	MSM	М	298,026	V	2	EU576418
	В	700010058.A4.4375	R5	North Carolina	unknown	М	394,649	III	2	EU576440
	В	1053-07.B15.1648	R5	South Carolina	SPD	М	1,400,000	III	2	EU575201
	В	9010-09.A1.4924	R5	South Carolina	SPD	F	146,954	II	2	EU575771
	В	9015-07.A1.4729	R5	South Carolina	SPD	М	500,000	II	2	EU575795
	В	TT35P.11H8.2874	R5	Trinidad	HSX	М	1,849,301	II	2	EU577329
	В	9021-14.B2-4571	R5	California	SPD	М	143,379	II	2	EU575924
	В	1006-11.C3.1601	R5	North Carolina	SPD	М	1,600,000	III	2	EU575025
	В	1056-10.TA11.1826	R5	South Carolina	SPD	М	140,000	II	2	EU575305
	В	SC05.8C11.2344	R5	Trinidad	HSX	М	9,980,952	II	2	EU576774
	В	SC20.8A8.2437	R5	Trinidad	HSX	М	2,789,313	IV	2	EU576838
	В	9032-08.A1.4685	R5	Alabama	SPD	М	40,815	III	2	EU576114
	В	PRB956-04.B22.4267	R5	Virginia	SPD	n/a	600,000	II	2	EU576603
	В	PRB959-02.A7.4345	R5	South Carolina	SPD	n/a	>2,000,000	II	2	EU576693
	В	034v1 (IDU)	R5	Montreal	IDU	М	75,000,000	III	9	GU562170
	В	034v2 (IDU)	R5	Montreal	IDU	М	75,000,000	III	9	GU562198
	в	AD17.1 env	R5	New York	MSM	М	47,600,000	II	10	n/a
	С	706010018. 2E3	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	93,700	VI	11	FJ444047
	С	20258279-V2_3A5	R5	S. Africa	SPD	F	281,838	IV	31	HQ595763
	С	2833264_3G11	R5	S. Africa	SPD	М	234,423	I/II	31	HQ595757
	С	21197826-V1_3A1	R5	S. Africa	SPD	F	343,923	I/II	31	HQ595753
	С	21283649_3E8	R5	S. Africa	SPD	М	3,180	I/II	31	HQ595756
	С	20927783_3E2	R5	S. Africa	SPD	F	1,886	I/II	31	HQ595750
	С	1245045_3C7	R5	S. Africa	SPD	Γc ^M	234,068	I/II	31	HQ595742
	С	20258279-V4_3D10	R5	S. Africa	SPD	30 _F	281,838	IV	31	HQ595764

TABLE 1 Genotypic and phenotypic correlates of partial resistance.



Env Type	Clade	Env clone designation	Coreceptor tropism	Geographic location	Risk factor ^a	Gender	Viral load (copies/ml)	Fiebig stage/ min time since infection	Reference	Accession number
T/F	С	ZM247Fv1.Rev-	R5	Zambia	HSX	F	10,823,500	II	12, 13, 18	n/a
	С	ZM249M-B10	R5	Zambia	HSX	М	2,000,000	IV	12, 13, 18	EU166862
	С	704809221.1B3	R5	S. Africa	HSX	М	750,000	I/II	11	FJ444116
	С	703010054.2A2	R5	Malawi	HSX	М	13,936	V	11	FJ443808
	С	703010217.B6	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	102,602	V/VI	11	FJ443589
	С	ZM247Fv2.fs	R5	Zambia	HSX	F	10,823,500	II	12, 13, 18	n/a
	С	704010042. 2E5	R5	S. Africa	HSX	М	181,000	IV	11	FJ443745
	С	705010185.tf	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	14,800	I/II	in prep ^b	n/a
Chronic	В	HEMA.A4.2125	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	49,755	1yr 10mo	2	EU578133
	В	SHKE.A7.2118	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	544,000	1yr 2mo	2	EU578458
	В	HEMA.A23.2143	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	49,755	1yr 10mo	2	EU578132
	В	SHKE.A26.4112	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	544,000	1yr 2mo	2	EU578453
	В	WICU.B4.2973	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	8,424	5yr 11mo	2	EU578642
	В	OLLA.A14.1923	R5	Alabama	HSX	F	382,000	2yr 1mo	2	EU578231
	В	SAMI.A8.1863	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	116,000	3yr 11mo	2	EU578272
	В	SHKE.A4.2116	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	544,000	1yr 2mo	2	EU578456
	В	SMRE.A13.4127	R5	Alabama	HSX	F	135,858	1yr 4mo	2	EU578471
	В	TALA.A2.1780	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	228,200	6yr 11mo	2	EU578494
	В	WICU.C1.2992	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	8,424	5yr 11mo	2	EU578657
	В	YOMI.F2.4137	R5	Alabama	MSM	М	14,178	6yr 1mo	2	EU578683
	В	SC05.A10.2362	R5	Trinidad	HSX	М	19,514	5yr 5mo	2	EU578358
	В	SC05.8H2.3243	R5	Trinidad	HSX	М	19,514	5yr 5mo	2	EU576786
	В	SC05.8A11.2363	R5	Trinidad	HSX	М	19,514	5yr 5mo	2	EU578359
	В	1632-ta9	R5	Washington	MSM	М	97,800	2yr 5mo	26	HQ216892
	В	1632-a17	R5	Washington	MSM	М	97,800	2yr 5mo	26	HQ216864
	В	1632-a6	R5	Washington	MSM	М	97,800	2yr 5mo	26	HQ216883
	В	1632-ta1	R5	Washington	MSM	М	97,800	2yr 5mo	26	HQ216887
	В	1632-a7	R5	Washington	MSM	М	97,800	2yr 5mo	26	HQ216884
	В	1632-a23	R5	Washington	MSM	М	97,800	2yr 5mo	26	HQ216869
	В	1588-ta7	R5	Washington	MSM/ IDU	М	99,600	7yr 2mo	26	HQ216783
	В	1470-d27	R5	Washington	MSM/ IDU	М	492,200	4yr 3mo	26	HQ216683
	В	1451-d17	R5	Washington	MSM	М	532,000	20yr 3mo	26	HQ216655
	В	1451-c16	R5	Washington	MSM	М	532,000	20yr 3mo	26	HQ216638
	В	1451-d1	R5	Washington	^{MSM} 5	7 ^м	532,000	20yr 3mo	26	HQ216651



Env Type	Clade	Env clone designation	Coreceptor tropism	Geographic location	Risk factor ^a	Gender	Viral load (copies/ml)	Fiebig stage/ min time since infection	Reference	Accession number
Chronic	В	1599-b11	R5	Washington	IDU	M,F	112,000	6yr 7mo	26	HQ216802
	В	1444-a21	R5	Washington	MSM	М	86,300	7yr	26	HQ216583
	С	704010330.G5h	R5	S. Africa	HSX	М	46,100	n/a	31	JQ777128
	С	704010207.D11	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	15,400	n/a	31	JQ777073
	С	702010141.E80	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	151,282	n/a	31	JQ779320
	С	702010432.E16	R5	Malawi	HSX	М	40,570	n/a	31	JQ779232
	С	703010167.E15	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	73,505	n/a	31	JQ779889
	С	ZM414.1	R5	Zambia	HSX	F	213,600	n/a	68	GU329415
	С	707010457	R5	Tanzania	HSX	F	234,671	n/a	31	KC156220 °
	С	ZM414.20	R5	Zambia	HSX	F	213,600	n/a	68	GU329426
	С	705010534.E35	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	63,300	n/a	31	JQ779192
	С	704010499.H1	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	15,200	n/a	31	JQ777164
	С	704010461.A7h	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	22,900	n/a	31	JQ777137
	С	704010028.F6	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	9,220	n/a	31	JQ777039
	С	703010269.E30	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	30,434	n/a	31	JQ777184
	С	704010273. E5	R5	S. Africa	HSX	F	25,700	n/a	31	JQ777098
	С	3902.bmLG14	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	19,900	n/a	Kirchher JL et al. ^c Kirchher IL et	HM070661
	С	4403.A18	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	100,892	n/a	al.°	HM070677
	С	4403.D1	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	100,892	n/a	Kirchher JL et al. ^c Kirchher JL et	HM070689
	С	4403.bmR.B6	R5	Malawi	HSX	F	100,892	n/a	al. ^c	HM070754

^a HSX= heterosexual exposure; MSM=men who have sex with men; IDU=intravenous-drug user.

^b Kappes JC et al. manuscript in preparation.

^c IMC Accession number.

^d Kirchherr JL et al.2011. Identification of amino acid substitutions associated with neutralization phenotype in the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 subtype C gp120. Virology **409**:163–174.

!



CHAPTER 3

Chemokines and HIV-1: Viral inhibition and enhancement

CHEMOKINES: THE BASICS

Chemokines are a group of low-molecular weight (7 to 12 kDa) secreted proteins that primarily function in leukocyte development, maturation, and homing (192). They are also central players in many physiopathological processes such as allergies, angiogenesis, inflammation, infectious and autoimmune diseases, tumor growth and hematopoiesis. Chemokines induce chemotaxis in a variety of cells (monocytes, neutrophils, lymphocytes, eosinophils, fibroblasts, and keratinocytes) by interacting with chemokine receptors, which are members of the seven-transmembrane GPCR superfamily and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) to promote migration and impart directionality to cell movement (237). GPCRs couple chemokine binding outside the cell to activation of intracellular signaling cascades that lead to cell motility. GAGs are complex carbohydrates attached to protein cores on the cell surface (proteoglycans) or free flowing in the extracellular space. In addition to numerous functions, GAGs immobilize chemokines to provide a chemotactic gradient to direct migrating cells to sites of injury or inflammation (213). To date, more than 50 chemokines and 20 chemokines receptors have been described (Fig 1) (34, 165, 191, 302). Multiple chemokines can bind and signal through the same receptor, providing redundancy in chemokine/receptor function.


As a group, chemokines exhibit between 20-70% amino acid homology (115, 191) and are characterized by the presence of three to four conserved cysteine residues. They can be divided into four subfamilies (CXC, CC, C, or CX3C), based on the positioning of the amino terminal cysteine residues (17). Structurally, CC-chemokines are defined by the tandem arrangement of cysteine residues in the amino terminus, while CXC-subfamily cysteines are separated by a single amino acid. The majority of described chemokines belong to these two subfamilies. The third subfamily (C) members contain a single cysteine residue in the conserved position. The fourth subfamily (CX3C) has two cysteines separated by three variable amino acids in the amino terminus. This subtle structural difference informs the quaternary structure of the chemokine and has implications not only for receptor recognition, but also oligomer formation (123, 237). It is well known that chemokines oligomerize in a variety of homo- and hetero-oligomeric forms at high concentrations both in solution and in physiological settings to carry out their effector functions (16, 184, 185, 284). However, studies have reported differences in the quaternary structures of CCand CXC-chemokines and suggested that these differences may be important for how chemokine subfamilies are recognized by, and signal through, their cognate receptors and GAGs (123, 195, 216, 220, 286). Therefore the dynamic equilibrium of chemokine oligomeric states is critical for function, allowing specific interactions with both GPCRs and GAGs.



CHEMOKINES AND HIV-1 PATHOGENESIS

Important discoveries in the last two decades have defined a close relationship among chemokines, their receptors, and HIV-1 infection (6, 55, 59, 60, 71, 79, 81, 88). For several years, it was known that CD8⁺ T cells secrete soluble factors that suppress HIV-1 replication in CD4⁺ T cells (38, 283). Supporting evidence for the presence of a noncytolytic suppressive product of CD8⁺ T cells came from clinical reports that correlated disease progression with the absence or presence of CD8⁺ T cell activity (99, 167). Furthermore, it was shown that a high level of CD8+ T cell suppressor activity was associated with long-term survivors of HIV-1 infection (45). Lastly, the noncytolytic activity of CD8⁺ T cells controlled disease pathology in nonhuman primates (49, 83, 211). The identity of these soluble factors remained elusive until Cocchi et al demonstrated that the β -chemokines MIP-1 α (macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α), MIP-1 β (macrophage inflammatory protein 1 β) and RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T expressed and secreted) were responsible for a significant fraction of the noncytolytic CD8⁺ T cell suppressive effect (59). These chemokines, in addition to others belonging to the α -chemokine family (ie: stromal cell-derived factor 1-SDF-1), suppress viral replication of R5- and X4tropic HIV-1 strains in vitro most commonly by competing with Env for binding to the cognate chemokine receptor (29, 193). Receptor downregulation in response to chemokine binding can also suppress viral replication by decreasing the density of surface coreceptors (8, 166, 254). In vivo studies to corroborate these



in vitro findings are limited by the inherent difficulties in measuring circulating chemokine concentrations. However, further research by Cocchi et al. demonstrated an inverse relationship between levels of β -chemokines *in vivo* and the outcome of HIV-1 infection, where higher concentrations of MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and RANTES from CD8⁺ T cells correlated with asymptomatic HIV-1 infection (61). Additionally, nonhuman primate studies have shown that immunization with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) grown in human CD4⁺ T cells induces unusually high production of RANTES, MIP-1 α , and MIP-1 β , which protects macaques from subsequent SIV challenge (287).

Paradoxically, chemokines have also been described to enhance HIV-1 infection, at least *in vitro*. RANTES can modulate virus infection in a variety of ways that are dependent upon its concentration. At low concentrations, RANTES inhibits HIV-1 infection by blocking its interaction with the viral coreceptor CCR5 (59, 274). At high and likely supra-physiological concentrations, RANTES forms oligomers that bind to the viral Env protein as well as cell surface GAGs, enhancing virus attachment and infection (132, 135, 274). RANTES can also modulate HIV-1 infection by transducing signals via CCR5 that over time render cells more permissive for viral replication (97, 274). In addition to RANTES, previous work has demonstrated that the α -chemokine SDF-1 enhances R5-tropic, but not X4-tropic, HIV-1 and vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) infection *in vitro* (169). Specifically, SDF-1 was reported to enhance infection via signaling-mediated increase of Tat transactivation of the HIV-1 long terminal repeat.



Additional studies have highlighted novel ways in which chemokines enhance HIV-1 infection both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In 2007, Saleh et al. identified a novel mechanism of HIV-1 latent infection of resting CD4⁺ T cells, in which the CCR7 ligands, CCL19 and CCL21, were found to significantly increase the permissiveness of resting CD4⁺ T cells to HIV-1 infection (241). Interestingly, this enhancement was attributed to chemokine-mediated increases in viral DNA nuclear import and integration, but not to productive HIV-1 replication. The same group further showed that the mechanism of the CCL19-CCR7 interaction is similar to that of the HIV-1 gp120-CXCR4 interaction in triggering cofilin activation and actin dynamics, which drastically enhance viral nuclear import and integration (44, 302). These results are consistent with *in vivo* data showing that enhanced levels of CCL19 and CCL21 in HIV-1-infected patients correlate with viral load, disease progression and response to HAART (70).

Canonically, chemokine suppression of HIV-1 infection involves competitive inhibition of viral entry by binding to the cognate chemokine coreceptors. These more recent results suggest that HIV-1 infection could also be affected by chemokines interacting with multiple receptors such as CCR7 (and others not discussed in this section) that may synergize with or antagonize HIV-1-mediated coreceptor signaling pathways. This widens therapeutic opportunities and our understanding of viral pathogenesis, as multiple surface receptors and intracellular signaling molecules might now serve as attractive targets for therapy.



PLATELET FACTOR 4 (PF4) AND HIV-1 INFECTION

Although MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and RANTES were initially shown to contribute to the HIV-1 suppressive effect of CD8 ⁺ T cells, other cells types have been implicated in the production of anti-HIV-1 chemokines. Several studies have shown that monocytes, macrophages, and natural killer cells are important sources of CC- and CXC-chemokines that antagonize HIV-1 entry and replication *in vitro* (38, 42, 59, 259, 283). More recently, activated platelets have been shown to possess anti-HIV-1 properties (259). Platelets are specialized blood cells that primarily function to promote coagulation at sites of vascular injury by adhering to subendothelial matrix proteins. During vascular injury, activated platelets release a number of mediators from their α -granules, including connective tissue-activating peptide III (CTAP-III/CXCL7), RANTES, and platelet factor 4 (PF4/CXCL4) (36, 118).

PF4 is a cationic α -chemokine that functions primarily to promote coagulation by moderating the effects of heparin-like molecules (20, 257), and can be found in nanomolar and micromolar concentrations within plasma and serum, respectively (37, 54, 89, 128). PF4 has been shown to be chemotactic for immune cells by acting through interactions with a splice variant of the GPCR CXCR3B and an integral chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan expressed on the surface of cells (140, 150, 181). Additionally, there is evidence that PF4 is involved in the differentiation of monocytes to macrophages. Recently, PF4 has been described to possess potent and broadly-active antiviral activity against HIV-1 *in vitro* (15, 259).



The antiviral role of PF4 during HIV-1 infection is not unanticipated, as several previous studies have linked platelet malfunction and HIV-1 infectionwith thrombocytopenia (platelet count below 150,000cells/mm³) and thrombosis (clotting) being frequent complications during infection (66, 201, 251). These hemostatic disorders affect roughly 10-50% of HIV-1-infected individuals (67, 236). Individuals with platelet dysfunctions that increase the risk of thrombosis are likely to receive heparin treatment (87). PF4 binds with high affinity (4-30nM) to heparin and heparin-like molecules (163, 264), leading to the development of ultra large complexes (ULCs), which are highly immunogenic (217). Antibodies against these ULCs bind to PF4 on platelets and monocytes, activating these cells, resulting in both thrombocytopenia and thrombosis in a condition known as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia and thrombosis (HITT) (9). Unsurprisingly, when the incidence of HITT in HIV-1-infected patients treated with unfractionated heparin (UFH) therapy was compared with that in an UFH-treated uninfected control group, HIV-1 infection correlated with increased incidence of HITT (270).



PROJECT GOAL II: ELUCIDATING THE MECHANISM AND PHYSIOLOGICAL RELEVANCE OF PF4 ACTIVITY DURING HIV-1 INFECTION

PF4 has been shown to directly inhibit HIV-1 infection *in vitro* at concentrations less than 0.5μ M (15, 259). However, despite plasma and local tissue concentrations of PF4 ranging from 0.25nM to 10μ M (37, 54, 89, 128), HIV-1 is able to successfully replicate and escape the inhibitory effects of PF4 *in vivo*. The mechanism of this discordance remains unclear. In this study, we sought to understand the mechanism of action of PF4 and whether it's *in vitro* activity was biologically meaningful in the context of human infection; in an effort to clarify whether PF4 is a suitable therapeutic candidate for HIV-1 infection.









CHAPTER 4

Platelet-Factor 4 (PF4) inhibits and enhances HIV-1 infection in a concentration-dependent manner by modulating viral attachment Zahra F. Parker¹, Ann H. Rux², Amber M. Riblett¹, Fang-Hua Lee¹, Lubica Rauova ^{3, 4}Douglas B. Cines², Mortimer Poncz^{3, 4}, Bruce S. Sachais^{2, 5}, Robert W. Doms^{1, 6}#

¹Department of Microbiology, ²Department of Pathology, and ³Department of Pediatrics Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA 19104; ⁴ Department of Hematology, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA 19104; ⁵ New York Blood Center, New York, NY 10065; ⁶ Departments of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA 19104 #To whom correspondence should be addressed: <u>domsr@email.chop.edu</u>

Submitted to Journal of Virology May 2015



ABSTRACT

Platelet-factor 4 (PF4) has been recently shown to inhibit infection by a broad range of HIV-1 isolates in vitro. We found that the inhibitory effects of PF4 are limited to a defined concentration range where PF4 exists largely in a monomeric state. Under these conditions, PF4 bound the HIV-1 envelope protein and inhibited HIV-1 attachment to the cell surface. However, as concentrations increased to the point where PF4 exists largely in tetrameric or higher-order forms, viral infection *in vitro* was enhanced. Enhancement could be inhibited by mutations in PF4 that shift the oligomeric equilibrium towards the monomeric state, or by using soluble glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) to which tetrameric PF4 avidly binds. We conclude that at physiologically relevant concentrations, oligomeric PF4 enhances infection by HIV-1 by interacting with the viral envelope protein as well as cell surface GAGs, enhancing virus attachment to the cell surface. This effect was not specific to HIV-1, as enhancement was seen with some but not all other viruses tested. The biphasic effects of PF4 on HIV-1 infection suggest that native PF4 will not be a useful antiviral agent, and that PF4 could contribute to the hematologic abnormalities commonly seen in HIV-infected individuals by enhancing virus infection in the bone marrow.



INTRODUCTION

Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) entry into target cells results from sequential interactions between the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein (Env) with the cellular receptor CD4 and a coreceptor, either CCR5 or CXCR4 (6, 55, 71, 79, 81, 88). The efficiency of this process can be regulated *in vivo* by cytokines and chemokines that bind to the viral coreceptors or that influence coreceptor expression levels (38, 42, 59, 74). A variety of cell types secrete cytokines or chemokines that can modulate HIV infection, including activated platelets that have been shown to possess anti HIV-1 properties *in vitro* (38, 42, 59, 259, 283).

During vascular injury, activated platelets release a number of mediators from their α -granules, including connective tissue-activating peptide III (CTAP-III/CXCL7), RANTES (CCL5), and Platelet-factor 4 (PF4/CXCL4) (36, 118). PF4 is a cationic α -chemokine that functions primarily to promote coagulation by moderating the effects of heparin-like molecules (20, 257). PF4 is present in nanomolar and micromolar concentrations within plasma (0.5 to 3 nM) and serum (0.4 to 1.9 μ M), respectively (37, 54, 89, 128). PF4 has been shown to be chemotactic for immune cells by acting through interactions with a splice variant of the G-protein coupled receptor CXCR3B and cell surface proteoglycans (140, 150, 181). Recently, PF4 has been described to possess potent and broadlyactive antiviral activity against HIV-1 *in vitro* at concentrations less than 0.5 μ M



(15, 259), though the mechanism and *in vivo* relevance of these results are uncertain.

In this study, we find that the previously reported inhibitory effects of PF4 are limited to a narrow concentration range where PF4 exists predominantly as a monomer (172). Under these conditions, PF4 binds directly to Env and inhibits virus infection by preventing its attachment to the cell surface. At physiologic concentrations, where PF4 exists largely as a tetramer, it enhanced infection several-fold above untreated controls. This biphasic activity of PF4 was not restricted to the HIV-1 Env, as we observed similar results with HIV-1 pseudoviruses bearing the glycoproteins of murine leukemia virus (HIV- 1_{MLV}), simian immunodeficiency viruses (HIV-1_{SIVmac316} and HIV-1_{SIVsmmE660}) and vesicular stomatitis virus (HIV- 1_{VSV-G}). However, PF4 did not antagonize nor enhance the entry of pseudoviruses bearing the glycoprotein of influenza (HIV-1_{H5N1}). We further demonstrated that PF4 carries out its dual activity during viral infection by modulating viral attachment to the cell. Lastly, we provide evidence that oligomeric PF4 directly interacts with cellular glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) as well as the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120, perhaps serving as a bridge between cell surface GAGs and the viral envelope glycoprotein, thus enhancing virus attachment and infection at high PF4 concentrations. This could play a role *in vivo*, as PF4 produced in the bone marrow could impact virus infection of stem cells and other progenitors, contributing to the hematologic abnormalities commonly associated with HIV/AIDS.



METHODS

Cell Culture. 293T17 and HeLa-derived JC53 cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) with 10% (vol/vol) fetal bovine serum (FBS)—D10F media. Multinuclear activation of galactosidase indicator cells stably expressing human CD4 and CCR5 (MAGI-CCR5) were obtained from the National Institutes of Health-AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program and maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1mg/ml puromycin. SupT1-CCR5 and Jurkat-CCR5 immortalized cell lines were maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) medium containing 10% FBS (R10F media). Primary human CD4⁺ T cells were obtained from the Human Immunology Core of the University of Pennsylvania's Center for AIDS Research.

Virus production and normalization. HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses were produced by calcium phosphate co-transfection of 6 μ g of pcDNA3.1⁺ containing the desired env clone with 10 μ g of HIV-1 core (pNL43- Δ Env-vpr⁺ -luc⁺ or pNL43- Δ Env-vpr⁺ -eGFP) into 293T17 cells. At 72 hr post-transfection, the pseudoviruscontaining supernatant was harvested and filtered through a 0.45- μ m-pore-size filter and stored at -80°C. Influenza (H5N1) pseudoviruses were produced by calcium phosphate co-transfection of 400 ng of pCMV8/R containing H5 (VRC 7705) and 100 ng of pCMV8/R containing N1 (VRC 7708) with 10 μ g of HIV-1 core (pNL43- Δ Env-vpr⁺ -luc⁺) into 293T17 cells. HEPES buffer (1:100; Invitrogen) was added to the media to maintain basic pH and minimize acid-induced HA triggering. At 48 hr post-transfection, the pseudoviruses. GFP pseudoviruses

72



www.manaraa.com

were concentrated approximately 100-fold by ultracentrifugation at 113,000 x g for 2 hr at 4°C through a 20% sucrose cushion. Pelleted pseudovirus was then resuspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and stored at -80°C.

Virus inhibition assay. MAGI-CCR5 cells were treated with varying concentrations of PF4 or media only prior to infection with the indicated luciferase reporter pseudovirus or full-length infectious molecular clone. After addition of pseudovirus, plates were spinoculated at 1,200 x g for 2 hr at 4°C and then incubated at 37°C. Viral inoculum was replaced with fresh complete media (supplemented with PF4 for replication competent infections) after 4 hr. Inhibition assays were also conducted with the SupT1-CCR5 and Jurkat-CCR5 cell lines as described above. For single-cycle infections using luciferase-encoding pseudovirus, cells were lysed with Brite-Glo (Promega) at 72 hr postinfection, and relative light units (RLUs) were measured. For spreading infections of replication competent infectious virus, HIV-1 replication was assessed by measuring p24 Gag protein in cell-free culture supernatants taken between days 3 and 9 postinfection using a commercial enzyme immunoassay (AlphaLISA; Perkin-Elmer). All inhibition assays were done in at least duplicate in each of at least three independent experiments.

Viral attachment assay. Human CD4⁺T cells (10⁶ cells per condition) were stimulated for 3-5 days with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 beads (Invitrogen) and 20 U/ml recombinant interleukin-2 (IL-2; Aldesleukin; Prometheus Laboratories) in R10F media. Cells were pretreated with 200 µl of 200 nM or 4 µM PF4^{WT} with or without 10 µg/ml soluble heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSP), 4 µM PF4^{K50E}, 15



µM maraviroc (MVC), 15 µM plerixafor (AMD3100), 40 µg/ml DEAE-dextran, or serum-free PBS at room temperature for 30 mins. Cells were subsequently exposed to 200 μ I of undiluted HIV-1_{R3A} (2.3 μ g p24/mI) and incubated at 37°C for 4 hr in the absence or presence of each drug treatment. To determine background signal level, 2 x 10⁶ untreated cells were infected and incubated at 4°C for 4 hr. After incubation, cells were washed twice in PBS to remove unbound virus. Cells were then split into two aliquots: one aliquot was treated with 50 µl of prewarmed 0.05% trypsin-EDTA at 37°C for 10 mins, followed by trypsin inactivation with 5 ml cold R10F media. The other aliquot was left trypsinuntreated in R10F media. Both trypsin-treated and -untreated cells were washed three times with cold PBS, then the cell pellets lysed with 100 μ l of 0.5% (wt/vol) Triton X-100. Cell-associated p24 was measured using the p24 AlphaLISA (Perkin-Elmer). The final p24 concentration was calculated by subtracting the concentration of the trypsin-treated cells incubated at 4°C from the p24 signal measured in each test sample.

Primary human CD4⁺ T cell infections. Primary human CD4⁺ T cells (10⁶ cells per condition) were stimulated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 magnetic beads (Invitrogen) and 20 U/ml recombinant IL-2 in R10F media. Three days post-stimulation, cells were transferred to 24-well plates and incubated for 30 min with no PF4, 200 nM PF4, or 4 μM PF4. Viral input was normalized by reverse transcriptase (RT) activity as determined by a colorimetric assay (Roche). Approximately 3 ng RT of replication competent HIV-1_{CH077} was used to infect cells in duplicate in a total volume of 250 μl. Plates were incubated at 37°C, and



media was replaced every 48 hr with fresh IL-2 containing R10F with PF4. HIV-1 replication was assessed by measuring the p24 Gag protein in cell-free culture supernatants collected 6 days postinfection. Assays were done in duplicate with each of at least three independent donors.

Generation and purification of PF4 in S2 cells. cDNA encoding human PF4 was cloned into the plasmid pMT/BiP/V5-His A (Invitrogen) for expression. PF4 expression was induced by adding copper sulfate (0.5mM) to S2 cells. The induced S2 cells were then incubated in serum-free medium Insect-Xpress (Lonza) for 3 to 5 days; supernatants were collected and the media filtered through a 0.22-µm filter. PF4^{WT} was purified from the media on a heparin HiTrap column on an ATKA Prime (GE Healthcare) at 4°C in 10 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0 buffer. Media were loaded in buffer containing 0.5 M NaCl, and PF4 was eluted at 1.8 M NaCl using a linear gradient. Fractions containing purified PF4 as detected by silver staining of 12% NuPAGE Bis-Tris gels (Invitrogen) were pooled, concentrated, and the buffer was exchanged into 50 mM HEPES, 0.5 M NaCl, pH ~7.2 using an Amicon Ultra centrifugal filter (3K NMWL; Millipore). Protein was quantified using a bicinchoninic acid assay (Pierce Chemical). PF4^{K50E} and PF4^{E28R/K50E} were purified as PF4^{WT}, with the following modifications: the column buffer system used was 50 mM MES, 1 mM EDTA, and pH 6.5. Media were loaded in buffer containing 0.3 M NaCl and the proteins were eluted at 1.3 M NaCl using a linear gradient. Commercially available PF4 isolated from human platelets (Calbiochem) and commercially available



recombinant PF4 (R&D Systems) were tested along with laboratory-generated recombinant PF4.

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Chemokines were immobilized on 96-well plates (Immulon 4HBX; Thermo Scientific) in PBS-/- (Life Technologies) overnight at room temperature. Wells were washed three times with 250 µl PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20 (PBST), followed by blocking with 200 µl of 1% BSA in PBS (BPBS) at room temperature for 1 hr. Wells were then washed three times with PBST. In binding experiments, 50 μ l of purified gp120 was added to chemokine-coated or control wells and allowed to react for 30 mins at room temperature. Wells were then washed three times. To detect bound gp120, 50 μ l of a gp120-specific polyclonal rabbit serum (1170) created in our laboratory (1:1250 dilution in BPBS) was added to wells and reacted at room temperature for 30 mins. The wells were washed three times before the addition of 50 µl HRP-conjugated secondary goat anti-rabbit antibody (1:2500 dilution in BPBS; Cell Signaling Technology). After 30 mins reaction at room temperature, the wells were washed six times. To visualize color, 100 μ l of the tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate solution (R&D Systems) was added to the wells. The OD₄₅₀ was measured using an MRX Revelation microplate reader (Dynex Technologies) immediately after the addition of 50 µl 2 N sulfuric acid stop solution (R&D Systems).

Antibody inhibition assays. PF4 was preincubated in the absence or presence of 2X excess RTO or KKO anti-hPF4 antibodies at room temperature for 25 mins. The antibody-PF4 mixture was then added to MAGI-CCR5 cells prior $\frac{76}{76}$



www.manaraa.com

to infection with the indicated luciferase reporter pseudovirus. After addition of pseudovirus, plates were spinoculated at 1,200 x g for 2 hr at 4°C and then incubated at 37°C. Infection inoculum was replaced with fresh complete media after 2 hr. Cells were then lysed with Brite-Glo (Promega) at 72 hr postinfection, and RLUs were measured.

Statistical analysis. Infection values obtained with or without PF4 treatment were compared using *t* tests. P values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. Data were analyzed with Prism 5.0 software.

Ethics statement. These studies were approved by the University of Pennsylvania's Institutional Review Board. All human cells used in this study were from normal healthy donors who provided written informed consent.



RESULTS

PF4 exhibits a biphasic effect on HIV-1 entry. Initial studies evaluating the effect of recombinant human PF4 on HIV-1 infection in vitro demonstrated that PF4 possesses broad antiviral activity against multiple HIV-1 genetic clades, irrespective of coreceptor tropism (15, 259). We utilized an independent panel of previously described (200, 295)14 clade B and 9 clade C HIV-1 Envs (Table 1) to further explore the antiviral properties of this chemokine. Of the 23 Envs tested, 18 were CCR5 (R5)-tropic, one was CXCR4 (X4)-tropic, and four were R5/X4 (dual)-tropic, and 12 of the 23 Envs were derived from transmitted/founder (T/F) viruses (96, 121, 131, 136, 200, 238, 239). Multinuclear activation of galactosidase indicator cells stably expressing human CD4 and CCR5 (MAGI-R5 cells) (53) were pretreated with increasing concentrations of recombinant PF4 for 30 minutes, and subsequently infected with HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses. PF4 inhibited infection by all HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses tested, with maximal inhibition occurring at approximately 200 nM added protein (mean % inhibition = 85 ± 6 ; p < 0.0001). T/F Envs were inhibited as efficiently as Envs derived from other viruses. However, when PF4 was added at concentrations above 200 nM, infection was inhibited less efficiently and was enhanced above (mean % infection = 174 ± 67 ; p < 0.0001) that of untreated controls at the highest concentration of PF4 tested (Figs 1A and 1B).

For our studies, we tested commercially available PF4 isolated from human platelets, commercially available recombinant PF4, as well as laboratoryproduced recombinant PF4. We found that both recombinant forms of PF4



impacted HIV-1 infection identically over a broad concentration range, while the concentration needed for native PF4 to maximally inhibit (24 nM) and then enhance (200 nM) HIV-1 infection was approximately one-log less, perhaps reflecting inefficient refolding of the recombinant proteins. Nonetheless, as all three forms of PF4 exhibited similar biphasic effects on HIV-1 infection, we proceeded with the laboratory-developed recombinant PF4 for subsequent experiments.

The MAGI assay was also performed utilizing replication competent R5-, X4-, and dual-tropic HIV-1 (CH141, HxB, and R3A, respectively). As was observed with the pseudoviruses, 200 nM PF4 maximally inhibited infection of the clade C primary isolate HIV-1_{CH141} (mean % inhibition = 93 ± 4 ; *P* = 0.0007), the clade B primary isolate HIV-1_{R3A} (mean % inhibition = $86, \pm 10$; *P* = 0.0044), and the laboratory-adapted strain HIV-1_{HxB} (mean % inhibition = 90 ± 9 ; *P* = 0.0034). In contrast, at 4 μ M, PF4 enhanced infection of all three viruses by 2-3 fold (Fig 1C). A saturating concentration of the membrane fusion inhibitor enfuvirtide (T20) was used as a negative control in these experiments, inhibiting infection of all three viruses by 94-99% of untreated control.

PF4 activity is evident on multiple cell types against a variety of viruses. To evaluate whether the activity of PF4 was specific to the MAGI-R5 cells, CD4⁺ T cell lines stably expressing CCR5 (SupT1-R5 and Jurkat-R5) and primary human CD4⁺ T cells were infected with either HIV-1 pseudoviruses or replication competent HIV-1 in the absence or presence of PF4. The biphasic activity of PF4 was observed in all cell types with all viruses tested (Fig 1D).



These results confirm the findings of previous studies (15, 259), that infection by R5- and X4-tropic HIV-1 strains is reduced in the presence of PF4. However, the inhibitory effects of PF4 were limited to a relatively narrow concentration range, above which viral infection *in vitro* was consistently enhanced.

To assess the specificity of anti-viral PF4 activity, we examined the ability of HIV-1 pseudotyped viruses bearing the envelope glycoproteins from SIV_{sm}E660, SIV_{mac}316, MLV, influenza (H5N1) or VSV to infect MAGI-R5 cells in the absence or presence of increasing concentrations of PF4. Infection by HIV-1_{SIVmac316} and HIV-1_{MLV} was robustly inhibited by PF4 at approximately 200 nM (mean % inhibition = 84 ± 1 ; p value < 0.0001 and 95 ± 2 ; P = 0.0002, respectively), but significantly enhanced (mean % infection = 265 ± 71 ; p < 0.0212 and 286 \pm 65; P = 0.0015, respectively) by 4 μ M PF4. Infection by HIV-1vsv-G and HIV-1sivsmmE660 was inhibited to a lesser degree (mean % inhibition = 78 \pm 5; *P* = 0.0013 and 70 \pm 20; *P* = 0.0256, respectively) with inhibition being lost as PF4 concentrations were increased, while HIV-1H5N1 infection was unaffected by PF4 (mean % inhibition = 4 ± 8 ; P = 0.2483) (Fig 1E). Given that these pseudoviruses share a common HIV-1 core (NL4.3) yet were inhibited to varving degrees by PF4, we conclude that both the inhibitory as well as the viral enhancement effects of PF4 occur at the level of entry and are not restricted to HIV-1.

PF4 modulates viral entry by acting on viral attachment. To explore the mechanism of action by which PF4 modulates HIV-1 infection, we first performed time of addition experiments and found that, as previously reported



(15), PF4 most strongly inhibited HIV-1 when added before or simultaneously with the virus, consistent with it impacting HIV-1 entry (data not shown). To determine if PF4 impacts the first step of virus infection – binding of virions to the cell surface – we examined the ability of low and high concentrations of the chemokine to interfere with viral attachment. For this purpose, primary human CD4⁺ T cells were exposed to HIV-1_{R3A} for 4 hr at 37°C in the presence or absence of PF4. Cells were then split into two aliquots; one aliquot was treated with trypsin to remove attached viral particles remaining on the cell surface, while the other aliquot was left untreated. Attachment was measured by quantifying total vs. trypsin-resistant cell-associated HIV-1 p24 Gag protein. When added at 200 nM, PF4 inhibited virus infection and also significantly reduced viral attachment to cells by $55\% \pm 9\%$ compared to the no treatment control (P = 0.0008) (Fig 2). In contrast, the infection-enhancing concentration of PF4 (4 μ M) increased viral attachment to primary cells by $61\% \pm 12\%$ relative to the no treatment control (P = 0.0006). The polycation DEAE-dextran was used as a positive control and enhanced viral attachment 42-fold above the untreated control (P = 0.0004). The coreceptor small molecule antagonists maraviroc (MVC) and AMD-3100, which block viral engagement of CCR5 and CXCR4 respectively, had no significant effect on viral attachment as expected (Fig 2). These data suggest that low levels of PF4 inhibit viral infection by decreasing viral adsorption to cells, while higher concentrations of the chemokine enhance viral attachment and thus increase infection.



PF4 interacts with cellular GAGs. PF4 could potentially impact virus attachment by interacting with cell surface components, with the viral alycoprotein or with both. There is considerable evidence that many chemokines interact with cell surface GAGs which in turn facilitate attachment of many viruses to cells (106, 125, 213). To determine if PF4 may interact with cell surface molecules in a manner that impacts virus attachment, we treated MAGI-R5 cells with an inhibitory concentration of PF4 (200 nM) for 30 minutes, then either washed the cells with PBS (wash) or left unwashed (no wash), and subsequently infected with HIV-1 pseudovirus. We hypothesized that if PF4's mechanism of action entailed interactions with the viral glycoprotein, then prebinding to the cell surface followed by washing should have little impact on virus infection. If, however, PF4 binds to a cell surface molecule that participates in virus attachment, then washing off pre-bound PF4 should reduce the chemokine's effect on virus infection depending on the affinity of the interaction. Pre-binding PF4 to the cell surface followed by extensive washing decreased subsequent infection by HIV-1_{MLV}, HIV-1_{JRFL}, and HIV-1_{VSV-G} by 45% \pm 12% (P = 0.016), $51\% \pm 7\%$ (*P* = 0.007), and $24\% \pm 16\%$ (*P* = 0.13), respectively (Fig 3A); consistent with PF4 interacting with a cell surface molecule(s) to antagonize viral infection. As expected, pre-binding and then washing PF4 from cells had no effect on HIV-1_{H5N1} infection (mean % infection = 106 ± 9 ; P = 0.4080) (Fig 3A).

Since it is well established that PF4 binds to negatively charged GAGs such as heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSP) and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSP),(141, 163, 205, 231) we performed competition assays

82



www.manaraa.com

using soluble HSP. MAGI-R5 cells were infected with HIV-1 pseudoviruses in the presence or absence of increasing concentrations of soluble HSP and no, low (200 nM), or high (2 μ M) concentrations of PF4. As the concentration of soluble HSP was increased, the ability of the low concentration of PF4 to inhibit infection waned, eventually reaching the same level as no PF4. In addition, high amounts of HSP ablated the capacity of the high concentration of PF4 to enhance infection (HIV-1_{JRFL} shown in Fig 3B). Similar results were observed with soluble CSP (data not shown). The fact that soluble HSP reduced the ability of PF4 to inhibit virus infection and entirely ablated the ability of high concentrations of PF4 to enhance virus infection could be linked to virus binding—at inhibitory concentrations of PF4, the presence of 10 µg/ml soluble HSP slightly increased virus binding (mean % cell-associated p24 200nM vs. 200nM + HSP = 55 ± 9 vs. 70 ± 9 ; P = 0.3), while at enhancing concentrations of PF4 the presence of HSP strongly reduced virus binding to the cell surface (mean % cell-associated p24 = 57 \pm 7; P < 0.0001) (Fig 3C). These data are consistent with PF4 being able to bind to GAGs, particularly at high PF4 concentrations, with this in turn being linked to enhanced virus binding to the cell surface.

HIV-1 gp120 binds specifically to PF4. The ability of PF4 to bind to GAGs does not, by itself, explain how it can enhance virus infection at high concentrations. Therefore, we hypothesized that at high concentrations, PF4 might function as an electrostatic bridge between virions and cell surface GAGs to modulate attachment. If this is true, not only should PF4 interact with cell surface GAGs, it should also interact with the virus. To test this, we assessed the

83



www.manaraa.com

ability of purified HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 to bind to polystyreneimmobilized PF4 by ELISA. Graded amounts of PF4 were immobilized overnight before incubation with varying concentrations of purified HIV-1_{JRFL} gp120 for 30 mins. After washing, bound gp120 was detected using a rabbit polyclonal serum (4). We found that gp120 bound to PF4 in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig 4A). Likewise, gp120 also bound to RANTES in a concentration-dependent manner, consistent with previous work (274). In contrast, gp120 failed to bind to immobilized IL-8 or SDF-1 using the same assay conditions (Fig 4B). From these results, we conclude that the bimolecular interaction observed between gp120 and PF4/RANTES is direct and has some degree of specificity.

PF4 oligomerization state correlates with its effects on virus infection. PF4 in solution exists in a dynamic state; at low concentrations it is largely monomeric, while at high concentrations it forms tetramers (20, 172, 179, 233). Chemical cross-linking was used to confirm this equilibrium using the recombinant PF4 used in our studies (217). Although this equilibrium exists in solution *in vitro*, under physiologic conditions it has been hypothesized that PF4 exists primarily as a tetramer and avidly binds to heparin and GAGs to form the ultra-large antigenic complexes noted in the clinical disorder of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) (10, 20, 116, 172, 179, 217). Mutations that decrease the formation of PF4 tetramers have been shown to reduce the formation of these large complexes. Rauova et al. disrupted the ionic interactions between recombinant PF4 dimers by substituting Lys at position 50 with Glu to create PF4^{K50E}, which shifts the equilibrium of PF4 to favor dimers and monomers (217).



Additionally, a double mutant was generated in which the Glu²⁸ and Lys⁵⁰ in PF4 were replaced with Arg and Glu (PF4^{E28R/K50E}) to reinstate the ionic interactions between dimers, significantly restoring the ability to form tetramers at high concentrations (217). Given this concentration-dependent oligomerization of PF4 and its two opposing effects on viral entry, we reasoned that inhibition might be linked to the presence of monomers that bind directly to Env and prevent it from interacting with the cell surface, whereas PF4 tetramers may function to enhance viral infection by forming a bridge between cell surface GAGs and Env, overriding the inhibitory effect and thereby enhancing virus attachment.

To explore the effect of oligomeric state on PF4 activity, MAGI-R5 cells were infected with HIV-1 pseudoviruses in the absence or presence of increasing concentrations of recombinant PF4^{WT}, PF4^{K50E}, or PF4^{E28R/K50E}. For all viruses tested, PF4^{K50E} exhibited an approximately 1-log increase in IC₅₀ compared to PF4^{WT}, while the double mutant PF4^{E28R/K50E} partially rescued this loss in potency (Fig 5A). As previously observed, HIV-1_{JRFL} and HIV-1_{MLV} infection was enhanced approximately 2-fold of untreated control (mean % infection = 210 ± 51 and 200 ± 32, respectively) at the highest concentration (4 µM) of PF4^{WT} tested. Relative to PF4^{WT}, 4 µM of the monomer-favoring PF4^{K50E} did not enhance, but rather inhibited HIV-1_{JRFL} and HIV-1_{MLV} infection (mean % inhibition = 66 ± 11; *P* = 0.028 and 63% ± 8%; *P* = 0.008, respectively), while the complementary mutant PF4^{E28R/K50E} restored the enhancing activity (mean % infection = 121 ± 9; p =0.45 and 136% ± 18%; *P* = 0.16, respectively), although not to the levels of PF4^{WT} (Fig 5A & 5B). Compared to the untreated control, HIV-1_{VSV-G} infection was



www.manaraa.com

inhibited by 4 μ M PF4^{K50E} (mean % inhibition = 33 ± 9; *P* = 0.0154), but not significantly impacted by 4 μ M PF4^{WT} or PF4^{E28R/K50E} (mean % infection = 97 ± 16; *P* = 0.89 and 104 ± 11; p =0.19, respectively) (Fig 5A & 5B). Additionally, we tested the ability of PF4^{K50E} to modulate viral attachment as we had previously done with low and high concentrations of PF4^{WT}. As observed with the low concentration of PF4^{WT}, the monomer-favoring PF4^{K50E} significantly decreased viral attachment at 4 μ M compared to untreated controls (% cell-associated p24 = 35 ± 6; p < 0.0001) (Fig 5C). From these data, we conclude that the antiviral property of PF4 occurs under conditions where tetramers are not prevalent, while the presence of tetramers is associated with enhancement of viral infection.

Antibodies that recognize distinct oligomeric forms of PF4 were used to further probe the role of oligomeric state on PF4 activity during viral infection. The monoclonal anti-hPF4 antibody RTO selectively binds to PF4 monomers while the HIT-like monoclonal antibody KKO induces the oligomerization of PF4 tetramers and preferentially recognizes large complexes comprised of PF4 tetramers (13, 232). If monomers and dimers are responsible for the inhibitory effect of PF4 on virus infection, then both RTO and KKO should ablate the inhibitory effect of 200 nM PF4, which in fact we observed (Fig 6). However, at 4 μ M PF4 where preformed tetramers predominate, the antibodies should differ in their effects—RTO should not impact PF4 activity since it preferentially binds monomers, while KKO may further enhance infectivity by inducing even greater PF4 oligomerization which enhances attachment of virus to the cell surface. We found this to be the case, with KKO further enhancing infectivity of both HIV-1_{JRFL}



and HIV-1_{MLV} pseudotypes in the presence of 4 μ M PF4 (Fig 6). These results further support the hypothesis that oligomeric forms of PF4 enhance viral infection.



DISCUSSION

Increased platelet activation, thrombocytopenia, and thrombosis are complications associated with HIV-1 infection (10, 66, 113, 201, 251). Several studies describe an anti-viral role for chemokines released from activated platelets including RANTES and PF4 (15, 59, 259). RANTES can modulate virus infection through diverse mechanisms that are dependent upon its concentration. At low concentrations, RANTES can inhibit HIV infection by blocking its interaction with the viral coreceptor CCR5 (12, 40, 59, 166, 193, 256, 274, 275). At high, and likely supra-physiological concentrations, RANTES forms higherorder oligomers that bind to the viral Env protein as well as cell surface GAGs, enhancing virus attachment and infection, at least in vitro (274). RANTES can also modulate virus infection by transducing signals via CCR5 that over time render cells more permissive for virus replication (97). Likewise, we find that PF4 can both inhibit and enhance HIV-1 infection in a concentration-dependent manner, with enhancement being observed at PF4 concentrations likely to be found in proximity to cell surfaces.

Recent studies that examined the impact of PF4 on HIV-1 infection suggested that the *in vitro* inhibitory effects of PF4 could be exploited therapeutically (15, 259). Enhancement of infection by PF4 was not reported in these studies, though concentrations greater than 650 nM were not tested. However, a previous study by Schwartzkopff et al. showed that higher concentrations of PF4 (4 µM) actually enhanced HIV-1 infection in macrophages (249). The availability of recombinant PF4, PF4 mutations that impact its



oligomeric properties, and oligomeric-state specific anti-PF4 antibodies allowed us to more fully explore this chemokine's biphasic effects on HIV-1 infection. We confirmed earlier findings that at low concentrations PF4 inhibits HIV-1 infection by approximately 1-log, and linked this inhibition to the ability of PF4 to bind directly to the gp120 subunit of the viral Env protein and to decrease binding of virions to the cell surface. However, PF4 also inhibited infection by several other viruses that bear little similarity to HIV-1, and inhibited all of the genetically diverse HIV-1 strains that we tested indicting that it has broad anti-viral potency. From this we conclude that while PF4 can engage the viral Env protein, it likely does so in a relatively non-specific manner that may well limit its therapeutic use. Further, the fact that PF4 inhibited infection of all HIV-1 strains we tested *in vitro* suggests that it has not applied sufficient selective pressure *in vivo* to drive the development of widespread resistance.

PF4 exists in dynamic equilibrium in solution, where monomers assemble into tetramers via dimer intermediates in a concentration dependent manner (20, 172, 179, 233). However, it is likely that under physiological conditions PF4 exists predominantly as a tetramer complexed with GAGs (20, 116, 172, 179). The biphasic effect of PF4 on HIV-1 infection can be explained by its tendency to oligomerize at physiologically relevant concentrations and its ability to bind to cell surface GAGs in a manner analogous to RANTES (20, 116). As PF4 concentrations increased, with a concomitant shift toward tetrameric and higherorder complexes, the inhibitory capacity of PF4 waned and viral infection was ultimately enhanced. This finding was observed for all HIV-1 strains tested as



well as virions bearing the SIV and MLV glycoproteins. Collectively, these data suggest that *in vivo*, where PF4 likely exists primarily as a GAG-associated tetramer, the inhibitory effects of the monomeric chemokine are less likely to predominate.

The mechanism by which PF4 enhanced virus infection at high concentrations was again at the level of virus binding. Like most chemokines, oligomeric PF4 binds with high affinity to polyanionic GAGs such as heparin and heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSP) (264). Since PF4 can also bind to the viral Env protein, we hypothesized that PF4 oligomers can function as an electrostatic bridge between virions and cell surface GAGs. In support of this hypothesis, we found that high concentrations of PF4 enhanced virus binding, and that the addition of soluble heparan and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans significantly mitigated the enhancing, but not the inhibitory, effects of PF4 by decreasing viral attachment to cells. This is not entirely surprising, as PF4 tetramers have been shown to exhibit higher affinity for GAGs due to their favorable quaternary structure, which exposes a ring of basic amino acids (264, 305). Additionally, by promoting oligomerization, the HIT-like antibody KKO likely induced the formation of ultra large complexes of PF4 tetramers that further potentiated the basal enhancement effect of 4µM PF4 in vitro.

While RANTES and PF4 can both inhibit viral infection at low concentrations, the mechanisms are different: RANTES inhibits virus infection in a highly specific manner by interacting with the viral coreceptor while PF4 inhibits HIV-1 infection by binding to the viral Env protein. In contrast, both chemokines



can enhance virus infection at high concentrations by forming higher-ordered complexes and enhancing virus binding to cells through interactions with cell surface GAGs. However, while the concentrations at which RANTES enhances HIV-1 infection *in vitro* are unlikely to be found *in vivo*, it is likely that physiological concentrations of PF4 can enhance virus infection. These findings underscore the importance of examining the full spectrum of relevant concentrations when assessing the impact of chemokines on virus infection given their ability to form oligomers that in turn influence their interactions with cell surface molecules. In addition, it is possible that the enhancing effect of PF4 on virus infection could impact HIV-1 pathogenesis. PF4 is produced by megakaryocytes in the bone marrow leading to intramedullary release (Lambert M et al., submitted), and regulates hematopoietic stem cell cycle activity (39). The presence of PF4 in the bone marrow could enhance HIV-1 infection of stem cells and other progenitors, contributing to the well-documented hematopoietic abnormalities that are common in HIV-infected individuals.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Beatrice Hahn for providing HIV-1 viral stocks. We thank Gary Nabel and the Vaccine Research Center (VRC) of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases for providing influenza plasmids. We also thank Chuka Didigu, Shilpa Iyer, Paul Bates, and Craig Wilen for helpful comments and technical advice. Additionally, we thank the University of Pennsylvania's Center for Aids Research (CFAR) human immunology and flow cytometry core facilities for reagents and equipment. This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) grant P01HL110860-01. The content in this publication is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH. Z.F.P. is the recipient of a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship (fellow ID: 2012140562).



FIGURES

🟅 للاستشارات







absence or presence of increasing concentrations of PF4. PF4 inhibited infected of all Env pseudoviruses tested at concentrations below 200nM. However, at concentrations above 2µM, infection of all viruses was enhanced 2-5 fold by PF4. (C) The dual activity of PF4 was recapitulated with CCR5- and CXCR4-using replication competent HIV-1. (D) PF4 exhibited biphasic activity against a replication competent dual-tropic primary HIV-1 isolate (CH077) on multiple cell lines. (E) The effect of PF4 was not specific to HIV-1 envelope as the dual activity was evident to varying degrees with HIV-1 pseudoviruses bearing the glycoprotein of SIVmac316, SIVE660, VSV, and MLV. HIV-1 pseudotypes bearing the influenza glycoprotein H5N1 infection was unaffected by the presence of PF4. All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations. ns p > 0.05, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001





Figure 2: PF4 modulates viral attachment to cells. Replication competent HIV-1 R3A binding to the cell surface was assessed in the absence or presence of PF4. The inhibitory concentration of PF4 (200nM) significantly decreased viral attachment to cells compared to the untreated control (% cell-associated p24 = 55.2 ± 9.4 ; p = 0.0008). Contrastingly, the enhancing concentration of PF4 (4µM) significantly increased viral binding to cells compared to control (% cell-associated p24 = 161.3 ± 12.5 ; p = 0.0006). The positive control DEAE-dextran increased viral attachment approximately 42-fold above control (% cell-associated p24 = 4207.0 ± 790.7 ; p = 0.0004). The small molecule coreceptor antagonists maraviroc (MVC) and AMD3100 served as negative controls and did


not impact viral attachment as they work downstream of early attachment events. All experiments were done in duplicate with three donors in at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard error.





Figure 3: PF4 interacts with cell surface glycosaminoglycans. (A) To address whether PF4 interacts with a cell surface molecule to modulate infection, cells were pretreated with 200nM PF4 and either washed five times with PBS or left unwashed, followed by infection with HIV-1 pseudoviruses bearing the glycoprotein of either MLV, H5N1, JRFL, or VSV. Washing off PF4 before infection reduced entry by approximately 2-fold. Infection was inhibited at least 3-fold when PF4 was left on cells. The negative control HIV-1_{H5N1} infection was



unaffected by either treatment. (B) Effect of cell surface GAGs on PF4 activity. Infection of HIV-1_{JRFL} was measured in the presence of 0nM, 200nM, or 2000nM PF4 with increasing concentrations of soluble HSP. 10µg/mI HSP significantly diminished the effect of 2000nM PF4 on viral infection, impacting infection aprroximately 18-fold. HSP had a 2-fold effect on infection in the presence of low concentrations of PF4 and in the absence of PF4. (C) Addition of soluble heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSP) to the low concentration of PF4 did not significantly impact its effect on viral binding. However, adding HSP to the high concentration of PF4 significantly decreased cell-associated virus to levels comparable to 200nM PF4. All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations.





Figure 4: HIV-1 gp120 binds specifically to immobilized PF4. (A) Graded amounts of PF4 were immobilized overnight before incubating with varying concentrations of purified HIV-1 JRFL gp120. JRFL gp120 bound to PF4 in a concentration-dependent manner. (B) To assess selectivity of gp120 binding, we tested the ability of other chemokines of similar size and charge to PF4 to bind gp120. RANTES was used as a positive control and bound JRFL gp120. However, gp120 did not bind IL-8 or SDF-1. All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations.





Figure 5: PF4 oligomeric state correlates with its biphasic activity on viral infection. (A) MAGI-R5 cells were infected with HIV-1 pseudoviruses bearing the glycoprotein of MLV (top), JRFL (middle), and VSV (bottom) in the absence or increasing presence of PF4^{WT}, PF4^{K50E}, or PF4^{E28R/K50E}. (B) Virus entry was measured at high (4µM) concentrations of PF4^{WT}, PF4^{K50E}, or PF4^{E28R/K50E}. PF4WT enhanced infection of HIV-1_{JRFL} and HIV-1_{MLV} approximately 2-fold. PF4^{K50E} significantly inhibited HIV-1_{JRFL}, HIV-1_{MLV}, and HIV-1_{VSV-G} entry.



PF4^{E28R/K50E} restored the enhancement observed with PF4^{WT}. PF4^{WT} and PF4^{E28R/K50E} did not significantly impact HIV-1_{VSV-G} entry. (C) High concentrations of the monomer-favoring mutant PF4^{K50E} significantly reduced viral binding to cells. All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations. ns p > 0.05, * p < 0.005, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.0001





Figure 6: Antibodies recognizing distinct oligomeric forms of PF4 impact chemokine activity during infection. 0, 200nM, or 4μ M PF4 was preincubated in the absence or presence of excess RTO or KKO anti-hPF4 antibodies. The mixture was then added to MAGI-R5 cells, followed by HIV-1_{JRFL} (top) or HIV-1_{MLV} (bottom) infection. For both pseudoviruses tested, RTO and KKO did not



significantly impact viral infection in the absence of PF4. However, both antibodies prevented 200nM PF4-mediated viral inhibition. At 4µM PF4, RTO did not impact viral enhancement compared to no antibody control. KKO further enhanced viral infection in the presence of 4µM PF4. All experiments were done in at least triplicate in each of at least three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviations. ns p > 0.05, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.001



TABLE I Summary of T/F and chronic HIV-1 env clones

Env Type	Clade	Numerical designation	Env clone designation	Coreceptor tropism	Reference	Accession number
T/F	В	1	REJO.D12.1972	R5	27	EU576707
Chronic	В	2	WEAUd15.410.5017	R5/X4	27	EU289202
	В	3	700010058.A4.4375	R5	27	EU576440
	В	4	700010077.SA2.6559	R5/X4	27	EU578999.2
	В	5	TT35P.11H8.2874	R5	27	EU577329
	В	6	1006-11.C3.1601	R5	27	EU575025
	В	7	1056-10.TA11.1826	R5	27	EU575305
	В	8	1058-11.B11.1550	R5/X4	27	EU289187
	С	1	2833264_3G11	R5	32	HQ595757
	С	2	1245045_3C7	R5	32	HQ595742
	С	3	ZM246F.F	R5	28-30	n/a
	С	4	ZM247Fv2.fs	R5	28-30	n/a
	В	9	CRPE.B28.4072	R5/X4	27	EU578065.1
	В	10	JOTO.TA1.2247	X4	27	EU578181.1
	В	11	OLLA.A14.1923	R5	27	EU578231
	В	12	SAMI.A8.1863	R5	27	EU578272
	В	13	SHKE.A26.4112	R5	27	EU578453
	В	14	1632-a6	R5	31	HQ216883
	С	5	704010330.G5h	R5	32	JQ777128
	С	6	702010141_w12_e80.F	R5	32	JQ779320
	С	7	704010461.A7h	R5	32	JQ777137
	С	8	4403.A18	R5	33	HM070677
	С	9	4403.bmL.B6	R5	33	HM070754



CHAPTER 5

Summary, discussion, and future directions

PROJECT I: T/F AND CC DIFFERENTIALLY UTILIZE CCR5

The concept of selective HIV-1 transmission was initially suggested by studies assessing envelope (env) diversity between donor-recipient pairs (transmission pairs) (299, 300, 304, 307). While these studies incited substantial interest and work in this area, they were limited by the fact that they were relatively qualitative in nature-chronically infected individuals were described as harboring genetically diverse viral quasispecies, and acutely-infected individuals could be grouped as having a "homogenous" or "heterogeneous" infection, born of a single donor viral variant or multiple closely-related donor variants, respectively. Thus, while it was apparent that HIV-1 transmission involved a genetic bottleneck, a more quantitative approach to enumerate and define the characteristics of transmitted viruses was required. The development of singlegenome amplification (SGA) aimed to precisely identify and quantitatively characterize the transmitted/founder (T/F) virus(es). SGA involves limiting dilution of vRNA/cDNA, such that only a single template is amplified, followed by amplicon sequencing (131). SGA overcomes the limitations of conventional PCR followed by cloning and sequencing of the amplified template by eliminating Tag polymerase-induced recombination and ensuring proportional representation of target sequences (197, 238, 253, 255). Using this method, George Shaw and



colleagues were able to unambiguously infer the T/F *env* lineage of 98 out of 102 acutely-infected individuals; each lineage was characterized by a distinctive set of identical or near identical sequences (131). Subsequent cloning and *in vitro* characterization of pseudoviruses bearing each of these Envs, demonstrated that all T/F Envs were functional; capable of mediating CD4- and CCR5-dependent cell entry. This is expected as these Envs successfully initiated infection in a new host. In contrast, it is not uncommon to find nonfunctional Envs in cloned Envs from chronically infected individuals (136, 200, 240). Studying SGA-derived T/F Envs has revealed that the most consistent property associated with transmitted viruses is the use of the CCR5 coreceptor (24, 51, 121, 131).

CCR5 is a seven-transmembrane domain G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) that primarily functions as a chemokine receptor to regulate trafficking and the effector response of leukocytes. While CCR5 use is a major contributor to the genetic bottleneck, it is clear that on average one, or a select few, CCR5-using (R5-tropic) variants with specific genetic signatures (see **Chapter 1**) cross the mucosal epithelium to infect a new host. The use of CCR5 to mediate viral entry can be inhibited by the small molecule antagonist maraviroc (MVC). MVC, and other small molecule antagonists discussed in chapter 1, function as allosteric inhibitors, inducing a conformational change of CCR5, which prevents the viral envelope glycoprotein (Env) gp120 from engaging the coreceptor. However, some viruses become resistant to MVC by acquiring mutations that enable them to recognize and bind to the drug-bound conformation of CCR5. Thus, coreceptor conformation is clearly important. We know that, like other



GPCRs (139), CCR5 exists in different conformations, perhaps related to membrane microdomains (186, 187), differences in posttranslational modifications such as sulfation and glycosylation (50, 84), and coupling to G proteins (226, 269). We and others have shown that distinct CCR5 conformations can been detected on multiple cell types through the use of conformationdependent antibodies (25, 153). Additionally, studies on MVC resistant viruses have shown variability in how viruses can productively engage CCR5-with some being more reliant on the amino terminus of CCR5, while others preferentially engage the second extracellular loop (3, 272). Moreover, some viruses are naturally resistant to CCR5-antagonists like MVC and can mediate entry via antagonist-bound CCR5 (108, 271). Given this background, it is logical to ask whether T/F viruses interact with CCR5 in a manner that is different from what is seen with viruses isolated from chronically infected individuals (chronic controls—CC). Understanding this phenotypic difference in coreceptor usage can provide insight into how Env-CCR5 interactions shape transmission fitness, and also inform the development of tests to better predict whether a patient will benefit from a CCR5-antagonist therapy.

While we know that there exists a continuum of CCR5 engagement by various HIV-1 strains, the implications of these interactions are unknown. We were interested in understanding how various viruses interact with CCR5— particularly, different conformations of CCR5, and whether this interaction was meaningful in the context of transmission. To this end, we evaluated a panel of 87 CCR5-using viruses (from MVC treatment-naïve patients) to address



differences between T/F and CC viruses in their ability to mediate entry via CCR5 in the presence of MVC. Our lab had previously reported no statistical difference in MVC sensitivity between subtypes B and C T/F and CC viruses on a microglial cell line—NP2/CD4/CCR5—stably expressing human CD4 and CCR5 (200, 295).

In project I, however, we described a difference in the magnitude of MVC inhibition of T/F and CC viruses that was readily apparent on cells with high surface levels of CCR5. We can modulate cell surface expression of CCR5 using the 293-derived Affinofile cell line (126). Affinofile cells expressing low or high levels of CCR5 were infected with each of 87 viruses in the absence or presence of increasing concentrations (to saturating levels—6µM) of MVC, after which we calculated the maximal percent inhibition (MPI). The MPI measures residual entry of resistant viruses in the presence of MVC. We imposed an arbitrary MPI cutoff of 95%, where MPI values >95% were considered fully sensitive (FS) to MVC, while samples with MPIs $\leq 95\%$ were defined as partially resistant (PR) to MVC. All 87 viruses were inhibited by >95% at 6μ M MVC on low-CCR5 Affinofiles. However, on high-CCR5 Affinofiles, only 66% of the viruses were inhibited by MVC by >95%, while 34% of the viruses exhibited PR in the presence of 6µM MVC, with some viruses exhibiting extensive MVC resistance. These results were confirmed using additional CCR5 antagonists, replication competent HIV-1, and on primary human CD4⁺ T cells. When we parsed the viruses in our panel by Env type, we found a difference in the frequency with which T/F and CC viruses exhibited partial MVC resistance (15% and 52%, respectively). From these data, we conclude that at baseline, there is a



significant variability in MVC MPI among different viral isolates and that the magnitude of this variability is in part dependent on CCR5 expression. Furthermore, these results suggest that T/F and CC viruses differentially utilize CCR5 to mediate entry (111).

What does differential utilization of CCR5 signify in the context of transmission? The fact that the PR phenotype segregates with CC Envs suggests that this property is favored by the virus during a chronic infection, but disadvantageous to the virus (and likely selected against) during transmission and acute infection. One hypothesis is that at later stages of infection, when the virus is pressured by the host immune system and readily available target cell numbers precipitously decline, the ability to use multiple conformations of CCR5 could expand the availability of CD4⁺ CCR5⁺ target cells. Indeed, Paul Gorry and colleagues have shown that R5-tropic viruses become increasingly resistant to CCR5 inhibitors with time, consistent with changes in CCR5 use (100, 221).

Another hypothesis is that different conformational variants of CCR5 exist cells readily available on mucosal targets that are during acute infection/transmission, compared to CD4⁺ CCR5⁺ cells in the blood or other distal tissues later in infection. Employing a number of mAbs specific for different epitopes on CCR5, Berro et al (25) revealed the existence of multiple antigenic forms of CCR5 expressed on the surfaces of U87/CD4/CCR5 cells and CD4⁺ T cells. The authors further showed that CCR5 antagonist-sensitive and -resistant viruses use the forms of coreceptor differentially for entry in the presence or absence of CCR5 antagonists. These results and our data suggest that



differences in CCR5 conformation may provide additional insights into the coreceptor determinants of the PR phenotype and the significance of this phenotype during HIV-1 transmission/pathogenesis.

Future studies should aim to define the molecular determinants of the PR phenotype and address the impact of differential CCR5 usage on mucosal transmission. First, chimeras can be used to elucidate the viral and coreceptor contribution to the PR phenotype by identifying Env and coreceptor molecular determinants of this phenotype. CCR5 is known to be conformationally dynamic, thus, comparing the conformational forms of CCR5 on target cells from mucosal tissue to those on blood-derived target cells using monoclonal antibodies will reveal whether there exists differences in CCR5 antigenic forms in distinct compartments. Next, it is important to investigate the role of this phenotypic difference during mucosal transmission in vivo. The bone marrow-liver-thymus (BLT) humanized mouse model may be a suitable system for these studies because it has been shown to be the only mouse model that leads to the generation of a human mucosal immune system. Additionally, the model has been shown to faithfully repopulate the mouse female reproductive tract with the appropriate human immune cells (DCs, Macrophages, and T cells) (72). Moreover, these mice exhibit high numbers of human immune cells in the blood, as well as organs and tissues (176). Together these experiments will define the mechanisms and implications of variable CCR5 usage during mucosal transmission, which may provide new insights into HIV-1 therapy.



PROJECT II: PF4 INHIBITS AND ENHANCES HIV-1 INFECTION

Recent studies have described an anti-viral role for platelets (259). These specialized anucleated blood cells release a number of chemokines to promote coagulation. One such platelet-derived chemokine is platelet factor-4 (PF4), which was recently described to posses potent and broad anti-HIV-1 activity (15, 259). However, despite *in vivo* plasma and local concentrations of PF4 being within the range used in these studies (36), HIV-1 is still able to establish productive infection. In this study, we sought to understand the mechanism of action of PF4 and whether it's *in vitro* activity was biologically meaningful in the context of human infection.

Utilizing a distinct panel of primary HIV-1 isolates and other viruses, we showed that the inhibitory effects of PF4 are not restricted to HIV-1 and constrained to a narrow concentration window. As the concentration of PF4 increased, the inhibitory capacity of the chemokine waned, and infection was ultimately enhanced. Although PF4 was broadly active against a number of different retroviruses, the fact that it exhibited modest effects on VSV-G entry and no effect on H5N1 infection suggests that the chemokine functions in a relatively non-specific manner. Using an ELISA assay, we demonstrated that HIV-1 Env gp120 binds specifically and directly to immobilized PF4. However, exactly where PF4 binds on the viral envelope glycoprotein remains unclear—Auerbach et al. suggest that PF4 interacts with HIV-1 gp120 at a site proximal to (but not including) the CD4 binding site to inhibit infection (15). However, since not all



PF4-sensitive viruses require CD4 for entry, the precise site of PF4 binding on the viral envelope glycoprotein may have more generalizable characteristics, such as net charge or quaternary structure.

Auerbach et al. and Tsegaye et al. demonstrated potent antiviral activity of recombinant PF4 and activated platelet supernatant, respectively. Neither study reported the enhancing activity of PF4 we observed, though concentrations above 650nM were not tested. However, consistent with what we report here, previous research by Schwartzkopff et al. showed that high amounts of PF4 (4µM) potentiated HIV-1 infection in macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF)-derived macrophages (249). The observation that PF4, at higher concentrations, enhanced viral infection is not surprising, as the enhancing role of certain CC-chemokines has been well characterized (97, 135, 183, 274). Trkola et al. reported that RANTES oligomers increase viral infectivity in vitro (274). The similarities between how RANTES and PF4 enhance viral infection are striking in that high concentrations (presumably oligomers) of both chemokines interact with glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) to increase viral attachment to the cell surface and subsequent infection. As was reported with RANTES, we also show specific interaction between HIV-1 gp120 and PF4, but not with other cationic chemokines (stromal derived factor-1 (SDF-1) and IL-8). Additionally, the effects of RANTES are also relatively non-specific as infection of HIV-1 pseudovirus bearing the glycoprotein of MLV or VSV is also enhanced.

There are key differences, however, between the two chemokines that influences their role in modulating viral infection. First, RANTES and PF4 belong



to different subfamilies of chemokines; the former belongs to the CC-subfamily and the latter to the CXC-chemokine subfamily. Structurally, CC-chemokines are defined by the tandem arrangement of cysteine residues in the amino terminus, while CXC-subfamily cysteines are separated by a single amino acid. This subtle structural difference informs the quaternary structure of the chemokine and has implications not only for receptor recognition, but also oligomer formation (123, 237). It is well known that chemokines oligomerize in a variety of homo- and hetero-oligomeric forms at high concentrations both in solution and in physiological settings to carry out their effector functions (16, 184, 185, 284). However, studies have reported differences in the guaternary structures of CCand CXC-chemokines and suggested that these differences may be important for how chemokine subfamilies are recognized by, and signal through, their cognate receptors (123, 195, 216, 220, 286). To illustrate this point, Trkola et al. report that one mechanism by which RANTES enhances infection is by signaling through its G protein-coupled receptor CCR5. In addition to RANTES, previous research has shown that the α -chemokine SDF-1 enhances R5-tropic, but not X4-tropic, HIV-1 and VSV-G infection (169). Specifically, SDF-1 was reported to enhance infection via signaling-mediated increase of Tat transactivation of the HIV-1 long terminal repeat. In our study, however, two lines of evidence suggest that signaling via the PF4 receptor CXCR3B plays no appreciable role in the chemokine's activity during infection; first, time-of-addition experiments showed that infection was inhibited or enhanced when PF4 was added either before or simultaneously with virus. It is reasonable to assume that if signaling was critical,



only with PF4 pretreatment of cells (presumably allowing sufficient binding and signaling events to occur) would PF4 possess anti- or proviral effects. Second, pretreating cells with an antibody to PF4's receptor CXCR3B inhibited agonist-induced phosphorylation of Akt and p44/42 (Erk1/2), but did not ablate the biphasic activity of PF4 during viral infection (data not shown). It is possible that longer (>24 hrs) PF4 pretreatment could result in signaling-mediated effects on viral infection as observed with RANTES and SDF-1.

Another significant difference between RANTES and PF4 that influences their role in modulating viral infection is the range of *in vivo* concentrations. The concentrations at which RANTES enhances infection is supraphysiological and unlikely to be found *in vivo* (274). However, PF4 concentrations that enhance viral infection (> 2µM) *in vitro* are likely to be present *in vivo*, where concentrations at local sites of platelet degranulation can be as high at 10µM (308). This suggests that, unlike RANTES, PF4 could modulate HIV-1 pathogenesis by enhancing HIV-1 infection *in vivo*. Therefore, while RANTES, SDF-1, and PF4 similarly inhibit and enhance viral infection in a relatively non-specific manner, understanding the differences in how these chemokines execute the same functions may elucidate a new paradigm for how we think about chemokines and their role during viral infection, and might reveal new virus-chemokine interactions that could influence virus infection *in vivo*.

It is well documented that chemokines require interaction with GAGs *in vivo* to carry out their primary effector function of directing the migration of leukocytes to sites of injury or during usual immune surveillance (125, 144, 213).



Chemokine binding to GAGs on endothelial cells and extracellular matrix serves as a gradient to direct cell migration (2, 41, 227). Without this anchoring interaction, the chemokine would freely disperse, effectively lowering the concentration needed to activate its cognate receptor (213). This is verified by the fact that chemokines that are engineered to lack the GAG-binding domain can still interact with their cognate receptors, but fail to induce cell migration in vivo (5, 206, 213). Thus, it was logical to assume that GAGs likely play a role in the activity of PF4 during viral infection. Like most chemokines, PF4 binds with high affinity to polyanionic GAGs such as heparin and heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSP) (156, 257). Moreover, it is secreted from activated platelets in conjunction with chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (20, 116, 155). We showed that a cell surface molecule was partially involved in the activity of PF4 as evidenced by the fact that washing cells thoroughly post PF4 pretreatment before infection still decreased viral entry. Furthermore, we found that the addition of soluble GAGs (heparan and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans) significantly mitigated the enhancing, but not the inhibitory, effect of PF4 by decreasing viral attachment to cells. This is not entirely surprising, as PF4 tetramers have been shown to exhibit higher affinity for GAGs due to their favorable quaternary structure, which exposes a ring of basic amino acids (264, 305). Since we observed the greatest impact of soluble GAGs in the presence of high concentrations of PF4, one might predict that uncoupling GAG-binding from PF4 would attenuate or ablate the tetramer-related enhancement of infection.



PF4 exists in dynamic equilibrium in solution, where monomers aggregate into tetramers via dimer intermediates in a concentration dependent manner (20, 179, 233). However, under physiological conditions PF4 exists 172. predominantly as a tetramer complexed with chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (20, 116, 172, 179). Noticing that the biphasic activity of PF4 correlated with its concentration, we postulated that oligomeric state might contribute to the antiand proviral effects. To address this, we utilized PF4 mutants that differ in their ability to oligomerize, while still retaining functionality (217). At comparably high concentrations (4 μ M), wildtype PF4 enhanced infection by HIV-1 JRFL, the monomer-favoring PF4^{K50E} decreased infection, and the complementary mutant PF4^{E28R/K50E} restored the enhancing phenotype. From this, we concluded that the monomeric state of PF4 correlated with inhibition, while the presence of tetrameric PF4 (or absence of monomers) was associated with increasing viral infection. If monomers were fully responsible for the inhibitory effect we observed, we would predict that the monomer-favoring PF4^{K50E} would be at least as potent as wildtype PF4 in inhibiting infection. However, we noted that the K50E mutation reduced the potency of PF4, while the complementary mutant PF4^{E28R/K50E} partially restored the loss in potency. As mentioned above, PF4^{K50E} and PF4^{E28R/K50E} are both able to bind heparin comparable to wildtype PF4 (217), thus this decrease in potency is not due to a defect in chemokine function. We cannot, however, rule out the possibility that introducing a mutation(s) into PF4 may affect other properties/domains of the protein that are important for its antior proviral activity, while only subtly affecting anionic-binding functionality.



Increased platelet activation and heparin-induced thrombocytopenia and thrombosis (HITT) are complications associated with HIV-1 infection (66, 201, 251). PF4 is produced by megakaryocytes in the bone marrow and regulates hematopoetic stem cell cycle activity. The presence of PF4 in the bone marrow could enhance HIV-1 infection of stem cells and other progenitors, contributing to the well-documented hematopoietic abnormalities that are common in HIVinfected individuals. The heightened activation of platelets leads to enhanced release of platelet-derived chemokines such as RANTES (113) and PF4. Previous studies examining the role of PF4 in HIV-1 infection have suggested that the potent in vitro inhibitory effects of PF4 may be exploited in vivo to prevent transmission. Though an attractive option, it may not be feasible given the data we describe in project II. In this study, we demonstrate that the inhibitory capacity of PF4 was confined to a narrow concentration range characterized by the prevalence of PF4 monomers. As monomers aggregate to form tetramers at high concentrations, we found that the inhibitory capacity of PF4 waned and viral infection was ultimately enhanced. Collectively, these data suggest that in vivo, where PF4 exists primarily as a GAG-associated tetramer, the inhibitory effects of the chemokine are less likely to predominate. In fact, enhancement of viral infection is most likely the physiological impact of PF4 during viral infection. Whereas Auerbach et al. reported that three of 13 primary HIV-1 isolates were resistant to PF4 inhibition, none of the 23 primary viruses used in this study showed a resistance phenotype. This suggests that PF4 has perhaps not applied sufficient pressure *in vivo* to drive the development of widespread resistance.



In vivo studies on the role of chemokines in a disease setting are inherently difficult to perform and can only prove association, not causation. However, further studies could examine the *in vivo* dynamics of PF4 and HIV-1 pathogenesis. Specifically, measuring endogenous PF4 production levels (both locally and systemically) and/or genetic polymorphisms in PF4 and the impact on HIV-1 infection. Additionally, retrospective studies can be performed on HIV-1 patients with platelet dysfunction to assess whether PF4 (and other platelet chemokines such as RANTES) levels correlate with disease progression and pathology. These studies would be informative for whether endogenous PF4 levels (in addition to CD4⁺ T cell count) could be used as a prognostic factor in HIV-1 disease.



BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abrahams M-R, Anderson JA, Giorgi EE, Seoighe C, Mlisana K, Ping LH, Athreya GS, Treurnicht FK, Keele BF, Wood N, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Bhattacharya T, Chu H, Hoffman I, Galvin S, Mapanje C, Kazembe P, Thebus R, Fiscus S, Hide W, Cohen MS, Karim SA, Haynes BF, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Korber BT, Swanstrom R, Williamson C, CAPRISA Acute Infection Study Team, Center for HIV-AIDS Vaccine Immunology Consortium. Quantitating the multiplicity of infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C reveals a non-poisson distribution of transmitted variants. J Virol 83: 3556–3567, 2009.
- 2. Adelman B, Stemerman MB, Mennell D, Handin RI. The interaction of platelets with aortic subendothelium: inhibition of adhesion and secretion by prostaglandin I2. *Blood* 58: 198–205, 1981.
- 3. **Agrawal L**, **VanHorn-Ali Z**, **Berger EA**, **Alkhatib G**. Specific inhibition of HIV-1 coreceptor activity by synthetic peptides corresponding to the predicted extracellular loops of CCR5.
- 4. **Agrawal-Gamse C**, **Luallen RJ**, **Liu B**, **Fu H**, **Lee F-H**, **Geng Y**, **Doms RW**. Yeast-elicited cross-reactive antibodies to HIV Env glycans efficiently neutralize virions expressing exclusively high-mannose N-linked glycans. *J Virol* 85: 470–480, 2011.
- 5. Ali S, Robertson H, Wain JH, Isaacs JD, Malik G, Kirby JA. A nonglycosaminoglycan-binding variant of CC chemokine ligand 7 (monocyte chemoattractant protein-3) antagonizes chemokine-mediated inflammation. *J Immunol* 175: 1257–1266, 2005.
- Alkhatib G, Combadiere C, Broder CC, Feng Y, Kennedy PE, Murphy PM, Berger EA. CC CKR5: a RANTES, MIP-1alpha, MIP-1beta receptor as a fusion cofactor for macrophage-tropic HIV-1. Science 272: 1955, 1996.
- Allaway GP, Davis-Bruno KL, Beaudry GA, Garcia EB, Wong EL, Ryder AM, Hasel KW, Gauduin MC, Koup RA, McDougal JS. Expression and characterization of CD4-IgG2, a novel heterotetramer that neutralizes primary HIV type 1 isolates. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 11: 533–539, 1995.
- 8. Amara A, Gall SL, Schwartz O, Salamero J, Montes M, Loetscher P, Baggiolini M, Virelizier JL, Arenzana-Seisdedos F. HIV coreceptor downregulation as antiviral principle: SDF-1alpha-dependent



internalization of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 contributes to inhibition of HIV replication. *J Exp Med* 186: 139–146, 1997.

- 9. Amiral J, Bridey F, Dreyfus M, Vissoc AM, Fressinaud E, Wolf M, Meyer D. Platelet factor 4 complexed to heparin is the target for antibodies generated in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost* 68: 95–96, 1992.
- 10. Amiral J, Bridey F, Dreyfus M, Vissoc AM, Fressinaud E, Wolf M, Meyer D. Platelet factor 4 complexed to heparin is the target for antibodies generated in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost* 68: 95–96, 1992.
- 11. **Anastassopoulou CG**, **Ketas TJ**, **Klasse PJ**, **Moore JP**. Resistance to CCR5 inhibitors caused by sequence changes in the fusion peptide of HIV-1 gp41. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106: 5318–5323, 2009.
- 12. Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Virelizier JL, Rousset D, Clark-Lewis I, Loetscher P, Moser B, Baggiolini M. HIV blocked by chemokine antagonist. *Nature* 383: 400–400, 1996.
- 13. Arepally GM, Kamei S, Park KS, Kamei K, Li ZQ, Liu W, Siegel DL, Kisiel W, Cines DB, Poncz M. Characterization of a murine monoclonal antibody that mimics heparin-induced thrombocytopenia antibodies. *Blood* 95: 1533–1540, 2000.
- Arthos J, Cicala C, Martinelli E, Macleod K, Van Ryk D, Wei D, Xiao Z, Veenstra TD, Conrad TP, Lempicki RA, McLaughlin S, Pascuccio M, Gopaul R, McNally J, Cruz CC, Censoplano N, Chung E, Reitano KN, Kottilil S, Goode DJ, Fauci AS. HIV-1 envelope protein binds to and signals through integrin [[alpha]]4[[beta]]7, the gut mucosal homing receptor for peripheral T cells. *Nat Immunol* 9: 301–309, 2008.
- 15. Auerbach DJ, Lin Y, Miao H, Cimbro R, Difiore MJ, Gianolini ME, Furci L, Biswas P, Fauci AS, Lusso P. Identification of the plateletderived chemokine CXCL4/PF-4 as a broad-spectrum HIV-1 inhibitor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109: 9569–9574, 2012.
- 16. **Babcock GJ**, **Farzan M**, **Sodroski J**. Ligand-independent dimerization of CXCR4, a principal HIV-1 coreceptor. *J Biol Chem* 278: 3378–3385, 2003.
- 17. Bachelerie F, Graham GJ, Locati M, Mantovani A, Murphy PM, Nibbs R, Rot A, Sozzani S, Thelen M. New nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Nat Immunol* 15: 207–208, 2014.



- Bannert N, Craig S, Farzan M, Sogah D, Santo NV, Choe H, Sodroski J. Sialylated O-glycans and sulfated tyrosines in the NH2-terminal domain of CC chemokine receptor 5 contribute to high affinity binding of chemokines. *J Exp Med* 194: 1661–1673, 2001.
- 19. Bar KJ, Li H, Chamberland A, Tremblay C, Routy JP, Grayson T, Sun C, Wang S, Learn GH, Morgan CJ, Schumacher JE, Haynes BF, Keele BF, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. Wide variation in the multiplicity of HIV-1 infection among injection drug users. *J Virol* 84: 6241–6247, 2010.
- 20. **Barber AJ**, **Käser-Glanzmann R**, **Jakábová M**, **Lüscher EF**. Characterization of a chondroitin 4 -sulfate proteoglycan carrier for heparin neutralizing activity (platelet factor 4) released from human blood platelets. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 286: 312–329, 1972.
- 21. **Baribaud F**, **Doms RW**. The impact of chemokine receptor conformational heterogeneity on HIV infection. *Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand)* 47: 653–660, 2001.
- 22. Baribaud F, Edwards TG, Sharron M, Brelot A, Heveker N, Price K, Mortari F, Alizon M, Tsang M, Doms RW. Antigenically distinct conformations of CXCR4. *J Virol* 75: 8957–8967, 2001.
- 23. **Berger EA**, **Alkhatib G**. HIV gp120 interactions with coreceptors: Insights from studies with CCR5-based peptides. *Eur. J. Med. Res.*
- 24. **Berger EA**, **Murphy PM**, **Farber JM**. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* 17: 657–700, 1999.
- 25. Berro R, Klasse PJ, Lascano D, Flegler A, Nagashima KA, Sanders RW, Sakmar TP, Hope TJ, Moore JP. Multiple CCR5 conformations on the cell surface are used differentially by human immunodeficiency viruses resistant or sensitive to CCR5 inhibitors. *J Virol* 85: 8227–8240, 2011.
- 26. Billick E, Seibert C, Pugach P, Ketas T, Trkola A, Endres MJ, Murgolo NJ, Coates E, Reyes GR, Baroudy BM, Sakmar TP, Moore JP, Kuhmann SE. The differential sensitivity of human and rhesus macaque CCR5 to small-molecule inhibitors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry is explained by a single amino acid difference and suggests a mechanism of action for these inhibitors. J Virol 78: 4134– 4144, 2004.
- 27. Biti R, Ffrench R, Young J, Bennetts B, Stewart G, Liang T. HIV-1 infection in an individual homozygous for the CCR5 deletion allele. *Nat Med* 3: 252–253, 1997.



- 28. Blaak H, van't Wout AB, Brouwer M, Hooibrink B, Hovenkamp E, Schuitemaker H. In vivo HIV-1 infection of CD45RA(+)CD4(+) T cells is established primarily by syncytium-inducing variants and correlates with the rate of CD4(+) T cell decline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97: 1269–1274, 2000.
- 29. Bleul CC, Farzan M, Choe H, Parolin C, Clark-Lewis I, Sodroski J, Springer TA. The lymphocyte chemoattractant SDF-1 is a ligand for LESTR/fusin and blocks HIV-1 entry. *Nature* 382: 829–833, 1996.
- 30. Bleul CC, Wu L, Hoxie JA, Springer TA, Mackay CR. The HIV coreceptors CXCR4 and CCR5 are differentially expressed and regulated on human T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94: 1925–1930, 1997.
- Blish CA, Jalalian-Lechak Z, Rainwater S, Nguyen M-A, Dogan OC, Overbaugh J. Cross-subtype neutralization sensitivity despite monoclonal antibody resistance among early subtype A, C, and D envelope variants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 83: 7783–7788, 2009.
- 32. Boeras DI, Hraber PT, Hurlston M, Evans-Strickfaden T, Bhattacharya T, Giorgi EE, Mulenga J, Karita E, Korber BT, Allen S, Hart CE, Derdeyn CA, Hunter E. Role of donor genital tract HIV-1 diversity in the transmission bottleneck. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (November 7, 2011). doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103764108.
- 33. Boily M-C, Baggaley RF, Wang L, Masse B, White RG, Hayes RJ, Alary M. Heterosexual risk of HIV-1 infection per sexual act: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Lancet Infect Dis* 9: 118–129, 2009.
- 34. **Borish LC**, **Steinke JW**. 2. Cytokines and chemokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 111: S460–75, 2003.
- 35. **Boylan L**, **Stein ZA**. The epidemiology of HIV infection in children and their mothers--vertical transmission. *Epidemiol Rev* 13: 143–177, 1991.
- 36. **Brandt E**, **Ludwig A**, **Petersen F**, **Flad HD**. Platelet-derived CXC chemokines: old players in new games. *Immunol Rev* 177: 204–216, 2000.
- 37. **Brandt E**, **Petersen F**, **Ludwig A**, **Ehlert JE**, **Bock L**, **Flad HD**. The beta-thromboglobulins and platelet factor 4: blood platelet-derived CXC chemokines with divergent roles in early neutrophil regulation. *J Leukoc Biol* 67: 471–478, 2000.



- Brinchmann JE, Gaudernack G, Vartdal F. CD8+ T cells inhibit HIV replication in naturally infected CD4+ T cells. Evidence for a soluble inhibitor. *J Immunol* 144: 2961–2966, 1990.
- 39. Bruns I, Lucas D, Pinho S, Ahmed J, Lambert MP, Kunisaki Y, Scheiermann C, Schiff L, Poncz M, Bergman A, Frenette PS. Megakaryocytes regulate hematopoietic stem cell quiescence through CXCL4 secretion. *Nat Med* 20: 1315–1320, 2014.
- 40. **Burns JM**, **Gallo RC**, **DeVico AL**, **Lewis GK**. A new monoclonal antibody, mAb 4A12, identifies a role for the glycosaminoglycan (GAG) binding domain of RANTES in the antiviral effect against HIV-1 and intracellular Ca2+ signaling. *J Exp Med* 188: 1917–1927, 1998.
- 41. **Busch C**, **Dawes J**, **Pepper DS**, **Wasteson A**. Binding of platelet factor 4 to cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Thromb Res* 19: 129–137, 1980.
- 42. **C M Walker JAL**. A diffusible lymphokine produced by CD8+ T lymphocytes suppresses HIV replication. *Immunology* 66: 628, 1989.
- 43. Calandra G, McCarty J, McGuirk J, Tricot G, Crocker S-A, Badel K, Grove B, Dye A, Bridger G. AMD3100 plus G-CSF can successfully mobilize CD34+ cells from non-Hodgkin"s lymphoma, Hodgkin"s disease and multiple myeloma patients previously failing mobilization with chemotherapy and/or cytokine treatment: compassionate use data. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 41: 331–338, 2008.
- 44. Cameron PU, Saleh S, Sallmann G, Solomon A, Wightman F, Evans VA, Boucher G, Haddad EK, Sekaly R-P, Harman AN, Anderson JL, Jones KL, Mak J, Cunningham AL, Jaworowski A, Lewin SR. Establishment of HIV-1 latency in resting CD4+ T cells depends on chemokine-induced changes in the actin cytoskeleton. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 107: 16934–16939, 2010.
- 45. **Cao Y**, **Qin L**, **Zhang L**, **Safrit J**, **Ho DD**. Virologic and immunologic characterization of long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 332: 201–208, 1995.
- 46. **Cardozo T, Kimura T, Philpott S, Weiser B, Burger H, Zolla-Pazner S**. Structural basis for coreceptor selectivity by the HIV type 1 V3 loop. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 23: 415–426, 2007.
- 47. Carmona R, Perez-Alvarez L, Munoz M, Casado G, Delgado E, Sierra M, Thomson M, Vega Y, Vázquez de Parga E, Contreras G, Medrano L, Nájera R. Natural resistance-associated mutations to Enfuvirtide (T20) and polymorphisms in the gp41 region of different HIV-1 genetic forms



from T20 naive patients. J Clin Virol 32: 248-253, 2005.

- 48. Caseiro MM, Nelson M, Diaz RS, Gathe J, de Andrade Neto JL, Slim J, Solano A, Netto EM, Mak C, Shen J, Greaves W, Dunkle LM, Vilchez RA, Zeinecker J. Vicriviroc plus optimized background therapy for treatment-experienced subjects with CCR5 HIV-1 infection: final results of two randomized phase III trials. *J Infect* 65: 326–335, 2012.
- 49. **Castro BA**, **Walker CM**, **Eichberg JW**, **Levy JA**. Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus replication by CD8+ cells from infected and uninfected chimpanzees. *Cell Immunol* 132: 246–255, 1991.
- 50. **Chabot DJ**, **Chen H**, **Dimitrov DS**, **Broder CC**. N-linked glycosylation of CXCR4 masks coreceptor function for CCR5-dependent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates. *J Virol* 74: 4404–4413, 2000.
- 51. Chalmet K, Dauwe K, Foquet L, Baatz F, Seguin-Devaux C, Van Der Gucht B, Vogelaers D, Vandekerckhove L, Plum J, Verhofstede C. Presence of CXCR4-using HIV-1 in patients with recently diagnosed infection: correlates and evidence for transmission. *J Infect Dis* 205: 174– 184, 2012.
- 52. **Chan DC**, **Fass D**, **Berger JM**, **Kim PS**. Core structure of gp41 from the HIV envelope glycoprotein. *Cell* 89: 263–273, 1997.
- 53. Charneau P, Mirambeau G, Roux P, Paulous S, Buc H, Clavel F. HIV-1 reverse transcription. A termination step at the center of the genome. *J Mol Biol* 241: 651–662, 1994.
- 54. Chesterman CN, McGready JR, Doyle DJ, Morgan FJ. Plasma levels of platelet factor 4 measured by radioimmunoassay. *Br J Haematol* 40: 489–500, 1978.
- 55. Choe H, Farzan M, Sun Y, Sullivan N, Rollins B, Ponath PD, Wu L, Mackay CR, LaRosa G, Newman W, Gerard N, Gerard C, Sodroski J. The beta-chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 facilitate infection by primary HIV-1 isolates. *Cell* 85: 1135–1148, 1996.
- 56. Chohan B, Lang D, Sagar M, Korber B, Lavreys L, Richardson B, Overbaugh J. Selection for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycosylation variants with shorter V1-V2 loop sequences occurs during transmission of certain genetic subtypes and may impact viral RNA levels. J Virol 79: 6528–6531, 2005.
- 57. Cicala C, Martinelli E, McNally JP, Goode DJ, Gopaul R, Hiatt J, Jelicic K, Kottilil S, Macleod K, O'Shea A, Patel N, Van Ryk D, Wei D, Pascuccio M, Yi L, McKinnon L, Izulla P, Kimani J, Kaul R, Fauci AS,



Arthos J. The integrin alpha4beta7 forms a complex with cell-surface CD4 and defines a T-cell subset that is highly susceptible to infection by HIV-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106: 20877–20882, 2009.

- 58. Clotet B, Bellos N, Molina J-M, Cooper D, Goffard J-C, Lazzarin A, Wöhrmann A, Katlama C, Wilkin T, Haubrich R, Cohen C, Farthing C, Jayaweera D, Markowitz M, Ruane P, Spinosa-Guzman S, Lefebvre E. Efficacy and safety of darunavir-ritonavir at week 48 in treatmentexperienced patients with HIV-1 infection in POWER 1 and 2: a pooled subgroup analysis of data from two randomised trials. *Lancet* 369: 1169– 1178, 2007.
- 59. Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Garzino-Demo A, Arya SK, Gallo RC, Lusso P. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIV-suppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells. *Science* 270: 1811, 1995.
- 60. Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Lu W, Popovic M, Latinovic O, Sajadi MM, Redfield RR, Lafferty MK, Galli M, Garzino-Demo A, Gallo RC. Soluble factors from T cells inhibiting X4 strains of HIV are a mixture of β chemokines and RNases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109: 5411–5416, 2012.
- 61. Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Yarchoan R, Redfield R, Cleghorn F, Blattner WA, Garzino-Demo A, Colombini-Hatch S, Margolis D, Gallo RC. Higher macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1alpha and MIP-1beta levels from CD8+ T cells are associated with asymptomatic HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97: 13812–13817, 2000.
- 62. **Coffin JM**, **Hughes SH**, **Varmus HE**. Retroviral Env Gene Products: Receptor Binding and Host-Range Determinants.
- 63. **Connor EM**, **Sperling RS**, **Gelber R**. Reduction of maternal-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with zidovudine treatment. *... England Journal of*
- 64. **Connor RI**, **Sheridan KE**, **Ceradini D**, **Choe S**, **Landau NR**. Change in coreceptor use correlates with disease progression in HIV-1--infected individuals. *J Exp Med* 185: 621–628, 1997.
- 65. **Coombs RW**, **Reichelderfer PS**, **Landay AL**. Recent observations on HIV type-1 infection in the genital tract of men and women. *AIDS* 17: 455–480, 2003.
- 66. **Corrales-Medina VF**, **Simkins J**, **Chirinos JA**, **Serpa JA**, **Horstman LL**, **Jy W**, **Ahn Y-S**. Increased levels of platelet microparticles in HIVinfected patients with good response to highly active antiretroviral



therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 54: 217–218, 2010.

- 67. **Crum-Cianflone NF**, **Weekes J**, **Bavaro M**. Review: thromboses among HIV-infected patients during the highly active antiretroviral therapy era. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 22: 771–778, 2008.
- 68. **Curlin ME**, **Zioni R**, **Hawes SE**, **Liu Y**, **Deng W**, **Gottlieb GS**, **Zhu T**, **Mullins JI**. HIV-1 Envelope Subregion Length Variation during Disease Progression. *PLoS* ... 6: e1001228, 2010.
- 69. **Daar ES**, **Li XL**, **Moudgil T**, **Ho DD**. High concentrations of recombinant soluble CD4 are required to neutralize primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 87: 6574–6578, 1990.
- 70. Damås JK, Landrø L, Fevang B, Heggelund L, Frøland SS, Aukrust P. Enhanced levels of the CCR7 ligands CCL19 and CCL21 in HIV infection: correlation with viral load, disease progression and response to highly active antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 23: 135–138, 2009.
- 71. Deng H, Liu R, Ellmeier W, Choe S, Unutmaz D, Burkhart M, Di Marzio P, Marmon S, Sutton RE, Hill CM, Davis CB, Peiper SC, Schall TJ, Littman DR, Landau NR. Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. *Nature* 381: 661–666, 1996.
- 72. **Denton PW**, **Estes JD**, **Sun Z**, **Othieno FA**, **Wei BL**, **Wege AK**, **Powell DA**, **Payne D**, **Haase AT**, **Garcia JV**. Antiretroviral pre-exposure prophylaxis prevents vaginal transmission of HIV-1 in humanized BLT mice. *PLoS Med* 5: e16, 2008.
- 73. Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Mokili JL, Muldoon M, Denham SA, Heil ML, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Korber BT, Allen S, Hunter E. Envelope-constrained neutralizationsensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. *Science* 303: 2019– 2022, 2004.
- 74. **DeVico AL**, **Gallo RC**. Control of HIV-1 infection by soluble factors of the immune response. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2: 401–413, 2004.
- 75. Devine SM, Flomenberg N, Vesole DH, Liesveld J, Weisdorf D, Badel K, Calandra G, DiPersio JF. Rapid mobilization of CD34+ cells following administration of the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 to patients with multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* 22: 1095–1102, 2004.
- 76. **Dogo-Isonagie C**, Lam S, Gustchina E, Acharya P, Yang Y, Shahzadul-Hussan S, Clore GM, Kwong PD, Bewley CA. Peptides from Second Extracellular Loop of C-C Chemokine Receptor Type 5 (CCR5) Inhibit



Diverse Strains of HIV-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287: 15076–15086, 2012.

- 77. **Doms RW**, **Moore JP**. HIV-1 membrane fusion: targets of opportunity. *J Cell Biol* 151: F9–14, 2000.
- 78. Donzella GA, Schols D, Lin SW, Esté JA, Nagashima KA, Maddon PJ, Allaway GP, Sakmar TP, Henson G, DeClercq E, Moore JP. AMD3100, a small molecule inhibitor of HIV-1 entry via the CXCR4 correceptor. Nat Med 4: 72–77, 1998.
- 79. Doranz B. A Dual-Tropic Primary HIV-1 Isolate That Uses Fusin and the β-Chemokine Receptors CKR-5, CKR-3, and CKR-2b as Fusion Cofactors. *Cell* 85: 1149–1158, 1996.
- 80. Dorr P, Westby M, Dobbs S, Griffin P, Irvine B, Macartney M, Mori J, Rickett G, Smith-Burchnell C, Napier C, Webster R, Armour D, Price D, Stammen B, Wood A, Perros M. Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a potent, orally bioavailable, and selective small-molecule inhibitor of chemokine receptor CCR5 with broad-spectrum anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 49: 4721–4732, 2005.
- 81. Dragic T, Litwin V, Allaway GP, Martin SR, Huang Y, Nagashima KA, Cayanan C, Maddon PJ, Koup RA, Moore JP, Paxton WA. HIV-1 entry into CD4+ cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CC-CKR-5. *Nature* 381: 667–673, 1996.
- 82. Dragic T, Trkola A, Thompson DA, Cormier EG, Kajumo FA, Maxwell E, Lin SW, Ying W, Smith SO, Sakmar TP, Moore JP. A binding pocket for a small molecule inhibitor of HIV-1 entry within the transmembrane helices of CCR5. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97: 5639–5644, 2000.
- 83. Ennen J, Findeklee H, Dittmar MT, Norley S, Ernst M, Kurth R. CD8+ T lymphocytes of African green monkeys secrete an immunodeficiency virus-suppressing lymphokine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91: 7207–7211, 1994.
- 84. **Farzan M**, **Mirzabekov T**, **Kolchinsky P**, **Wyatt R**, **Cayabyab M**, **Gerard NP**, **Gerard C**, **Sodroski J**, **Choe H**. Tyrosine sulfation of the amino terminus of CCR5 facilitates HIV-1 entry. *Cell* 96: 667–676, 1999.
- 85. Fätkenheuer G, Nelson M, Lazzarin A, Konourina I, Hoepelman AIM, Lampiris H, Hirschel B, Tebas P, Raffi F, Trottier B, Bellos N, Saag M, Cooper DA, Westby M, Tawadrous M, Sullivan JF, Ridgway C, Dunne MW, Felstead S, Mayer H, van der Ryst E, MOTIVATE 1 and MOTIVATE 2 Study Teams. Subgroup analyses of maraviroc in previously treated R5 HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med 359: 1442–1455,



2008.

- 86. Fätkenheuer G, Pozniak AL, Johnson MA, Plettenberg A, Staszewski S, Hoepelman AIM, Saag MS, Goebel FD, Rockstroh JK, Dezube BJ, Jenkins TM, Medhurst C, Sullivan JF, Ridgway C, Abel S, James IT, Youle M, van der Ryst E. Efficacy of short-term monotherapy with maraviroc, a new CCR5 antagonist, in patients infected with HIV-1. Nat Med 11: 1170–1172, 2005.
- 87. **Feinstein DI**. Diagnosis and management of disseminated intravascular coagulation: the role of heparin therapy. *Blood* 60: 284–287, 1982.
- 88. **Feng Y**, **Broder CC**, **Kennedy PE**, **Berger EA**. HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* 272: 872–877, 1996.
- 89. Files JC, Malpass TW, Yee EK, Ritchie JL, Harker LA. Studies of human plate alpha-granule release in vivo. *Blood* 58: 607–618, 1981.
- 90. **Fisher RA, Bertonis JM, Meier W, Johnson VA, Costopoulos DS, Liu T, Tizard R, Walker BD, Hirsch MS, Schooley RT**. HIV infection is blocked in vitro by recombinant soluble CD4. *Nature* 331: 76–78, 1988.
- 91. Flomenberg N, Devine SM, DiPersio JF, Liesveld JL, McCarty JM, Rowley SD, Vesole DH, Badel K, Calandra G. The use of AMD3100 plus G-CSF for autologous hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization is superior to G-CSF alone. *Blood* 106: 1867–1874, 2005.
- 92. Fouda GG, Mahlokozera T, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Learn G, Kumar SB, Dennison SM, Russell E, Rizzolo K, Jaeger F, Cai F, Vandergrift NA, Gao F, Hahn B, Shaw GM, Ochsenbauer C, Swanstrom R, Meshnick S, Mwapasa V, Kalilani L, Fiscus S, Montefiori D, Haynes B, Kwiek J, Alam SM, Permar SR. Postnatally-transmitted HIV-1 Envelope variants have similar neutralization-sensitivity and function to that of nontransmitted breast milk variants. *Retrovirology* 10: 3, 2013.
- 93. Frange P, Meyer L, Jung M, Goujard C, Zucman D, Abel S, Hochedez P, Gousset M, Gascuel O, Rouzioux C, Chaix M-L, ANRS PRIMO Cohort Study Group. Sexually-transmitted/founder HIV-1 cannot be directly predicted from plasma or PBMC-derived viral quasispecies in the transmitting partner. *PLoS ONE* 8: e69144, 2013.
- 94. **Gallo SA**, **Reeves JD**, **Garg H**, **Foley B**, **Doms RW**, **Blumenthal R**. Kinetic studies of HIV-1 and HIV-2 envelope glycoprotein-mediated fusion. *Retrovirology* 3: 90, 2006.



- 95. Geijtenbeek TB, Kwon DS, Torensma R, van Vliet SJ, van Duijnhoven GC, Middel J, Cornelissen IL, Nottet HS, KewalRamani VN, Littman DR, Figdor CG, van Kooyk Y. DC-SIGN, a dendritic cellspecific HIV-1-binding protein that enhances trans-infection of T cells. *Cell* 100: 587–597, 2000.
- 96. Gnanakaran S, Bhattacharya T, Daniels M, Keele BF, Hraber PT, Lapedes AS, Shen T, Gaschen B, Krishnamoorthy M, Li H, Decker JM, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Wang S, Jiang C, Gao F, Swanstrom R, Anderson JA, Ping L-H, Cohen MS, Markowitz M, Goepfert PA, Saag MS, Eron JJ, Hicks CB, Blattner WA, Tomaras GD, Asmal M, Letvin NL, Gilbert PB, DeCamp AC, Magaret CA, Schief WR, Ban Y-EA, Zhang M, Soderberg KA, Sodroski JG, Haynes BF, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Korber B. Recurrent Signature Patterns in HIV-1 B Clade Envelope Glycoproteins Associated with either Early or Chronic Infections. *PLoS Pathog* 7: e1002209, 2011.
- 97. **Gordon CJ**, **Muesing MA**, **Proudfoot AE**, **Power CA**, **Moore JP**, **Trkola A**. Enhancement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection by the CC-chemokine RANTES is independent of the mechanism of virus-cell fusion. *J Virol* 73: 684–694, 1999.
- 98. Gorry PR, Taylor J, Holm GH, Mehle A, Morgan T, Cayabyab M, Farzan M, Wang H, Bell JE, Kunstman K, Moore JP, Wolinsky SM, Gabuzda D. Increased CCR5 affinity and reduced CCR5/CD4 dependence of a neurovirulent primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate. *J Virol* 76: 6277–6292, 2002.
- 99. **Gómez AM**, **Smaill FM**, **Rosenthal KL**. Inhibition of HIV replication by CD8+ T cells correlates with CD4 counts and clinical stage of disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 97: 68–75, 1994.
- 100. Gray L, Sterjovski J, Churchill M, Ellery P, Nasr N, Lewin SR, Crowe SM, Wesselingh SL, Cunningham AL, Gorry PR. Uncoupling coreceptor usage of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) from macrophage tropism reveals biological properties of CCR5-restricted HIV-1 isolates from patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Virology* 337: 384–398, 2005.
- 101. Gray RH, Wawer MJ, Brookmeyer R, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Wabwire-Mangen F, Lutalo T, Li X, vanCott T, Quinn TC, Rakai Project Team. Probability of HIV-1 transmission per coital act in monogamous, heterosexual, HIV-1-discordant couples in Rakai, Uganda. Lancet 357: 1149–1153, 2001.
- 102. Gulick RM, Lalezari J, Goodrich J, Clumeck N, DeJesus E, Horban A,



Nadler J, Clotet B, Karlsson A, Wohlfeiler M, Montana JB, McHale M, Sullivan J, Ridgway C, Felstead S, Dunne MW, van der Ryst E, Mayer H, MOTIVATE Study Teams. Maraviroc for previously treated patients with R5 HIV-1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 359: 1429–1441, 2008.

- 103. Gulick RM, Lalezari J, Goodrich J, Clumeck N, DeJesus E, Horban A, Nadler J, Clotet B, Karlsson A, Wohlfeiler M, Montana JB, McHale M, Sullivan J, Ridgway C, Felstead S, Dunne MW, van der Ryst E, Mayer H. Maraviroc for Previously Treated Patients with R5 HIV-1 Infection. N Engl J Med 359: 1429–1441, 2008.
- 104. Gulick RM, Su Z, Flexner C, Hughes MD, Skolnik PR, Wilkin TJ, Gross R, Krambrink A, Coakley E, Greaves WL, Zolopa A, Reichman R, Godfrey C, Hirsch M, Kuritzkes DR, AIDS Clinical Trials Group 5211 Team. Phase 2 study of the safety and efficacy of vicriviroc, a CCR5 inhibitor, in HIV-1-Infected, treatment-experienced patients: AIDS clinical trials group 5211. J Infect Dis 196: 304–312, 2007.
- 105. Haaland RE, Hawkins PA, Salazar-Gonzalez J, Johnson A, Tichacek A, Karita E, Manigart O, Mulenga J, Keele BF, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Allen SA, Derdeyn CA, Hunter E. Inflammatory genital infections mitigate a severe genetic bottleneck in heterosexual transmission of subtype A and C HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog* 5: e1000274, 2009.
- 106. **Handel TM**, **Johnson Z**, **Crown SE**, **Lau EK**, **Proudfoot AE**. Regulation of protein function by glycosaminoglycans--as exemplified by chemokines. *Annu Rev Biochem* 74: 385–410, 2005.
- 107. Hanna GJ, Lalezari J, Hellinger JA, Wohl DA, Nettles R, Persson A, Krystal M, Lin P, Colonno R, Grasela DM. Antiviral activity, pharmacokinetics, and safety of BMS-488043, a novel oral smallmolecule HIV-1 attachment inhibitor, in HIV-1-infected subjects. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 55: 722–728, 2011.
- 108. Harrison JE, Lynch JB, Sierra L-J, Blackburn LA, Ray N, Collman RG, Doms RW. Baseline resistance of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 strains to the CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100. *J Virol* 82: 11695–11704, 2008.
- 109. **Hartley O**, **Klasse PJ**, **Sattentau QJ**, **Moore JP**. V3: HIV's switch-hitter. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 21: 171–189, 2005.
- 110. Hendrix CW, Flexner C, MacFarland RT, Giandomenico C, Fuchs EJ, Redpath E, Bridger G, Henson GW. Pharmacokinetics and Safety of AMD-3100, a Novel Antagonist of the CXCR-4 Chemokine Receptor, in Human Volunteers. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 44: 1667–1673, 2000.



- 111. Henrich TJ, Lewine NRP, Lee S-H, Rao SSP, Berro R, Gulick RM, Moore JP, Tsibris AMN, Kuritzkes DR. Differential use of CCR5 by HIV-1 clinical isolates resistant to small-molecule CCR5 antagonists. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 56: 1931–1935, 2012.
- 112. Hicks CB, Cahn P, Cooper DA, Walmsley SL, Katlama C, Clotet B, Lazzarin A, Johnson MA, Neubacher D, Mayers D, Valdez H, RESIST investigator group. Durable efficacy of tipranavir-ritonavir in combination with an optimised background regimen of antiretroviral drugs for treatment-experienced HIV-1-infected patients at 48 weeks in the Randomized Evaluation of Strategic Intervention in multi-drug reSistant patients with Tipranavir (RESIST) studies: an analysis of combined data from two randomised open-label trials. *Lancet* 368: 466–475, 2006.
- 113. **Holme PA**, **Müller F**, **Solum NO**, **Brosstad F**, **Frøland SS**, **Aukrust P**. Enhanced activation of platelets with abnormal release of RANTES in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *FASEB J* 12: 79–90, 1998.
- 114. Hong PW-P, Flummerfelt KB, de Parseval A, Gurney K, Elder JH, Lee B. Human immunodeficiency virus envelope (gp120) binding to DC-SIGN and primary dendritic cells is carbohydrate dependent but does not involve 2G12 or cyanovirin binding sites: implications for structural analyses of gp120-DC-SIGN binding. J Virol 76: 12855–12865, 2002.
- 115. **Hu PF**, **Li XC**, **Lei N**, **Lan XY**, **Zhao QJ**, **Guan WJ**, **Ma YH**. Study on characteristics of chemokine CXCL10 gene cloned from cDNA expression library of Ujumqin sheep. *Biomed Res Int* 2013: 217942, 2013.
- 116. **Huang SS**, **Huang JS**, **Deuel TF**. Proteoglycan carrier of human platelet factor 4. Isolation and characterization. *J Biol Chem* 257: 11546–11550, 1982.
- 117. Huang Y, Paxton WA, Wolinsky SM, Neumann AU, Zhang L, He T, Kang S, Ceradini D, Jin Z, Yazdanbakhsh K, Kunstman K, Erickson D, Dragon E, Landau NR, Phair J, Ho DD, Koup RA. The role of a mutant CCR5 allele in HIV-1 transmission and disease progression. *Nat Med* 2: 1240–1243, 1996.
- 118. **Hundelshausen von P**, **Petersen F**, **Brandt E**. Platelet-derived chemokines in vascular biology. *Thromb Haemost* 97: 704–713, 2007.
- 119. Hussey RE, Richardson NE, Kowalski M, Brown NR, Chang HC, Siliciano RF, Dorfman T, Walker B, Sodroski J, Reinherz EL. A soluble CD4 protein selectively inhibits HIV replication and syncytium


formation. Nature 331: 78-81, 1988.

- 120. Jacobson JM, Israel RJ, Lowy I, Ostrow NA, Vassilatos LS, Barish M, Tran DNH, Sullivan BM, Ketas TJ, O'Neill TJ, Nagashima KA, Huang W, Petropoulos CJ, Moore JP, Maddon PJ, Olson WC. Treatment of advanced human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease with the viral entry inhibitor PRO 542. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 48: 423–429, 2004.
- 121. Jiang C, Parrish NF, Wilen CB, Li H, Chen Y, Pavlicek JW, Berg A, Lu X, Song H, Tilton JC, Pfaff JM, Henning EA, Decker JM, Moody MA, Drinker MS, Schutte R, Freel S, Tomaras GD, Nedellec R, Mosier DE, Haynes BF, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Doms RW, Gao F. Primary infection by a human immunodeficiency virus with atypical coreceptor tropism. *J Virol* 85: 10669–10681, 2011.
- 122. **Jiang S**, **Zhao Q**, **Debnath AK**. Peptide and non-peptide HIV fusion inhibitors. *Curr Pharm Des* 8: 563–580, 2002.
- 123. Jin H, Hayes GL, Darbha NS, Meyer E, LiWang PJ. Investigation of CC and CXC chemokine quaternary state mutants. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 338: 987–999, 2005.
- 124. **Johnson VA**. Combination therapy: more effective control of HIV type 1? *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 10: 907–912, 1994.
- 125. **Johnson Z**, **Proudfoot AE**, **Handel TM**. Interaction of chemokines and glycosaminoglycans: a new twist in the regulation of chemokine function with opportunities for therapeutic intervention. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 16: 625–636, 2005.
- 126. Johnston SH, Lobritz MA, Nguyen S, Lassen K, Delair S, Posta F, Bryson YJ, Arts EJ, Chou T, Lee B. A quantitative affinity-profiling system that reveals distinct CD4/CCR5 usage patterns among human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus strains. *J Virol* 83: 11016–11026, 2009.
- 127. Joseph S, Ping L, Anderson J, Kincer L, Morris L, Hahn B, Williamson C, Swanstrom R. Heterosexual Transmission Selects for Virus that Requires High Levels f CD4 to Enter Cells and is More Homogenous in its Sensitivity to CCR5 Antagonists. 19th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections: [no date].
- 128. **Kaplan KL**, **Owen J**. Plasma levels of beta-thromboglobulin and platelet factor 4 as indices of platelet activation in vivo. *Blood* 57: 199–202, 1981.
- 129. Karlsson I, Antonsson L, Shi Y, Oberg M, Karlsson A, Albert J, Olde



B, **Owman C**, **Jansson M**, **Fenyö EM**. Coevolution of RANTES sensitivity and mode of CCR5 receptor use by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 of the R5 phenotype. *J Virol* 78: 11807–11815, 2004.

- Kazmierski W, Bifulco N, Yang H, Boone L, DeAnda F, Watson C, Kenakin T. Recent progress in discovery of small-molecule CCR5 chemokine receptor ligands as HIV-1 inhibitors. *Bioorg Med Chem* 11: 2663–2676, 2003.
- 131. Keele BF, Giorgi EE, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Decker JM, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Sun C, Grayson T, Wang S, Li H, Wei X, Jiang C, Kirchherr JL, Gao F, Anderson JA, Ping L-H, Swanstrom R, Tomaras GD, Blattner WA, Goepfert PA, Kilby JM, Saag MS, Delwart EL, Busch MP, Cohen MS, Montefiori DC, Haynes BF, Gaschen B, Athreya GS, Lee HY, Wood N, Seoighe C, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105: 7552–7557, 2008.
- 132. Kelly MD, Naif HM, Adams SL, Cunningham AL, Lloyd AR. Cutting Edge: Dichotomous Effects of β-Chemokines on HIV Replication in Monocytes and Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *J Immunol* 160: 3091– 3095, 1998.
- 133. **Kenakin T**. Allosteric modulators: the new generation of receptor antagonist. *Mol Interv* 4: 222–229, 2004.
- 134. Kilby JM, Hopkins S, Venetta TM, DiMassimo B, Cloud GA, Lee JY, Alldredge L, Hunter E, Lambert D, Bolognesi D, Matthews T, Johnson MR, Nowak MA, Shaw GM, Saag MS. Potent suppression of HIV-1 replication in humans by T-20, a peptide inhibitor of gp41-mediated virus entry. Nat Med 4: 1302–1307, 1998.
- 135. Kinter A, Catanzaro A, Monaco J, Ruiz M, Justement J, Moir S, Arthos J, Oliva A, Ehler L, Mizell S, Jackson R, Ostrowski M, Hoxie J, Offord R, Fauci AS. CC-chemokines enhance the replication of Ttropic strains of HIV-1 in CD4(+) T cells: role of signal transduction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95: 11880–11885, 1998.
- 136. Kirchherr JL, Hamilton J, Lu X, Gnanakaran S, Muldoon M, Daniels M, Kasongo W, Chalwe V, Mulenga C, Mwananyanda L, Musonda RM, Yuan X, Montefiori DC, Korber BT, Haynes BF, Gao F. Identification of amino acid substitutions associated with neutralization phenotype in the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 subtype C gp120. Virology 409: 163–174, 2011.



- 137. **Klasse PJ**. Modeling how many envelope glycoprotein trimers per virion participate in human immunodeficiency virus infectivity and its neutralization by antibody. *Virology* 369: 245–262, 2007.
- 138. Kliger Y, Gallo SA, Peisajovich SG, Munoz-Barroso I, Avkin S, Blumenthal R, Shai Y. Mode of action of an antiviral peptide from HIV-1. Inhibition at a post-lipid mixing stage. *J Biol Chem* 276: 1391–1397, 2001.
- 139. **Kobilka BK**, **Deupi X**. Conformational complexity of G-protein-coupled receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 28: 397–406, 2007.
- 140. **Korniejewska A**, **McKnight AJ**, **Johnson Z**, **Watson ML**, **Ward SG**. Expression and agonist responsiveness of CXCR3 variants in human T lymphocytes. *Immunology* 132: 503–515, 2011.
- 141. **Kowalska MA**, **Rauova L**, **Poncz M**. Role of the platelet chemokine platelet factor 4 (PF4) in hemostasis and thrombosis. *Thromb Res* 125: 292–296, 2010.
- 142. **Kuhmann SE**, **Platt EJ**, **Kozak SL**, **Kabat D**. Cooperation of multiple CCR5 coreceptors is required for infections by human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 74: 7005–7015, 2000.
- 143. Kuhmann SE, Pugach P, Kunstman KJ, Taylor J, Stanfield RL, Snyder A, Strizki JM, Riley J, Baroudy BM, Wilson IA, Korber BT, Wolinsky SM, Moore JP. Genetic and Phenotypic Analyses of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Escape from a Small-Molecule CCR5 Inhibitor. J Virol 78: 2790–2807, 2004.
- 144. **Kuschert GS**, **Coulin F**, **Power CA**, **Proudfoot AE**, **Hubbard RE**, **Hoogewerf AJ**, **Wells TN**. Glycosaminoglycans interact selectively with chemokines and modulate receptor binding and cellular responses. *Biochemistry* 38: 12959–12968, 1999.
- 145. Kwong PD, Wyatt R, Robinson J, Sweet RW, Sodroski J, Hendrickson WA. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. *Nature* 393: 648–659, 1998.
- 146. Laakso MM, Lee F-H, Haggarty B, Agrawal C, Nolan KM, Biscone M, Romano J, Jordan APO, Leslie GJ, Meissner EG, Su L, Hoxie JA, Doms RW. V3 loop truncations in HIV-1 envelope impart resistance to coreceptor inhibitors and enhanced sensitivity to neutralizing antibodies. *PLoS Pathog* 3: e117, 2007.
- 147. Lalezari J, Thompson M, Kumar P, Piliero P, Davey R, Patterson K, Shachoy-Clark A, Adkison K, Demarest J, Lou Y, Berrey M, Piscitelli



S. Antiviral activity and safety of 873140, a novel CCR5 antagonist, during short-term monotherapy in HIV-infected adults. *AIDS* 19: 1443–1448, 2005.

- 148. Lambert AA, Gilbert C, Richard M, Beaulieu AD, Tremblay MJ. The Ctype lectin surface receptor DCIR acts as a new attachment factor for HIV-1 in dendritic cells and contributes to trans- and cis-infection pathways. *Blood* 112: 1299–1307, 2008.
- 149. Landovitz RJ, Angel JB, Hoffmann C, Horst H, Opravil M, Long J, Greaves W, Fätkenheuer G. Phase II study of vicriviroc versus efavirenz (both with zidovudine/lamivudine) in treatment-naive subjects with HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 198: 1113–1122, 2008.
- 150. Lasagni L, Francalanci M, Annunziato F, Lazzeri E, Giannini S, Cosmi L, Sagrinati C, Mazzinghi B, Orlando C, Maggi E, Marra F, Romagnani S, Serio M, Romagnani P. An alternatively spliced variant of CXCR3 mediates the inhibition of endothelial cell growth induced by IP-10, Mig, and I-TAC, and acts as functional receptor for platelet factor 4. J Exp Med 197: 1537–1549, 2003.
- 151. Lazzarin A, Clotet B, Cooper D, Reynes J, Arastéh K, Nelson M, Katlama C, Stellbrink H-J, Delfraissy J-F, Lange J, Huson L, DeMasi R, Wat C, Delehanty J, Drobnes C, Salgo M, TORO 2 Study Group. Efficacy of enfuvirtide in patients infected with drug-resistant HIV-1 in Europe and Australia. N Engl J Med 348: 2186–2195, 2003.
- 152. Learn GH, Muthui D, Brodie SJ, Zhu T, Diem K, Mullins JI, Corey L. Virus population homogenization following acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol* 76: 11953–11959, 2002.
- 153. Lee BB, Sharron MM, Blanpain CC, Doranz BJB, Vakili JJ, Setoh PP, Berg EE, Liu GG, Guy HRH, Durell SRS, Parmentier MM, Chang CNC, Price KK, Tsang MM, Doms RWR. Epitope mapping of CCR5 reveals multiple conformational states and distinct but overlapping structures involved in chemokine and coreceptor function. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274: 9617–9626, 1999.
- 154. Lee HY, Giorgi EE, Keele BF, Gaschen B, Athreya GS, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Pham KT, Goepfert PA, Michael Kilby J, Saag MS, Delwart EL, Busch MP, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Korber BT, Bhattacharya T, Perelson AS. Modeling sequence evolution in acute HIV-1 infection. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 261: 341–360, 2009.
- 155. **Levine SP**, **Knieriem LK**, **Rager MA**. Platelet factor 4 and the platelet secreted proteoglycan: immunologic characterization by crossed



immunoelectrophoresis. Blood 75: 902-910, 1990.

- 156. Levine SP, Wohl H. Human platelet factor 4: Purification and characterization by affinity chromatography. Purification of human platelet factor 4. *J Biol Chem* 251: 324–328, 1976.
- 157. Li B, Decker JM, Johnson RW, Bibollet-Ruche F, Wei X, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Blackwell JL, Derdeyn CA. Evidence for potent autologous neutralizing antibody titers and compact envelopes in early infection with subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 80: 5211–5218, 2006.
- 158. Li H, Bar KJ, Wang S, Decker JM, Chen Y, Sun C, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Learn GH, Morgan CJ, Schumacher JE, Hraber P, Giorgi EE, Bhattacharya T, Korber BT, Perelson AS, Eron JJ, Cohen MS, Hicks CB, Haynes BF, Markowitz M, Keele BF, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. High Multiplicity Infection by HIV-1 in Men Who Have Sex with Men. *PLoS Pathog* 6: e1000890, 2010.
- 159. Lin P-F, Blair W, Wang T, Spicer T, Guo Q, Zhou N, Gong Y-F, Wang H-GH, Rose R, Yamanaka G, Robinson B, Li C-B, Fridell R, Deminie C, Demers G, Yang Z, Zadjura L, Meanwell N, Colonno R. A small molecule HIV-1 inhibitor that targets the HIV-1 envelope and inhibits CD4 receptor binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100: 11013–11018, 2003.
- 160. Liu R, Paxton WA, Choe S, Ceradini D, Martin SR, Horuk R, MacDonald ME, Stuhlmann H, Koup RA, Landau NR. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiplyexposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. *Cell* 86: 367–377, 1996.
- 161. Liu S, Zhao Q, Jiang S. Determination of the HIV-1 gp41 fusogenic core conformation modeled by synthetic peptides: applicable for identification of HIV-1 fusion inhibitors. *Peptides* 24: 1303–1313, 2003.
- 162. Liu Y, Curlin ME, Diem K, Zhao H, Ghosh AK, Zhu H, Woodward AS, Maenza J, Stevens CE, Stekler J, Collier AC, Genowati I, Deng W, Zioni R, Corey L, Zhu T, Mullins JI. Env length and N-linked glycosylation following transmission of human immunodeficiency virus Type 1 subtype B viruses. *Virology* 374: 229–233, 2008.
- 163. **Loscalzo J**, **Melnick B**, **Handin RI**. The interaction of platelet factor four and glycosaminoglycans. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 240: 446–455, 1985.
- 164. Low AJ, McGovern RA, Harrigan PR. Trofile HIV co-receptor usage assay. *Expert Opin Med Diagn* 3: 181–191, 2009.



- 165. **Luster AD**. Chemokines--chemotactic cytokines that mediate inflammation. *N Engl J Med* 338: 436–445, 1998.
- 166. Mack M, Luckow B, Nelson PJ, Cihak J, Simmons G, Clapham PR, Signoret N, Marsh M, Stangassinger M, Borlat F, Wells TN, Schlöndorff D, Proudfoot AE. Aminooxypentane-RANTES induces CCR5 internalization but inhibits recycling: a novel inhibitory mechanism of HIV infectivity. J Exp Med 187: 1215–1224, 1998.
- 167. **Mackewicz CE**, **Ortega HW**, **Levy JA**. CD8+ cell anti-HIV activity correlates with the clinical state of the infected individual. *J Clin Invest* 87: 1462–1466, 1991.
- 168. **Maddon PJ**, **Dalgleish AG**, **McDougal JS**, **Clapham PR**, **Weiss RA**, **Axel R**. The T4 gene encodes the AIDS virus receptor and is expressed in the immune system and the brain. *Cell* 47: 333–348, 1986.
- 169. **Maréchal V**, **Arenzana-Seisdedos F**, **Heard J-M**, **Schwartz O**. Opposite Effects of SDF-1 on Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Replication. *J Virol* 73: 3608–3615, 1999.
- 170. Marozsan AJ, Kuhmann SE, Morgan T, Herrera C, Rivera-Troche E, Xu S, Baroudy BM, Strizki J, Moore JP. Generation and properties of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate resistant to the small molecule CCR5 inhibitor, SCH-417690 (SCH-D). *Virology* 338: 182–199, 2005.
- 171. **Martín-García J, Cao W, Varela-Rohena A, Plassmeyer ML, González-Scarano F.** HIV-1 tropism for the central nervous system: Brain-derived envelope glycoproteins with lower CD4 dependence and reduced sensitivity to a fusion inhibitor. *Virology* 346: 169–179, 2006.
- 172. **Mayo KH**, **Chen MJ**. Human platelet factor 4 monomer-dimer-tetramer equilibria investigated by proton NMR spectroscopy. *Biochemistry* 28: 9469–9478, 1989.
- McDougal JS, Kennedy MS, Sligh JM, Cort SP, Mawle A, Nicholson JK. Binding of HTLV-III/LAV to T4+ T cells by a complex of the 110K viral protein and the T4 molecule. *Science* 231: 382–385, 1986.
- 174. **Melikyan GB**, **Markosyan RM**, **Hemmati H**, **Delmedico MK**, **Lambert DM**, **Cohen FS**. Evidence that the transition of HIV-1 gp41 into a six-helix bundle, not the bundle configuration, induces membrane fusion. *J Cell Biol* 151: 413–423, 2000.
- 175. **Melikyan GB**. HIV entry: a game of hide-and-fuse? *Curr Opin Virol* 4: 1–7, 2014.



- 176. Melkus MW, Estes JD, Padgett-Thomas A, Gatlin J, Denton PW, Othieno FA, Wege AK, Haase AT, Garcia JV. Humanized mice mount specific adaptive and innate immune responses to EBV and TSST-1. Nat Med 12: 1316–1322, 2006.
- 177. **Miyauchi K**, **Kim Y**, **Latinovic O**, **Morozov V**, **Melikyan GB**. HIV Enters Cells via Endocytosis and Dynamin-Dependent Fusion with Endosomes. *Cell* 137: 433–444, 2009.
- 178. **Moore JP**, **Kuritzkes DR**. A pièce de resistance: how HIV-1 escapes small molecule CCR5 inhibitors. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS* 4: 118–124, 2009.
- 179. **Moore S**, **Pepper DS**, **Cash JD**. Platelet antiheparin activity. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Protein Structure* 379: 370–384, 1975.
- 180. Moyle G, DeJesus E, Boffito M, Wong RS, Gibney C, Badel K, MacFarland R, Calandra G, Bridger G, Becker S, X4 Antagonist Concept Trial Study Team. Proof of activity with AMD11070, an orally bioavailable inhibitor of CXCR4-tropic HIV type 1. *Clin Infect Dis* 48: 798– 805, 2009.
- 181. Mueller A, Meiser A, McDonagh EM, Fox JM, Petit SJ, Xanthou G, Williams TJ, Pease JE. CXCL4-induced migration of activated T lymphocytes is mediated by the chemokine receptor CXCR3. J Leukoc Biol 83: 875–882, 2008.
- 182. Musich T, Peters PJ, Duenas-Decamp MJ, Gonzalez-Perez MP, Robinson J, Zolla-Pazner S, Ball JK, Luzuriaga K, Clapham PR. A conserved determinant in the V1 loop of HIV-1 modulates the V3 loop to prime low CD4 use and macrophage infection. J Virol 85: 2397–2405, 2011.
- 183. **Nagira M**, **Sato A**, **Miki S**, **Imai T**, **Yoshie O**. Enhanced HIV-1 replication by chemokines constitutively expressed in secondary lymphoid tissues. *Virology* 264: 422–426, 1999.
- 184. Nesmelova IV, Sham Y, Dudek AZ, van Eijk LI, Wu G, Slungaard A, Mortari F, Griffioen AW, Mayo KH. Platelet Factor 4 and Interleukin-8 CXC Chemokine Heterodimer Formation Modulates Function at the Quaternary Structural Level. J Biol Chem 280: 4948–4958, 2005.
- 185. **Nesmelova IV**, **Sham Y**, **Gao J**, **Mayo KH**. CXC and CC chemokines form mixed heterodimers: association free energies from molecular dynamics simulations and experimental correlations. *J Biol Chem* 283: 24155–24166, 2008.



- 186. **Nguyen DH**, **Taub D**. CXCR4 function requires membrane cholesterol: implications for HIV infection. *J Immunol* 168: 4121–4126, 2002.
- 187. **Nguyen DH**, **Taub D**. Cholesterol is essential for macrophage inflammatory protein 1 beta binding and conformational integrity of CC chemokine receptor 5. *Blood* 99: 4298–4306, 2002.
- Nichols WG, Steel HM, Bonny T, Adkison K, Curtis L, Millard J, Kabeya K, Clumeck N. Hepatotoxicity observed in clinical trials of aplaviroc (GW873140). *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 52: 858–865, 2008.
- 189. **O'Brien TR**, **Winkler C**, **Dean M**, **Nelson JA**, **Carrington M**, **Michael NL**, **White GC**. HIV-1 infection in a man homozygous for CCR5 delta 32. *Lancet* 349: 1219, 1997.
- 190. Ochsenbauer C, Edmonds TG, Ding H, Keele BF, Decker J, Salazar MG, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Shattock R, Haynes BF, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Kappes JC. Generation of Transmitted/Founder HIV-1 Infectious Molecular Clones and Characterization of Their Replication Capacity in CD4 T Lymphocytes and Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. J Virol 86: 2715–2728, 2012.
- 191. **Olson TS**, **Ley K**. Chemokines and chemokine receptors in leukocyte trafficking. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 283: R7–28, 2002.
- 192. **Oppenheim JJ**, **Zachariae CO**, **Mukaida N**, **Matsushima K**. Properties of the novel proinflammatory supergene "intercrine" cytokine family. *Annu Rev Immunol* 9: 617–648, 1991.
- 193. **Oravecz T**, **Pall M**, **Norcross MA**. Beta-chemokine inhibition of monocytotropic HIV-1 infection. Interference with a postbinding fusion step. *J Immunol* 157: 1329–1332, 1996.
- 194. **Orloff GM**, **Orloff SL**, **Kennedy MS**, **Maddon PJ**, **McDougal JS**. Penetration of CD4 T cells by HIV-1. The CD4 receptor does not internalize with HIV, and CD4-related signal transduction events are not required for entry. *J Immunol* 146: 2578–2587, 1991.
- 195. Paavola CD, Hemmerich S, Grunberger D, Polsky I, Bloom A, Freedman R, Mulkins M, Bhakta S, McCarley D, Wiesent L, Wong B, Jarnagin K, Handel TM. Monomeric monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) binds and activates the MCP-1 receptor CCR2B. J Biol Chem 273: 33157–33165, 1998.
- 196. **Padian NS**, **Shiboski SC**, **Glass SO**, **Vittinghoff E**. Heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in northern



California: results from a ten-year study. *Am J Epidemiol* 146: 350–357, 1997.

- 197. Palmer S, Kearney M, Maldarelli F, Halvas EK, Bixby CJ, Bazmi H, Rock D, Falloon J, Davey RT, Dewar RL, Metcalf JA, Hammer S, Mellors JW, Coffin JM. Multiple, linked human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance mutations in treatment-experienced patients are missed by standard genotype analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43: 406–413, 2005.
- 198. **Pang S**, **Shlesinger Y**, **Daar ES**, **Moudgil T**, **Ho DD**, **Chen IS**. Rapid generation of sequence variation during primary HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* 6: 453–460, 1992.
- 199. Parrish NF, Gao F, Li H, Giorgi EE, Barbian HJ, Parrish EH, Zajic L, Iyer SS, Decker JM, Kumar A, Hora B, Berg A, Cai F, Hopper J, Denny TN, Ding H, Ochsenbauer C, Kappes JC, Galimidi RP, West AP, Bjorkman PJ, Wilen CB, Doms RW, O'Brien M, Bhardwaj N, Borrow P, Haynes BF, Muldoon M, Theiler JP, Korber B, Shaw GM, Hahn BH. Phenotypic properties of transmitted founder HIV-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110: 6626–6633, 2013.*
- 200. Parrish NF, Wilen CB, Banks LB, Iyer SS, Pfaff JM, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Decker JM, Parrish EH, Berg A, Hopper J, Hora B, Kumar A, Mahlokozera T, Yuan S, Coleman C, Vermeulen M, Ding H, Ochsenbauer C, Tilton JC, Permar SR, Kappes JC, Betts MR, Busch MP, Gao F, Montefiori D, Haynes BF, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Doms RW. Transmitted/Founder and Chronic Subtype C HIV-1 Use CD4 and CCR5 Receptors with Equal Efficiency and Are Not Inhibited by Blocking the Integrin α4β7. *PLoS Pathog* 8: e1002686, 2012.
- 201. **Pate KM**, **Mankowski JL**. HIV and SIV associated thrombocytopenia: an expanding role for platelets in the pathogenesis of HIV. *Drug Discov Today Dis Mech 8 (1-2):e25-e32, 2011.*
- 202. **Penn ML**, **Grivel JC**, **Schramm B**, **Goldsmith MA**, **Margolis L**. CXCR4 utilization is sufficient to trigger CD4+ T cell depletion in HIV-1-infected human lymphoid tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96: 663–668, 1999.
- 203. Peters PJ, Bhattacharya J, Hibbitts S, Dittmar MT, Simmons G, Bell J, Simmonds P, Clapham PR. Biological analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 envelopes amplified from brain and lymph node tissues of AIDS patients with neuropathology reveals two distinct tropism phenotypes and identifies envelopes in the brain that confer an enhanced tropism and fusigenicity for macrophages. *J Virol* 78: 6915–6926, 2004.



- 204. Peters PJ, Sullivan WM, Duenas-Decamp MJ, Bhattacharya J, Ankghuambom C, Brown R, Luzuriaga K, Bell J, Simmonds P, Ball J, Clapham PR. Non-macrophage-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 envelopes predominate in blood, lymph nodes, and semen: implications for transmission and pathogenesis. J Virol 80: 6324–6332, 2006.
- 205. **Petersen F**, **Brandt E**, **Lindahl U**, **Spillmann D**. Characterization of a Neutrophil Cell Surface Glycosaminoglycan That Mediates Binding of Platelet Factor 4. *J Biol Chem* 274: 12376–12382, 1999.
- 206. **Peterson FC**, **Elgin ES**, **Nelson TJ**, **Zhang F**, **Hoeger TJ**, **Linhardt RJ**, **Volkman BF**. Identification and characterization of a glycosaminoglycan recognition element of the C chemokine lymphotactin. *J Biol Chem* 279: 12598–12604, 2004.
- 207. **Petra Study Team**. Efficacy of three short-course regimens of zidovudine and lamivudine in preventing early and late transmission of HIV-1 from mother to child in Tanzania, South Africa, and Uganda (Petra study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 359: 1178–1186, 2002.
- 208. **Peuchant O**, **Capdepont S**, **Ragnaud JM**. Short communication Primary resistance to enfuvirtide (T20) in recently HIV-1 infected, antiretroviralnaive patients from the ANRS Aquitaine Cohort. *Antivir Ther 12 (4): 559-562, 2007.*
- 209. Pilcher CD, Tien HC, Eron JJ, Vernazza PL, Leu S-Y, Stewart PW, Goh L-E, Cohen MS, Quest Study, Duke-UNC-Emory Acute HIV Consortium. Brief but efficient: acute HIV infection and the sexual transmission of HIV. J Infect Dis 189: 1785–1792, 2004.
- 210. **Poss M**, **Martin HL**, **Kreiss JK**, **Granville L**, **Chohan B**, **Nyange P**, **Mandaliya K**, **Overbaugh J**. Diversity in virus populations from genital secretions and peripheral blood from women recently infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 69: 8118–8122, 1995.
- 211. POWELL JD, BEDNARIK DP, FOLKS TM, JEHUDA COHEN T, VILLINGER F, SELL KW, ANSARI AA. Inhibition of cellular activation of retroviral replication by CD8+ T cells derived from non □ human primates. *Clin Exp Immunol* 91: 473–481, 1993.
- 212. **Powers KA**, **Poole C**, **Pettifor AE**, **Cohen MS**. Rethinking the heterosexual infectivity of HIV-1: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis* 8: 553–563, 2008.
- 213. Proudfoot AEI, Handel TM, Johnson Z, Lau EK, LiWang P, Clark-



Lewis I, Borlat F, Wells TNC, Kosco-Vilbois MH. Glycosaminoglycan binding and oligomerization are essential for the in vivo activity of certain chemokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100: 1885–1890, 2003.

- 214. Pugach P, Marozsan AJ, Ketas TJ, Landes EL, Moore JP, Kuhmann SE. HIV-1 clones resistant to a small molecule CCR5 inhibitor use the inhibitor-bound form of CCR5 for entry. *Virology* 361: 212–228, 2007.
- 215. Pugach P, Ray N, Klasse PJ, Ketas TJ, Michael E, Doms RW, Lee B, Moore JP. Inefficient entry of vicriviroc-resistant HIV-1 via the inhibitor-CCR5 complex at low cell surface CCR5 densities. *Virology* 387: 296– 302, 2009.
- 216. **Rajarathnam K**, **Clark-Lewis I**, **Sykes BD**. 1H NMR studies of interleukin 8 analogs: characterization of the domains essential for function. *Biochemistry* 33: 6623–6630, 1994.
- 217. Rauova L, Poncz M, McKenzie SE, Reilly MP, Arepally G, Weisel JW, Nagaswami C, Cines DB, Sachais BS. Ultralarge complexes of PF4 and heparin are central to the pathogenesis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood* 105: 131–138, 2005.
- 218. Redd AD, Collinson-Streng AN, Chatziandreou N, Mullis CE, Laeyendecker O, Martens C, Ricklefs S, Kiwanuka N, Nyein PH, Lutalo T, Grabowski MK, Kong X, Manucci J, Sewankambo N, Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Porcella SF, Fauci AS, Sagar M, Serwadda D, Quinn TC. Previously transmitted HIV-1 strains are preferentially selected during subsequent sexual transmissions. J Infect Dis 206: 1433–1442, 2012.
- 219. Reeves JD, Gallo SA, Ahmad N, Miamidian JL, Harvey PE, Sharron M, Pohlmann S, Sfakianos JN, Derdeyn CA, Blumenthal R, Hunter E, Doms RW. Sensitivity of HIV-1 to entry inhibitors correlates with envelope/coreceptor affinity, receptor density, and fusion kinetics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99: 16249–16254, 2002.
- 220. Ren M, Guo Q, Guo L, Lenz M, Qian F, Koenen RR, Xu H, Schilling AB, Weber C, Ye RD, Dinner AR, Tang W-J. Polymerization of MIP-1 chemokine (CCL3 and CCL4) and clearance of MIP-1 by insulin-degrading enzyme. *EMBO J* 29: 3952–3966, 2010.
- 221. Repits J, Sterjovski J, Badia-Martinez D, Mild M, Gray L, Churchill MJ, Purcell DFJ, Karlsson A, Albert J, Fenyö EM, Achour A, Gorry PR, Jansson M. Primary HIV-1 R5 isolates from end-stage disease display enhanced viral fitness in parallel with increased gp120 net charge. *Virology* 379: 125–134, 2008.
- 222. Richman DD, Bozzette SA. The impact of the syncytium-inducing



phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus on disease progression. *J Infect Dis* 169: 968–974, 1994.

- 223. **Rizzuto C**, **Sodroski J**. Fine definition of a conserved CCR5-binding region on the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein 120. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 16: 741–749, 2000.
- 224. **Rizzuto CD**, **Wyatt R**, **Hernández-Ramos N**, **Sun Y**, **Kwong PD**, **Hendrickson WA**, **Sodroski J**. A conserved HIV gp120 glycoprotein structure involved in chemokine receptor binding. *Science* 280: 1949– 1953, 1998.
- 225. Roche M, Jakobsen MR, Ellett A, Salimiseyedabad H, Jubb B, Westby M, Lee B, Lewin SR, Churchill MJ, Gorry PR. HIV-1 predisposed to acquiring resistance to maraviroc (MVC) and other CCR5 antagonists in vitro has an inherent, low-level ability to utilize MVC-bound CCR5 for entry. *Retrovirology* 8: 89, 2011.
- 226. **Rosenbaum DM**, **Rasmussen SGF**, **Kobilka BK**. The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors. *Nature* 459: 356–363, 2009.
- 227. **Rot A**. Neutrophil attractant/activation protein 1 (interleukin 8) induces in vitro neutrophil migration by haptotactic mechanism. *European Journal of Immunology* 23: 303–306, 1993.
- 228. **Royce RA**, **Seña A**, **Cates W Jr.**, **Cohen MS**. Sexual Transmission of HIV. *N Engl J Med* 336: 1072–1078, 1997.
- 229. Russell ES, Kwiek JJ, Keys J, Barton K, Mwapasa V, Montefiori DC, Meshnick SR, Swanstrom R. The Genetic Bottleneck in Vertical Transmission of Subtype C HIV-1 Is Not Driven by Selection of Especially Neutralization-Resistant Virus from the Maternal Viral Population. *J Virol* 85: 8253–8262, 2011.
- 230. Saag M, Goodrich J, Fätkenheuer G, Clotet B, Clumeck N, Sullivan J, Westby M, van der Ryst E, Mayer H, A4001029 Study Group. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of maraviroc in treatmentexperienced patients infected with non-R5 HIV-1. *J Infect Dis* 199: 1638– 1647, 2009.
- 231. Sachais BS, Higazi AA-R, Cines DB, Poncz M, Kowalska MA. Interactions of Platelet Factor 4 with the Vessel Wall. Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis 30: 351–358, 2004.
- 232. Sachais BS, Litvinov RI, Yarovoi SV, Rauova L, Hinds JL, Rux AH, Arepally GM, Poncz M, Cuker A, Weisel JW, Cines DB. Dynamic antibody-binding properties in the pathogenesis of HIT. *Blood* 120: 1137–



1142, 2012.

- 233. Sachais BS, Rux AH, Cines DB, Yarovoi SV, Garner LI, Watson SP, Hinds JL, Rux JJ. Rational design and characterization of platelet factor 4 antagonists for the study of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood* 119: 5955–5962, 2012.
- 234. Sagar M, Laeyendecker O, Lee S, Gamiel J, Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Serwadda D, Sewankambo NK, Shepherd JC, Toma J, Huang W, Quinn TC. Selection of HIV variants with signature genotypic characteristics during heterosexual transmission. *J Infect Dis* 199: 580– 589, 2009.
- 235. **Sagar M**, **Wu X**, **Lee S**, **Overbaugh J**. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V1-V2 envelope loop sequences expand and add glycosylation sites over the course of infection, and these modifications affect antibody neutralization sensitivity. *J Virol* 80: 9586–9598, 2006.
- 236. Saif MW, Bona R, Greenberg B. AIDS and Thrombosis: Retrospective Study of 131 HIV-Infected Patients. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/108729101750279687 (July 5, 2004). doi: 10.1089/108729101750279687.
- 237. **Salanga CL**, **Handel TM**. Chemokine oligomerization and interactions with receptors and glycosaminoglycans: the role of structural dynamics in function. *Exp Cell Res* 317: 590–601, 2011.
- 238. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Bailes E, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Guffey MB, Keele BF, Derdeyn CA, Farmer P, Hunter E, Allen S, Manigart O, Mulenga J, Anderson JA, Swanstrom R, Haynes BF, Athreya GS, Korber BTM, Sharp PM, Shaw GM, Hahn BH. Deciphering human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission and early envelope diversification by single-genome amplification and sequencing. J Virol 82: 3952–3970, 2008.
- 239. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Keele BF, Learn GH, Giorgi EE, Li H, Decker JM, Wang S, Baalwa J, Kraus MH, Parrish NF, Shaw KS, Guffey MB, Bar KJ, Davis KL, Ochsenbauer-Jambor C, Kappes JC, Saag MS, Cohen MS, Mulenga J, Derdeyn CA, Allen S, Hunter E, Markowitz M, Hraber P, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, Haynes BF, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 206: 1273–1289, 2009.
- 240. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Learn GH, Fouda GG, Kang HH,



Mahlokozera T, Wilks AB, Lovingood RV, Stacey A, Kalilani L, Meshnick SR, Borrow P, Montefiori DC, Denny TN, Letvin NL, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Permar SR, Center for HIV/AIDS Vaccine Immunology A0167854. Origin and evolution of HIV-1 in breast milk determined by single-genome amplification and sequencing. *J Virol* 85: 2751–2763, 2011.

- 241. Saleh S, Solomon A, Wightman F, Xhilaga M, Cameron PU, Lewin SR. CCR7 ligands CCL19 and CCL21 increase permissiveness of resting memory CD4+ T cells to HIV-1 infection: a novel model of HIV-1 latency. *Blood* 110: 4161–4164, 2007.
- 242. Salimi H, Roche M, Webb N, Gray LR, Chikere K, Sterjovski J, Ellett A, Wesselingh SL, Ramsland PA, Lee B, Churchill MJ, Gorry PR. Macrophage-tropic HIV-1 variants from brain demonstrate alterations in the way gp120 engages both CD4 and CCR5. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* (October 17, 2012). doi: 10.1189/jlb.0612308.
- 243. **Sampah MES**, **Shen L**, **Jilek BL**, **Siliciano RF**. Dose-response curve slope is a missing dimension in the analysis of HIV-1 drug resistance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108: 7613–7618, 2011.
- 244. Samson M, Libert F, Doranz BJ, Rucker J, Liesnard C, Farber CM, Saragosti S, Lapoumeroulie C, Cognaux J, Forceille C, Muyldermans G, Verhofstede C, Burtonboy G, Georges M, Imai T, Rana S, Yi Y, Smyth RJ, Collman RG, Doms RW, Vassart G, Parmentier M. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. *Nature* 382: 722–725, 1996.
- 245. **Saphire AC**, **Bobardt MD**, **Zhang Z**, **David G**, **Gallay PA**. Syndecans serve as attachment receptors for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 on macrophages. *J Virol* 75: 9187–9200, 2001.
- 246. Schooley RT, Merigan TC, Gaut P, Hirsch MS, Holodniy M, Flynn T, Liu S, Byington RE, Henochowicz S, Gubish E. Recombinant soluble CD4 therapy in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and AIDS-related complex. A phase I-II escalating dosage trial. *Ann Intern Med* 112: 247–253, 1990.
- 247. Schuitemaker H, Koot M, Kootstra NA, Dercksen MW, de Goede RE, van Steenwijk RP, Lange JM, Schattenkerk JK, Miedema F, Tersmette M. Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytotropic to T-cell-tropic virus



population. J Virol 66: 1354–1360, 1992.

- Schürmann D, Fätkenheuer G, Reynes J, Michelet C, Raffi F, van Lier J, Caceres M, Keung A, Sansone-Parsons A, Dunkle LM, Hoffmann C. Antiviral activity, pharmacokinetics and safety of vicriviroc, an oral CCR5 antagonist, during 14-day monotherapy in HIV-infected adults. *AIDS* 21: 1293–1299, 2007.
- 249. Schwartzkopff F, Grimm TA, Lankford CSR, Fields K, Wang J, Brandt E, Clouse KA. Platelet factor 4 (CXCL4) facilitates human macrophage infection with HIV-1 and potentiates virus replication. *Innate Immun* 15: 368–379, 2009.
- 250. Seibert C, Ying W, Gavrilov S, Tsamis F, Kuhmann SE, Palani A, Tagat JR, Clader JW, McCombie SW, Baroudy BM, Smith SO, Dragic T, Moore JP, Sakmar TP. Interaction of small molecule inhibitors of HIV-1 entry with CCR5. *Virology* 349: 41–54, 2006.
- 251. Servais J, Nkoghe D, Schmit JC, Arendt V, Robert I, Staub T, Moutschen M, Schneider F, Hemmer R. HIV-associated hematologic disorders are correlated with plasma viral load and improve under highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 28: 221–225, 2001.
- 252. Shen L, Peterson S, Sedaghat AR, McMahon MA, Callender M, Zhang H, Zhou Y, Pitt E, Anderson KS, Acosta EP, Siliciano RF. Dose-response curve slope sets class-specific limits on inhibitory potential of anti-HIV drugs. *Nat Med* 14: 762–766, 2008.
- 253. **Shriner D**, **Rodrigo AG**, **Nickle DC**, **Mullins JI**. Pervasive genomic recombination of HIV-1 in vivo. *Genetics* 167: 1573–1583, 2004.
- 254. Signoret N, Oldridge J, Pelchen-Matthews A, Klasse PJ, Tran T, Brass LF, Rosenkilde MM, Schwartz TW, Holmes W, Dallas W, Luther MA, Wells TN, Hoxie JA, Marsh M. Phorbol esters and SDF-1 induce rapid endocytosis and down modulation of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. J Cell Biol 139: 651–664, 1997.
- 255. **Simmonds P**, **Balfe P**, **Ludlam CA**, **Bishop JO**, **Brown AJ**. Analysis of sequence diversity in hypervariable regions of the external glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 64: 5840–5850, 1990.
- 256. Simmons G, Clapham PR, Picard L, Offord RE, Rosenkilde MM, Schwartz TW, Buser R, Wells TN, Proudfoot AE. Potent inhibition of HIV-1 infectivity in macrophages and lymphocytes by a novel CCR5 antagonist. *Science* 276: 276–279, 1997.



- 257. **Slungaard A**. Platelet factor 4: a chemokine enigma. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 37: 1162–1167, 2005.
- 258. Smith DH, Byrn RA, Marsters SA, Gregory T, Groopman JE, Capon DJ. Blocking of HIV-1 infectivity by a soluble, secreted form of the CD4 antigen. *Science* 238: 1704–1707, 1987.
- 259. Solomon Tsegaye T, Gnirß K, Rahe-Meyer N, Kiene M, Krämer-Kühl A, Behrens G, Münch J, Pohlmann S. Platelet activation suppresses HIV-1 infection of T cells. *Retrovirology* 10: 48, 2013.
- 260. Sougrat R, Bartesaghi A, Lifson JD, Bennett AE, Bess JW, Zabransky DJ, Subramaniam S. Electron tomography of the contact between T cells and SIV/HIV-1: implications for viral entry. *PLoS Pathog* 3: e63, 2007.
- 261. **Spijkerman IJ**, **Koot M**, **Prins M**, **Keet IP**, **van den Hoek AJ**, **Miedema F**, **Coutinho RA**. Lower prevalence and incidence of HIV-1 syncytiuminducing phenotype among injecting drug users compared with homosexual men. *AIDS* 9: 1085–1092, 1995.
- 262. **Steen A**, **Schwartz TW**, **Rosenkilde MM**. Targeting CXCR4 in HIV cellentry inhibition. *Mini Rev Med Chem* 9: 1605–1621, 2009.
- 263. Sterjovski J, Roche M, Churchill MJ, Ellett A, Farrugia W, Gray LR, Cowley D, Poumbourios P, Lee B, Wesselingh SL, Cunningham AL, Ramsland PA, Gorry PR. An altered and more efficient mechanism of CCR5 engagement contributes to macrophage tropism of CCR5-using HIV-1 envelopes. *Virology* 404: 269–278, 2010.
- 264. **Stringer SE**, **Gallagher JT**. Specific binding of the chemokine platelet factor 4 to heparan sulfate. *J Biol Chem* 272: 20508–20514, 1997.
- 265. Strizki JM, Tremblay C, Xu S, Wojcik L, Wagner N, Gonsiorek W, Hipkin RW, Chou C-C, Pugliese-Sivo C, Xiao Y, Tagat JR, Cox K, Priestley T, Sorota S, Huang W, Hirsch M, Reyes GR, Baroudy BM. Discovery and characterization of vicriviroc (SCH 417690), a CCR5 antagonist with potent activity against human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 49: 4911–4919, 2005.
- 266. **Tamamis P**, **Floudas CA**. Molecular recognition of CCR5 by an HIV-1 gp120 V3 loop. *PLoS ONE* 9: e95767, 2014.
- 267. Tersmette M, Winkel IN, Groenink M, Gruters RA, Spence RP, Saman E, Van Der Groen G, Miedema F, Huisman JG. Detection and subtyping of HIV-1 isolates with a panel of characterized monoclonal antibodies to HIV p24gag. *Virology* 171: 149–155, 1989.



- 268. Theodorou I, Meyer L, Magierowska M, Katlama C, Rouzioux C. HIV-1 infection in an individual homozygous for CCR5 delta 32. Seroco Study Group. Lancet 349: 1219–1220, 1997.
- 269. Thomas WG, Qian H, Chang CS, Karnik S. Agonist-induced phosphorylation of the angiotensin II (AT(1A)) receptor requires generation of a conformation that is distinct from the inositol phosphatesignaling state. J Biol Chem 275: 2893–2900, 2000.
- 270. **Thompson GR**, **Lawrence VA**, **Crawford GE**. HIV infection increases the risk of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Clin Infect Dis* 45: 1393–1396, 2007.
- 271. **Tilton JC**, **Amrine-Madsen H**, **Miamidian JL**, **Kitrinos KM**, **Pfaff J**, **Demarest JF**, **Ray N**, **Jeffrey JL**, **Labranche CC**, **Doms RW**. HIV type 1 from a patient with baseline resistance to CCR5 antagonists uses drugbound receptor for entry. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 26: 13–24, 2010.
- 272. Tilton JC, Wilen CB, Didigu CA, Sinha R, Harrison JE, Agrawal-Gamse C, Henning EA, Bushman FD, Martin JN, Deeks SG, Doms RW. A Maraviroc-Resistant HIV-1 with Narrow Cross-Resistance to Other CCR5 Antagonists Depends on both N-Terminal and Extracellular Loop Domains of Drug-Bound CCR5. J Virol 84: 10863–10876, 2010.
- 273. **Traunecker A**, **Lüke W**, **Karjalainen K**. Soluble CD4 molecules neutralize human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Nature* 331: 84–86, 1988.
- 274. **Trkola A**, **Gordon C**, **Matthews J**, **Maxwell E**, **Ketas T**, **Czaplewski L**, **Proudfoot AE**, **Moore JP**. The CC-chemokine RANTES increases the attachment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to target cells via glycosaminoglycans and also activates a signal transduction pathway that enhances viral infectivity. *J Virol* 73: 6370–6379, 1999.
- 275. **Trkola A, Paxton WA, Monard SP, Hoxie JA, Siani MA, Thompson DA, Wu L, Mackay CR, Horuk R, Moore JP**. Genetic subtypeindependent inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by CC and CXC chemokines. *J Virol* 72: 396–404, 1998.
- 276. Tsamis F, Gavrilov S, Kajumo F, Seibert C, Kuhmann S, Ketas T, Trkola A, Palani A, Clader JW, Tagat JR, McCombie S, Baroudy B, Moore JP, Sakmar TP, Dragic T. Analysis of the mechanism by which the small-molecule CCR5 antagonists SCH-351125 and SCH-350581 inhibit human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry. *J Virol* 77: 5201– 5208, 2003.
- 277. Turner S, Tizard R, DeMarinis J, Pepinsky RB, Zullo J, Schooley R,



Fisher R. Resistance of primary isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to neutralization by soluble CD4 is not due to lower affinity with the viral envelope glycoprotein gp120. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89: 1335–1339, 1992.

- 278. Turville SG, Arthos J, Donald KM, Lynch G, Naif H, Clark G, Hart D, Cunningham AL. HIV gp120 receptors on human dendritic cells. *Blood* 98: 2482–2488, 2001.
- 279. Turville SG, Cameron PU, Handley A, Lin G, Pohlmann S, Doms RW, Cunningham AL. Diversity of receptors binding HIV on dendritic cell subsets. *Nat Immunol* 3: 975–983, 2002.
- 280. Uchil PD, Mothes W. HIV Entry Revisited. Cell 137: 402–404, 2009.
- 281. Veazey RS, Ketas TJ, Dufour J, Moroney-Rasmussen T, Green LC, Klasse PJ, Moore JP. Protection of rhesus macaques from vaginal infection by vaginally delivered maraviroc, an inhibitor of HIV-1 entry via the CCR5 co-receptor. *J Infect Dis* 202: 739–744, 2010.
- Vittinghoff E, Scheer S, O'Malley P, Colfax G, Holmberg SD, Buchbinder SP. Combination antiretroviral therapy and recent declines in AIDS incidence and mortality. J Infect Dis 179: 717–720, 1999.
- Walker CM, Moody DJ, Stites DP, Levy JA. CD8+ T lymphocyte control of HIV replication in cultured CD4+ cells varies among infected individuals. *Cell Immunol* 119: 470–475, 1989.
- 284. Wang J, He L, Combs CA, Roderiquez G, Norcross MA. Dimerization of CXCR4 in living malignant cells: control of cell migration by a synthetic peptide that reduces homologous CXCR4 interactions. *Mol Cancer Ther* 5: 2474–2483, 2006.
- 285. Wang T, Zhang Z, Wallace OB, Deshpande M, Fang H, Yang Z, Zadjura LM, Tweedie DL, Huang S, Zhao F, Ranadive S, Robinson BS, Gong Y-F, Ricarrdi K, Spicer TP, Deminie C, Rose R, Wang H-GH, Blair WS, Shi P-Y, Lin P-F, Colonno RJ, Meanwell NA. Discovery of 4-benzoyl-1-[(4-methoxy-1H- pyrrolo[2,3-b]pyridin-3-yl)oxoacetyl]-2-(R)-methylpiperazine (BMS-378806): a novel HIV-1 attachment inhibitor that interferes with CD4-gp120 interactions. *J Med Chem* 46: 4236–4239, 2003.
- 286. Wang X, Sharp JS, Handel TM, Prestegard JH. Chemokine oligomerization in cell signaling and migration. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci* 117: 531–578, 2013.
- 287. Wang Y, Tao L, Mitchell E, Bogers WM, Doyle C, Bravery CA,



Bergmeier LA, **Kelly CG**, **Heeney JL**, **Lehner T**. Generation of CD8 suppressor factor and beta chemokines, induced by xenogeneic immunization, in the prevention of simian immunodeficiency virus infection in macaques. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95: 5223–5228, 1998.

- 288. Watson C, Jenkinson S, Kazmierski W, Kenakin T. The CCR5 receptor-based mechanism of action of 873140, a potent allosteric noncompetitive HIV entry inhibitor. *Mol Pharmacol* 67: 1268–1282, 2005.
- 289. Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Li X, Laeyendecker O, Kiwanuka N, Kigozi G, Kiddugavu M, Lutalo T, Nalugoda F, Wabwire-Mangen F, Meehan MP, Quinn TC. Rates of HIV-1 transmission per coital act, by stage of HIV-1 infection, in Rakai, Uganda. J Infect Dis 191: 1403–1409, 2005.
- 290. Weissenhorn W, Dessen A, Harrison SC, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41. , *Published online: 22 May 1997;* | *doi:101038/387426a0* 387: 426–430, 1997.
- 291. Westby M, Smith-Burchnell C, Mori J, Lewis M, Mosley M, Stockdale M, Dorr P, Ciaramella G, Perros M. Reduced Maximal Inhibition in Phenotypic Susceptibility Assays Indicates that Viral Strains Resistant to the CCR5 Antagonist Maraviroc Utilize Inhibitor-Bound Receptor for Entry. *J Virol* 81: 2359–2371, 2007.
- 292. **Who U**, **Unicef**. *Who: Global report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS...* - *Google Scholar*. Geneva: UNAIDS, 2013.
- 293. Wild C, Greenwell T, Matthews T. A synthetic peptide from HIV-1 gp41 is a potent inhibitor of virus-mediated cell-cell fusion. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 9: 1051–1053, 1993.
- 294. Wild CT, Shugars DC, Greenwell TK, McDanal CB, Matthews TJ. Peptides corresponding to a predictive alpha-helical domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 are potent inhibitors of virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91: 9770–9774, 1994.
- 295. Wilen CB, Parrish NF, Pfaff JM, Decker JM, Henning EA, Haim H, Petersen JE, Wojcechowskyj JA, Sodroski J, Haynes BF, Montefiori DC, Tilton JC, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Doms RW. Phenotypic and immunologic comparison of clade B transmitted/founder and chronic HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins. *J Virol* 85: 8514–8527, 2011.
- 296. Wilen CB, Tilton JC, Doms RW. HIV: cell binding and entry. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* 2: a006866–a006866, 2012.
- 297. Wilkin TJ, Su Z, Kuritzkes DR, Hughes M, Flexner C, Gross R,



Coakley E, Greaves W, Godfrey C, Skolnik PR, Timpone J, Rodriguez B, Gulick RM. HIV Type 1 Chemokine Coreceptor Use among Antiretroviral-Experienced Patients Screened for a Clinical Trial of a CCR5 Inhibitor: AIDS Clinical Trial Group A5211. *Clin Infect Dis* 44: 591–595, 2007.

- 298. **Wira CR**, **Fahey JV**. A new strategy to understand how HIV infects women: identification of a window of vulnerability during the menstrual cycle. *AIDS* 22: 1909–1917, 2008.
- 299. Wolfs TF, Zwart G, Bakker M, Goudsmit J. HIV-1 genomic RNA diversification following sexual and parenteral virus transmission. *Virology* 189: 103–110, 1992.
- 300. Wolinsky SM, Wike CM, Korber BT, Hutto C, Parks WP, Rosenblum LL, Kunstman KJ, Furtado MR, Muñoz JL. Selective transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 variants from mothers to infants. *Science* 255: 1134–1137, 1992.
- 301. Wu X, Parast AB, Richardson BA, Nduati R, John-Stewart G, Mbori-Ngacha D, Rainwater SMJ, Overbaugh J. Neutralization escape variants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 are transmitted from mother to infant. *J Virol* 80: 835–844, 2006.
- 302. **Wu Y**. Chemokine control of HIV-1 infection: Beyond a binding competition. *Retrovirology* 7: 86, 2010.
- 303. Zhang H, Rola M, West JT, Tully DC, Kubis P, He J, Kankasa C, Wood C. Functional properties of the HIV-1 subtype C envelope glycoprotein associated with mother-to-child transmission. *Virology* 400: 164–174, 2010.
- 304. Zhang LQ, MacKenzie P, Cleland A, Holmes EC, Brown AJ, Simmonds P. Selection for specific sequences in the external envelope protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 upon primary infection. J Virol 67: 3345–3356, 1993.
- 305. **Zhang X**, **Chen L**, **Bancroft DP**, **Lai CK**, **Maione TE**. Crystal structure of recombinant human platelet factor 4. *Biochemistry* 33: 8361–8366, 1994.
- 306. Zhou N, Nowicka-Sans B, Zhang S, Fan L, Fang J, Fang H, Gong Y-F, Eggers B, Langley DR, Wang T, Kadow J, Grasela D, Hanna GJ, Alexander L, Colonno R, Krystal M, Lin P-F. In vivo patterns of resistance to the HIV attachment inhibitor BMS-488043. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 55: 729–737, 2011.
- 307. Zhu T, Mo H, Wang N, Nam DS, Cao Y, Koup RA, Ho DD. Genotypic



and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. *Science* 261: 1179–1181, 1993.

308. **Zucker MB**, **Katz IR**. Platelet factor 4: production, structure, and physiologic and immunologic action. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 198: 693–702, 1991.

